GEOMICROBIOLOGY OF FERROMANGANESE DEPOSITS IN CAVES OF THE UPPER TENNESSEE RIVER BASIN

A Thesis by MARY JANE CARMICHAEL

Submitted to the Graduate School Appalachian State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE

> May 2012 Department of Biology

GEOMICROBIOLOGY OF FERROMANGANESE DEPOSITS IN CAVES OF THE UPPER TENNESSEE RIVER BASIN

A Thesis by MARY JANE CARMICHAEL May 2012

APPROVED BY:

Dr. Suzanna L. Bräuer Chairperson, Thesis Committee

Dr. Sarah K. Carmichael Member, Thesis Committee

Dr. Ece Karatan Member, Thesis Committee

Dr. Steven W. Seagle Chairperson, Department of Biology

Dr. Edelma D. Huntley Dean, Research and Graduate Studies Copyright by Mary Jane Carmichael 2012 All Rights Reserved

FOREWORD

The references, tables, and figures within this manuscript were prepared in accordance to the author submission requirements of *Environmental Microbiology*, the peer-reviewed journal co-published by the Society for Applied Microbiology and Blackwell Publishing, Limited. Chapters Two and Three are manuscripts that are intended for separate submission to the journal. As such, these two Chapters have been formatted independently.

ABSTRACT

GEOMICROBIOLOGY OF FERROMANGANESE DEPOSITS IN CAVES OF THE UPPER TENNESSEE RIVER BASIN

Mary Jane Carmichael

M.S., Appalachian State University

Chairperson: Suzanna L. Bräuer

Ferromanganese deposits in four epigenic cave systems (Carter Salt Peter Cave (CSPC), Daniel Boone Caverns, Rockhouse Cave, and Worley's Cave) located within the Knox Dolomite bedrock formation of the upper Tennessee River Basin were analyzed to determine the role of microbes in the cycling of manganese and the transformation of cave mineralogy. It was hypothesized that the Mn-oxidizing microorganisms present in these caves would most likely be phylogenetically distinct from those studied in cave systems in other parts of the world, and that novel Mn-oxidizing microorganisms may be present. ICP-OES measurements of Mn and Fe in cave ferromanganese deposits revealed Mn:Fe ratios of ca. 0.1-1.0. In cases where the Mn:Fe ratio approached 1.0, this represented an order of magnitude increase above typical Mn:Fe ratios for the bedrock, suggesting that Mn-biomineralization plays an important role in these sites. A SSU rRNA based molecular survey of one such site, Mn Falls (CSPC, Carter County, Tennessee), revealed that 21% of the 34 dominant OTUs were closely related to known metal-oxidizing bacteria or clones isolated from oxidized metal deposits. qPCR estimates of total bacterial SSU rRNA genes in biofilm samples from CSPC represented 9x10⁹ cells/g wet weight. Several cultures capable of Mn-biomineralization *in vitro* were isolated, some of which were obtained from high dilutions. SSU rRNA gene sequences of these isolates closely matched those of Leptothrix, Pseudomonas, Flavobacterium, Arthrobacter, and one species within a genus not previously known to oxidize Mn, Janthinobacterium. Thus, these results

V

expand our knowledge of the phylogenetic diversity of organisms capable of Mn(II) oxidation. Together, results from geochemical analyses, molecular surveys, and culture-dependent community surveys indicate that Mn(II)-oxidizing bacteria are abundant and environmentally relevant members of ferromanganese deposits in the study area, and that these cave systems harbor microbial communities unique from those found in caves in the southwestern United States.

Over the duration of the study period (July 2009-2011), a marked decline in the intensity of ferromanganese deposits in the Mn Falls biofilm (CSPC) was noted. Because a sewage discharge may have occurred at this site prior to July 2009, it was hypothesized that the decline may have been associated with the gradual abatement of a sewage discharge or another acute, point source of pollution. Additionally, clone library data from the Mn Falls site revealed many sequences closely related to those found in contaminated and/or nutrient impacted sites. Therefore, a second line of study was initiated to assess the potential of sustained contamination at the Mn Falls site. A molecular-based survey using primer sequences selective for the SSU rRNA gene sequences within the human group of Bacteroides-Prevotella demonstrated evidence of fecal contamination at Mn Falls throughout the duration of the study period. A greater percentage of sequences clustering within the human group was detected in DNA extracted from the biofilm in July 2009 as compared to July 2011. Culture-dependent most probable number assays supported molecular-based evidence: an increase in the total number of culturable heterotrophic microbes at the Mn Falls sites was observed when compared to an adjacent site (Mud Trap Falls) within the same cave system, suggesting that the microbes in Mn Falls were adapted to higher nutrient concentrations. The change in biofilm appearance combined with water chemistry data (S.K. Carmichael, unpublished data) as well as molecular-based and culture-dependent results suggests that the bloom of Mn(II)-oxidizing bacteria may have been associated with a nutrient loading event. More work is needed to determine if blooms of Mn(II)-oxidizing bacteria may be widespread where contamination is prevalent. However, if this hypothesis is validated, monitoring of Mn-oxidizing microbial communities in shallow cave systems would provide a cost-effective method of assessing anthropogenic impact.

vi

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my parents, Jane and Richard Carmichael. I am deeply grateful for your love, support, and encouragement throughout my life.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am appreciative of my advisor, Suzanna L. Bräuer, for inviting me to join her lab and for her professional guidance. She has supported my research endeavors and consistently encouraged my development as a scientist and mentor. I am deeply grateful to my committee member, Sarah K. Carmichael, for her role as a research advisor and mentor in the truest sense of the word. She has been instrumental in helping me develop a scientific mind and has always been available to provide me with professional advice. I am also thankful to my committee member, Ece Karatan, for her support throughout my tenure at Appalachian State University.

I am grateful for the support of several faculty members and graduate students for their assistance in various aspects of my research. Dr. Cara Santelli and Dr. John Walker have provided valuable advice regarding my endeavors in the field of fungal ecology. Dr. Guichuan Hou and Dr. Clara Chan have assisted with microscopy and procedural development for sample preparation. Dr. Carol Babyak, Dr. Shea Tuberty, Daniel Jackson, and Yosuke Sakamachi assisted with ICP-OES. I am also appreciative of Debi Tibbett for her role in administrative support.

I want to thank Taylor Burnham, Yongli Gao, Seth Hewitt, Daniel Parker, Leigh Anne Roble, and John Rossi for field assistance and the landowners for site access. I also appreciate the many students whom I was fortunate enough to advise and collaborate with during my time at Appalachian State: Zach Anderson, Jared Butler, Trevor Craig, Noah Goodson, Whitney MacDonald, Natalie Rose, Marlie Shelton, and Bryan Zorn. I am especially grateful for my fellow lab member, Ashley Hawkins, for advice, helpful discourse, and for her friendship. I am also deeply appreciative of Amanda Strom, my colleague in research for several years, for the many hours she devoted to assisting me with field and benchwork, for insightful discussion, and for her friendship. I am grateful for the funding sources that have supported my thesis research: the Appalachian State University Cratis D. Williams Graduate School, as a GRAM Fellow and recipient of a Cratis D. Williams Graduate Student Research Grant; the Appalachian State University Office of Student Research, as the recipient of several OSR Research and Travel Grants; the North Carolina Space Grant Graduate Research Fellowship Program, as the recipient of a NC Space Grant Graduate Research Fellowship; and the National Science Foundation, through a research assistantship funded by a grant awarded to my advisor, Suzanna L. Bräuer.

Finally, but most importantly, I want to thank my family for their encouragement and support throughout this process: my parents, Jane and Richard Carmichael, who have been a source of inspiration throughout my life; my fiancé, Kyle Nelson, who always knows how to make me smile; and my daughter, Reesa Faith Devers, who is and will always be my happy thought!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Forewordi	iv
Abstract	.v
Dedicationv	<i>'</i> ii
Acknowledgementsvi	iii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2: MN(II)-OXIDIZING BACTERIA ARE ABUNDANT AND ENVIRONMENTALLY RELEVANT MEMBERS OF FERROMANGANESE DEPOSITS IN CAVES OF THE UPPER FENNESSEE RIVER BASIN	5
Summary	5
Introduction	6
Results	9
Discussion1	.5
Experimental Procedures2	:3
Acknowledgements	60
Figures and Tables3	82
References4	0
Supporting Information5	3
CHAPTER 3: EVIDENCE OF SUSTAINED ANTHROPOGENIC IMPACT IN CARTER SALT PETER CAVE, CARTER COUNTY, TENNESSEE5	6
Summary5	6
Introduction5	57
Results6	52
Discussion	6
Experimental Procedures7	'0

Acknowledgements	74
Figures and Tables	75
References	79
CHAPTER 4: SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND BROADER IMPACTS	
Introduction	
Summary	
Conclusions	92
Broader Impacts	95
Bibliography	
Appendix A: MICROBIAL BIOSIGNATURES IN EASTERN TENNESSEE CAVES	
Preface	
Summary	
Introduction	
Results	
Discussion	
Experimental Procedures	
Acknowledgements	
Figures and Tables	135
References	139
Vita	144

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Karst terrain is a heterogeneous landscape that covers 20% of the Earth's dry land surface (White *et al.*, 1995). Carbonate rocks are the primary bedrock in karst regions (White *et al.*, 1995), and form the majority of the bedrock in eastern Tennessee (Oder, 1934). Other bedrock types, such as volcanic rocks, unconsolidated sediments, or clastic sedimentary rocks, may be just as easily weathered and exhibit external features and internal drainage complexities that are similar to those found in carbonate rocks (Veni, 2002; Goeppert and Goldscheider, 2011), and are therefore termed pseudokarst. Geomorphology in carbonate-hosted karst landscapes is determined by the influence of weathering along existing geologic features such as joints and bedding planes (White *et al.*, 1995; Northup *et al.*, 2000; Christman and Culver, 2001; Engel *et al.*, 2004; Ford, 2006). The characteristic features of karst regions include surface topography such as sinkholes, subsidence zones, and swallow holes. Subsurface features are characterized by the development of complex, dendritic internal drainage patterns (conduits) that can widen to form accessible regions known as caves and caverns (Palmer, 1991), which extend beyond the penetration of visible light (Northup and Lavoie, 2001).

Caves can form in a variety of bedrock substrates including carbonate rocks, evaporite rocks, and pseudokarst (Veni, 2002). Historically, cave ecology studies have been constrained to research in carbonate-hosted caves systems formed via one of two processes, sulfuric acid dissolution or carbonic acid dissolution. [However, it is important to note that research in pseudokarstic terrain is increasing, as lava tubes are recognized as astrobiological analogs (de los Ríos *et al.*, 2011; Northup *et al.*, 2011).] Sulfuric acid speleogenesis occurs via hypogenic processes as reduced sulfide rich groundwater upwells and comes in contact with the cave atmosphere. H₂S is off-gassed and becomes oxidized to form sulfuric acid (H₂SO₄), which dissolves the carbonate rock and may eventually precipitate gypsum, CaSO₄ (Engel *et al.*, 2004). On a global scale, carbonic acid speleogenesis is the most common method of cave formation and is characterized by epigenic processes: the dissolution of limestone by carbon dioxide in solution (H_2CO_3) (White *et al.*, 1995). Microbes also play an active role in mineral weathering and precipitation in both sulfidic and epigenic caves, thus contributing to a variety of constructive and destructive processes within the cave environment (Jones, 2001; Warren and Kauffman, 2003; Engel *et al.*, 2004; Barton and Luiszer, 2005; Taboroši, 2006).

Caves represent a transition zone between the surface and subsurface environment (Pedersen, 2000). Much like the deep sea, cave zonation is defined by the extent to which light and surface conditions penetrate: (1) an entrance zone, close to the mouth of the cave and subject to surface conditions, (2) the twilight zone, a zone of transition, and (3) the deep zone, characterized by environmental stability with an absence of light, constant year-round temperature, and high humidity (Northup and Lavoie, 2001). The cave environment has long been recognized as unique milieu in which natural selection can exert its powerful forces (Poulson and White, 1969). Strong selective pressures have led to the evolution of endemic cave macrofauna (Porter, 2007), including a variety of troglophilic and troglobitic species with unique phenotypes such as lack of eyes and pigmentation, unique extrasensory organs, lengthened appendages, and slender body forms (Poulson and White, 1969; Engel, 2007; Fong, 2011) that are useful in the subterranean realm. Macrofaunal diversity in caves has been linked to cave systems with a high degree of either autochthonous energy production (e.g., chemolithoautotrophy) or allocthonous energy input (e.g., intersection with the phreatic zone, surface input) and larger cave systems with an increase in habitat availability (Culver and Sket, 2000). Caves also contain a diverse cave microflora (Barton and Jurado, 2007; Engel, 2007), which is known to vary in composition as a result of abiotic conditions (e.g., pH, nutrient availability, niche formation) within a cave system (Engel et al., 2003; Barton and Luiszer, 2005; Macalady et al., 2006; Barton et al., 2007; Macalady et al., 2007; Macalady et al., 2008; Engel et al., 2010).

Within the continental United States, there are five major cave regions (Christman and Culver, 2001) all located in karstified regions: the Florida Lime Sinks, the central and southern Appalachians (parts of West Virginia, Virginia, Tennessee, Georgia, and Alabama), the Interior Low Plateau (parts of

Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, Tennessee, and Alabama), the Ozarks (parts of Missouri, Oklahoma, and Arkansas), and the Balcones Escarpment and Edwards Plateau (parts of Texas). Of these five regions, the Appalachians (Christman and Culver, 2001), and specifically the state of Tennessee (Barton and Jurado, 2007), represent one of the most cave-dense terrains in the continental United States. Despite the abundance of cave systems in the Appalachians, relatively little is known regarding the organisms that inhabit the subterranean realm therein.

A handful of studies have addressed the macrofaunal composition of Appalachian cave systems. Two recent surveys have elucidated macrofaunal community composition in caves within the Tennessee-Georgia-Alabama region (Campbell *et al.*, 2011b; Dixon and Zigler, 2011). In general, cave macrofauna exhibit a suite of characteristics that increase their vulnerability to disturbance (Fong, 2011; Humphreys, 2011). Due to the stability of the cave environment, anthropogenic impact and disturbance regimes have a quick and detrimental impact on cave communities (Fong, 2011; Gillieson, 2011; Humphreys, 2011). Northup, 2011). Anthropogenic related disturbance in cave environments is documented within the Appalachian region: (1) changes in cave macroinvertebrate populations in response to organic pollution events in Banners Corner Cave (Virginia) resulted in the elimination of sensitive species from highly degraded environments (Simon and Buikema Jr., 1997), and (2) the devastating impact of *Geomyces destructants* (Gargas *et al.*, 2009), the fungal species that is the reported cause of bat white nose syndrome and whose dispersion is thought to be partially linked to human traffic in cave systems, has resulted in the conversion of some cave systems into bat gravesites (Blehert *et al.*, 2011).

In addition, relatively little is known about the microbial communities of Appalachian caves. Relevant studies include a single assessment of fungal ecology in caves of Kentucky and Tennessee (Shapiro and Pringle, 2010), an examination of the role of stream biofilms in cave ecosystem energetics (Simon *et al.*, 2003), molecular characterizations of microbial mats in cave systems formed by sulfuric acid speleogenesis (Angert *et al.*, 1998; Engel *et al.*, 2001), and documentation of fecal coliforms in cave systems within Northern Georgia and Alabama (Campbell *et al.*, 2011a). However, none of these studies has addressed the geomicrobiology of a southern Appalachian cave system generated by carbonic acid speleogenesis, the primary method of speleogenesis in karst systems worldwide (White *et al.*, 1995). The contents of this thesis represent the first analyses of the geomicrobiology of epigenic cave systems in the southern Appalachians, a cave-rich but vastly understudied region within the United States.

CHAPTER 2: MN(II)-OXIDIZING BACTERIA ARE ABUNDANT AND ENVIRONMENTALLY RELEVANT MEMBERS OF FERROMANGANESE DEPOSITS IN CAVES OF THE UPPER TENNESSEE RIVER BASIN

Summary

Ferromanganese deposits in the karst network of the upper Tennessee River Basin were examined using culture-dependent and independent techniques to determine the role of microbes in biogeochemical cycling of manganese and in the formation/transformation of cave mineralogy. Mn:Fe ratios, measured using ICP-OES, ranged from ca. 0.1 to 1.0 in Mn and Fe oxide-rich biofilms and mineral crusts from several different caves. At sites where the Mn:Fe ratio approached 1.0 this represents an order of magnitude increase above the bulk bedrock ratio, suggesting that biomineralization processes play an important role in these subsurface karst systems. Estimates of total bacterial SSU rRNA genes in ferromanganese biofilms measured approximately 9x10⁹ cells/g wet weight sample, a number that was confirmed via direct cell counts. A SSU rRNA based molecular survey of Mn Falls biofilm material revealed that 21% of the 34 dominant OTUs were closely related to known metal-oxidizing bacteria or clones isolated from oxidized metal deposits. Several isolates that promote the oxidation of Mn(II) compounds were obtained in this study, some from high dilutions (10⁻⁸-10⁻¹⁰) of cave biofilm material. SSU rRNA sequences of several of these Mn-oxidizing bacterial isolates most closely matched those of Pseudomonas, Leptothrix, Flavobacterium, and one species not previously known to oxidize Mn, Janthinobacterium. Combined data from geochemical analyses, molecular surveys, and culturebased experiments suggest that Mn(II)-oxidizing bacteria are abundant and environmentally

relevant members of ferromanganese deposits in the karst network of the upper Tennessee River Basin.

Introduction

Carbonate bedrock underlies 20% of the land area east of the Mississippi River (White *et al.*, 1995; Christman and Culver, 2001), forming an intricate karst hydrologic network that is riddled with caves. The southern Appalachians (e.g., West Virginia, Virginia, Tennessee, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, and Alabama) contain numerous caves. Of the 50,000 cave systems known to exist in the United States, ca. 14% occur within the state of Tennessee (Barton and Jurado, 2007). Although cave geomicrobiology is an emerging field with recent studies involving caves in the southwestern United States and Europe (Northup *et al.*, 2003; Barton *et al.*, 2004; Porter *et al.*, 2009; Jones *et al.*, 2011), a paucity of information exists concerning the numerous cave systems of the Appalachian region.

To date, only a few studies describe the microbial communities of Appalachian cave systems. These include an assessment of fungal microbial ecology (Shapiro and Pringle, 2010), an examination of the role of stream biofilms in controlling cave ecosystem energetics (Simon *et al.*, 2003), molecular characterizations of microbial mats located in hypogene cave systems formed by sulfuric acid speleogenesis (Angert *et al.*, 1998; Engel *et al.*, 2001), and documentation of fecal coliforms in cave systems within Northern Alabama and Georgia (Campbell *et al.*, 2011). To our knowledge, our study represents the first characterization of the geomicrobiology of southern Appalachian cave systems created by the process of carbonic acid speleogenesis, the primary method of speleogenesis in karst systems worldwide (White *et al.*, 1995).

In past decades, the formation of cave mineral deposits and speleothems was thought to be primarily controlled by abiotic processes as a result of microsite environmental conditions (e.g., temperature, pH, solution chemistry), and changes in redox conditions (Northup and Lavoie, 2001; Engel *et al.*, 2004a; Barton and Northup, 2007). However, more recent geomicrobiology research lends support to the hypothesis that microbes play a role in the formation and dissolution of cave mineral deposits via direct and indirect metabolic activities and biomineralization processes (Northup *et al.*, 1997; Jones, 2001; Melim *et al.*, 2001; Barton and Luiszer, 2005; Spilde *et al.*, 2005; Cañaveras *et al.*, 2006; Taboroši, 2006; de los Ríos *et al.*, 2011). In particular, microbial reactions have been shown to promote the formation of cave manganese oxide and ferromanganese (mixed Fe and Mn oxides) deposits, such as corrosion residues (Northup *et al.*, 2000; Northup *et al.*, 2003; Spilde *et al.*, 2005), manganese flowstones (Gradziński *et al.*, 1995), rock coatings (Peck, 1986; Allouc and Harmelin, 2001), and manganese stromatolites (Rossi *et al.*, 2010).

These cave ferromanganese deposits may contain Mn oxide, Mn hydroxide, and Mn oxyhydroxide minerals (collectively referred to hereafter as Mn oxides), and the mineralogy of these deposits can be quite complex (Post, 1999; White *et al.*, 2009; Onac and Forti, 2011). The oxidation of Mn(II) to Mn(III) or Mn(IV), which is largely insoluble and precipitates out of solution as Mn(III/IV) oxide, is kinetically inhibited in the absence of a catalyst at near-neutral pH of most environments. Microorganisms are known to catalyze the oxidation of Mn(II) compounds, increasing reaction rates up to five orders of magnitude relative to abiotic oxidation rates (Nealson *et al.*, 1988; Dixon and Skinner, 1992; Francis and Tebo, 2002). Therefore, rapid Mn(III/IV) oxide depositional rates, especially those which exceed predicted abiotic reaction rates in a given environment, are a strong indication of microbial involvement in deposit formation (Nealson *et al.*, 1988).

The ability to oxidize Mn is a widespread trait among bacterial phylogenies, as members of the *Alphaproteobacteria* (Gebers and Hirsch, 1978; Anderson *et al.*, 2009), *Betaproteobacteria* (Emerson and Ghiorse, 1992), *Gammaproteobacteria* (Geszvain and Tebo, 2010), *CFB* (Nealson, 1978; Santelli *et al.*, 2010), and *gram-positive* (Dick *et al.*, 2006) lineages have demonstrated the ability to oxidize Mn. Fungal species are also capable of Mn biomineralization (Miyata *et al.*, 2006; Cahyani *et al.*, 2009; Santelli *et al.*, 2010; Santelli *et al.*, 2011). In most cases, the exact mechanism through which microbes induce the formation of Mn oxides remains enigmatic (Tebo *et al.*, 2005). However a few studies provide insight

into the complex biochemical pathways involved in Mn biomineralization, and it is generally recognized that microbial precipitation of Mn oxide minerals can be the result of passive (biologically-induced) or active (biologically-controlled) processes (Ghiorse and Ehrlich, 1992; Skinner and Fitzpatrick, 1992). In many cases, Mn-oxidation is either directly (Adams and Ghiorse, 1987; Boogerd and de Vrind, 1987) or indirectly (Learman *et al.*, 2011a) catalyzed by enzymes, and can occur via mechanisms that are associated with the structure of the microbial cell (e.g., membrane, sheath, or spore coat) (Boogerd and de Vrind, 1987; Larsen *et al.*, 1999; Francis and Tebo, 2002; Dick *et al.*, 2006) or via extracellular secretion of Mn-oxidases (Geszvain and Tebo, 2010; Santelli *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, biogenic oxides can either encrust microbial cells or accumulate in the immediate extracellular environment.

Regardless of their origin, Mn oxide minerals have highly charged surfaces and are biogeochemically active, demonstrating the ability to degrade humic substances (Sunda and Kieber, 1994), scavenge reactive oxygen species (Archibald and Fridovich, 1981; Daly *et al.*, 2004; Ghosal *et al.*, 2005; Learman *et al.*, 2011a), concentrate rare earth elements (Onac *et al.*, 1997), and influence trace metal (e.g., Co, Ni, Pb, Zn) bioavailability (Nelson *et al.*, 1999a,b; Post, 1999; Kay *et al.*, 2001; Manceau *et al.*, 2002; Villalobos *et al.*, 2005; Toner *et al.*, 2006) and speciation (Fendorf and Zasoski, 1992; White *et al.*, 2009). Biogenic oxides, which tend to have higher percentages of vacancies and smaller particle sizes (Webb *et al.*, 2005; Learman *et al.*, 2011b), demonstrate an increased sorptive capacity relative to abiotically produced oxides (Nelson *et al.*, 1999a). Therefore, biogenic Mn oxides may exert a greater impact on local geochemistry than abiotically generated deposits.

In this study, we examine the geomicrobiology of ferromanganese deposits in a cave system generated through carbonic acid speleogenesis, located in the cave-rich but poorly studied southern Appalachian karst region. The primary goal of this study is to better elucidate the role of microorganisms in the formation of cave ferromanganese deposits. Using a combination of molecular-based SSU rRNA analysis and culture-based methodologies, we demonstrate that Mn(II)-oxidizing bacteria are abundant and environmentally relevant constituents of ferromanganese deposits within cave systems of the upper Tennessee River Basin.

Results

Geochemistry and biogeochemical analyses

A variety of carbonate speleothem formations (flowstone, dripstone, soda straws, corrosion residue) occur throughout the cave systems in the upper Tennessee River Basin addressed in this study. All four cave systems (Carter Salt Peter Cave (herein CSPC), Worley's, Rockhouse, and Daniel Boone Caverns (herein DBC)) are particularly enriched in ferromanganese oxide deposits (Fig. S1), which are visible in the form of black or chocolate brown biofilms and mineral-rich crusts that coat cave walls and speleothems. The source of Fe(II) and Mn(II) necessary for the formation of these deposits is likely the Knox Dolomite bedrock, which contains ca. 88-445 ppm Mn and ca. 1340-7050 ppm Fe (Montañez, 1994). Studies in similar cave systems also indicate a bedrock source for these reduced compounds (Rossi *et al.*, 2010), or an aqueous source via groundwater percolation (Moore, 1981).

Weathering and corrosion of the Knox Dolomite bedrock by infiltration of meteoric water containing carbonic acid produces a nontronite (smectite-type) clay residuum in addition to calcite speleothems in all four study sites, including flowstones, rimstones, and popcorn-like micronodules (cave coral). We observe ferromanganese crusts and/or biofilms occurring on these nontronite substrates, on weathered dolostone bedrock, and on calcite speleothems at all four field locations. Geochemical analyses show that the concentration of total Mn in these crusts and biofilms ranges from 10.9 ppm – 327.5 ppm (Table 1). The Mn:Fe ratios in cave ferromanganese deposits vary between cave systems and within cave deposits, ranging from 0.06 -1.07 (Table 1). However, no obvious trends have emerged that indicate a possible effect of substrate mineralogy or water content on Mn:Fe ratios in Carter Salt Peter Cave show both the second highest (0.91) and lowest (0.06) Mn:Fe ratios. Interestingly, the Mn:Fe ratio at all sample sites, with the exception of CSPC Watermark (Table 1), was enriched relative to the average Mn:Fe ratio for Knox Dolomite (ca. 0.1) as reported by Lumsden and Caudle (2001). At sites where the

Mn:Fe ratio approaches 1 (Worley's Ribbon Rock and CSPC Mn Falls), this would represent an order of magnitude increase above the bulk bedrock ratio.

Quantification of microbial abundance using real-time quantitative PCR and fluorescence direct counts Our qPCR results (Fig. 2) demonstrated that total bacterial SSU rRNA genes in biofilm samples from Mn Falls and Mud Trap Falls (CSPC) represented approximately 9×10^9 cells/g wet weight, a number that was confirmed via fluorescence direct cell counts (Fig. S2). Total bacterial SSU rRNA genes from ferromanganese crusts (Fig. 2) were up to two orders of magnitude lower, containing from 7×10^7 (Weathered Ribbon Rock, Worley's Cave)-2x10⁹ (Hang Out, Rockhouse Cave) cells/g wet weight $(3x10^{8}-4x10^{10}$ SSU rRNA gene copies/g wet weight). Archaeal SSU rRNA gene sequences from cave samples were estimated to represent from 5×10^6 - 1×10^8 cells/g wet weight (8×10^6 - 2×10^8 SSU rRNA gene copies/g wet weight), with an average of 5.6×10^7 cells/g wet weight in biofilm samples. Archaeal percentages within the total microbial population were highest at several sample sites within the CSPC and Worley's cave systems: Dino Cove (ca. 6%), Ribbon Rock (ca. 6%), Watermark (ca. 7%), and Weathered Ribbon Rock (ca. 11%). The total estimated number of fungal ITS gene sequences from cave samples ranged from below detection limit (257-4,945 cells/g wet weight depending on the DNA extraction efficiency of individual samples) to 6.5×10^7 cells/g wet weight (1×10^{10} SSU rRNA gene copies/g wet weight) in biofilm samples, with an average of 1.32×10^7 cells/g wet weight across all sample sites above detection limit. Overall, bacterial SSU rRNA gene copies represented 95% (89-99%) of the total estimated microbial cell numbers at each site, while those of archaea represented 5% (0.2%-11%), and those of fungi represented 0.3% (undetected-0.6%).

Analysis of bacterial and archaeal community structure through SSU rRNA clone library construction Molecular based characterization of microbial community structure has been a staple of microbial ecology since the recognition that culture-based techniques vastly underestimate prokaryotic diversity within the environment (Staley and Konopka, 1985). PCR and cloning techniques are inherently biased in all steps of the procedure, from DNA extraction (Klein, 2011), to PCR primer choice and reaction conditions (v. Wintzingerode *et al.*, 1997), to the statistical techniques used to analyze data (Kuczynski *et al.*, 2010; Kuczynski and Knight, 2011). In addition, concern also exists regarding sequencing depth of coverage when using small clone libraries, a factor that would lead to an underestimation of true environmental diversity and the exclusion of rare taxa in sequencing data (Fierer and Lennon, 2011). With the advent of second generation sequencing technologies, this concern is becoming less of an issue (Wooley *et al.*, 2010; Jones *et al.*, 2011). Despite the issues outlined above, 16S rRNA gene sequencing has been a reliable and accurate way of characterizing microbial community structure since its incorporation into the field of microbial ecology (Pace, 1997). In this study, a SSU rRNA clone library survey was conducted on two ferromanganese-rich biofilms (Table 1) located in close physical proximity within the CSPC system, Mn Falls (Fig. S1A, OTUs from this sample are prefaced by a *F* in Fig. 3 and Fig. 4) and Mud Trap Falls (Fig.S1B, OTUs from this sample are prefaced by a *T* in Fig. 3 and Fig. 4). The primary goal of the molecular survey was to characterize the microbes in cave ferromanganese deposits and to infer which microorganisms may be playing a role in Mn oxidation *in situ*, based on phylogenetic association and/or culturing analyses.

Using 98% sequence similarity to define archaeal operational taxonomic units (OTUs), analysis of archaeal libraries revealed 26 unique OTUs out of 65 total sequences. Rarefaction analysis of sequencing data indicated the development of an asymptotic trend (data not shown); therefore, sampling efforts were sufficient in capturing the archaeal diversity within the microbial community. Crenarchaeal sequences were binned into 3 operational taxonomic units (OTUs/species) (Fig. 3), representing ca. 40% of the total archaeal sequences in cave biofilm clone libraries. According to top BLAST hits, these OTUs were related to clone sequences from a variety of environments, from sediment, to the deep subsurface, freshwater systems, and other ferromanganese deposits. Crenarchaeal OTUs represented members of the Marine Group 1 Crenarchaea and SAGMA Groups 1 and 2. The dominant Crenarchaeal sequence in the present study was OTU TDO2, sharing 98% identity over a 765 bp alignment to a clone sequence isolated from freshwater ferromanganous micronodules and sediments (Stein *et al.*, 2001). Euryarchaeal

sequences from clone libraries were binned into 23 OTUs (Fig. 4), representing ca. 60% of the total archaeal sequences in the clone library data. OTUs represented members of the Deep Sea Hydrothermal Vent Group 6, Rice Cluster V, and *Methanobacteriales* and were closely related to other clones isolated from soil, freshwater and marine systems, and low-temperature environments. The majority of Euryarchaeal OTUs in this study represented members of Rice Cluster V. Members of the Deep Sea Hydrothermal Vent Group 6 (DSHV6) represented 29% of the total archaeal sequence types in cave biofilm clone libraries, and 45% of the Euryarchaeal sequences. OTU FG01, a member of the *Methanobacteriales* and representing 6% of the total archaeal sequences, shared 100% identity over a 765 bp alignment to *Methanobrevibacter acididurans*, a novel acid-tolerant, hydrogenotrophic methanogen isolated from an anaerobic digester (Savant *et al.*, 2002).

Bacterial community composition in the CSPC system was much more diverse than archaeal community composition, a pattern that is consistent with most environmental surveys, including caves (Northup *et al.*, 2003; Chelius and Moore, 2004; Macalady *et al.*, 2006; Macalady *et al.*, 2007). Using a 97% identity cutoff, there were 114 unique OTUs out of ca. 180 total sequences. Rarefaction analysis revealed no evidence of the development of asymptotic trend (data not shown), indicating that sampling efforts were not sufficient to measure the full extent of diversity within the biofilm communities. This type of depth of coverage issue is not uncommon in 16S rRNA sequence-based environmental studies using small clone libraries (Fierer and Lennon, 2011). For phylogenetic analysis, data was further reduced into 34 dominant OTUs representing ca. 100 sequences (Fig. 5, Fig. 6, and Fig. S3). A dominant OTU was defined as representing two or more sequences in the clone library, and it is important to note that this approach would result in an underestimation of diversity in the clone library as ca. 80 singleton OTUs were eliminated from downstream phylogenetic analysis.

Dominant bacterial OTUs from cave biofilms represented a diverse taxonomic array, with sequences from the library representing members of the *Bacteroidetes* (26%), *Betaproteobacteria* (20%), *Alphaproteobacteria* (15%), *Acidobacteria* (12%), *Gammaproteobacteria* (10%), *Verrucomicrobia* (7%), *Planctomycetes* (5%), *Chlorobi* (2%), and *Deltaproteobacteria* (2%). The three dominant classes of

bacteria, based on the percentage of sequences represented by dominant OTUs in the library, were members of the *Proteobacteria* (47%), *Bacteroidetes* (26%), and *Acidobacteria* (12%). Combined, these three phyla account for 85% of the dominant OTUs.

Several dominant bacterial OTUs identified in this study were related to clones and environmental isolates from freshwater and marine systems, sediment, contaminated ecosystems, other cave systems, and ferromanganese deposits. Some (ca. 10%) of the 34 dominant OTUs were related to known Mn-oxidizers such as *Leptothrix* (OTU BF2AO7, Fig. 5, 100% identical over a 1,485 bp alignment to *Leptothrix discophora* SP-6 (Emerson and Ghiorse, 1992)) and *Pseudomonas* (OTUs BF2B07 and BF2E03, Fig. 5). In addition, some (ca. 11%) of the 34 dominant OTUs were related to known Fe-oxidizers (*Leptothrix* spp.) or clones isolated from oxidized iron deposits (OTUs BF2C07 and BF2C10, Fig. S3). Combined, 21% of the sequences represented by dominant OTUs were related to known metal-oxidizers or clones isolated from oxidized metal environments.

Isolation of Mn(II)-oxidizing microorganisms

Six Mn(II)-oxidizing isolates obtained from CSPC ferromanganese deposits clustered within the *Gammaproteobacterial* subphylum near members of the genus *Pseudomonas*, a common group of known Mn(II)-oxidizing microorganisms (Fig. 5). Cultures N4, T4, T2, and N3 were isolated on a modified version of Burk's N-free media (Mohandas, 1988), although we have not yet established if these isolates are capable of N_2 fixation. Isolate N3 is 97% identical over a 1,502 bp alignment to OTU BF2E03, and isolates N4 and T4 are 97% identical (over a 1,181 and 1,473 bp alignment respectively) to OTU BF2B07. Isolate Mn Falls 11 is a close relative (99% identity over a 1,128 bp sequence alignment) of *Pseudomonas putida*, a model organism used in the study of the molecular mechanisms involved in Mn(II)-oxidation (Geszvain and Tebo, 2010).

Two Mn(II)-oxidizing isolates obtained from ferromanganese deposits within CSPC fall within the *Betaproteobacteria* (Fig. 5): *Janthinobacterium sp.* A6 and *Leptothrix sp.* G6. *Janthinobacterium sp.* A6 oxidizes Mn(II) in liquid culture, and appears to oxidize Mn extracellularly, since clumps of tissue-

paper like Mn oxides were loosely associated with cells (Fig 7). The closest cultured strain,

Janthinobacterium sp. Acj215 (Fig. 5), isolated from the gut of a Japanese honeybee, is 99% identical to isolate A6 across a 1,123 base pair alignment. Isolate A6 was obtained from a serial dilution culture containing 2.5x10⁻⁸g wet weight biofilm material. Cave isolate *Leptothrix sp.* G6 oxidizes Mn along the sheath (Fig 7). This organism is 99% identical over a 1,485 bp alignment to the Mn-oxidizing, sheath-forming *Leptothrix discophora* SP-6 (Emerson and Ghiorse, 1992), and it was obtained from a serial dilution culture containing 2.5x10⁻⁸ g wet weight biofilm material.

Two Mn(II)-oxidizing isolates obtained from ferromanganese deposits within CSPC fall within the *Bacteroidetes* (Fig. 6): *Flavobacterium sp.* E8 and *Flavobacterium sp.* MTFA, which oxidize Mn(II) in liquid culture. *Flavobacterium sp.* E8 is 99% identical over a 1,469 bp alignment to its' closest cultivate relative, *Flavobacterium* sp. WB3.4.6, and *Flavobacterium sp.* MTFA is 98% identical over a 1,476 bp alignment to its' closest cultivate relative, *Flavobacterium* sp. PR4-11. Members of this genus have previously been reported to oxidize Mn(II) (Nealson, 1978; Ford and Mitchell, 1990; Santelli *et al.*, 2010). Isolate E8 was obtained from a serial dilution culture containing 2.5x10⁻¹⁰g wet weight biofilm material.

A single isolate falling within the *Actinobacteria*, *Arthrobacter sp.* L (Fig. 6), was obtained from a ferromanganese deposit located within Daniel Boone Caverns. *Arthrobacter* isolate L oxidizes Mn(II) in liquid culture; members of this genus have been reported to demonstrate this capability (Schweisfurth *et al.*, 1978). *Arthrobacter* sp. L is 98% identical over a 1,457 bp alignment to its' closest cultivated relative, *Arthrobacter methylotrophus*, a facultative methylotroph isolated from an enrichment culture containing dimethylsulfone as the sole source of carbon and energy (Borodina *et al.*, 2000; Borodina *et al.*, 2002). Interestingly, in addition to Mn(II)-oxidizing microorganisms, two putative methylotrophic Mn(II)oxidizers were isolated in this study: a *Gammaproteobacterium*, *Acinetobacter sp.* V1 (Fig. 5), and a *Bacteroidete*, *Flavobacterium sp.* V2 (Fig. 6). Both isolates were obtained using NMS media, which was designed to target methylotrophic Mn oxidizers by using methane as a sole carbon source. However, methylotrophy has not yet been confirmed in these strains.

Discussion

The cave geochemical environment

Iron and manganese are the fourth and fifth most abundant elements in the Earth's crust, respectively (Edwards *et al.*, 2004; Tebo et al., 2007), where Fe outweighs Mn by a ratio of ca. 58:1 in the upper continental crust (Turekian and Wedelpohl, 1961; Wedelpohl, 1995). The predominance of Fe over Mn in a variety of natural systems is well documented in studies of marine (Edwards *et al.*, 2004; Nitahara *et al.*, 2011) and freshwater (Stein *et al.*, 2001; Johnson *et al.*, 2012) systems. However, biomineralization processes are invoked as a causal factor in the formation of a Mn-enriched geochemical environments in cases where the concentration of Mn is equal to or outweighs the concentration of Fe (e.g., Mn flowstones in caves (Gradziński *et al.*, 1995) and desert rock varnish (Krumbein and Jens, 1981)) or where secondary mineral deposits are enriched in metal concentration relative to substrate geochemistry as is common in many caves throughout the world (Cunningham *et al.*, 1995; Northup *et al.*, 2003; Spilde *et al.*, 2005; Spilde *et al.*, 2006).

Microbial biomineralization processes clearly contribute to ferromanganese oxide accretion in this study, where Mn concentrations were enriched relative to bedrock concentrations and where the Mn:Fe ratio approached 1:1, such as Worley's Ribbon Rock and CSPC Mn Falls (Table 1). A Mn:Fe ratio of ca. 1:1 in cave ferromanganese deposits is a common ratio found in oligotrophic systems in the southwest United States such as Lechuguilla and Spider Caves (Northup *et al.*, 2003; Spilde *et al.*, 2005), whereby darker deposits tend to show an enrichment in Mn relative to lighter deposits (Northup *et al.*, 2003; Spilde *et al.*, 2006). In the present study, geochemical analyses indicated that niches, with varying degrees of Fe and Mn enrichment, were forming within cave systems of the upper Tennessee River Basin. Previous research demonstrates the role of microsite geochemistry in establishing environmental niches (Macalady *et al.*, 2008; Engel *et al.*, 2010; Rossmassler *et al.*, 2012), structuring microbial communities (Goldscheider *et al.*, 2006; Barton *et al.*, 2007; Shabarova and Pernthaler, 2010), and influencing mineral precipitation (Frierdich *et al.*, 2011) and composition (Post, 1999; White *et al.*, 2009) in subsurface karst systems. Enrichment of Mn relative to Fe at some sample locations, such as CSPC Mn Falls (Table 1, Fig. S1A), emphasizes the importance of understanding the role of Mn-oxidizing and Mn-reducing microorganisms at these sites, as microbial biomineralization and dissolution processes contribute to the formation and transformation of the cave mineral environment. However, the effects of agricultural and soil geochemical inputs on biomineralization processes in the shallow, epigenic cave systems in the upper Tennessee River Basin is not yet known.

Ferromanganous biofilm community composition

In the present study, qPCR data indicated that bacterial cells represented on average 95% of the total microbial cells at sample sites, a finding that is consistent with general thought regarding the abundance of bacteria (90% of the total cell count including archaea and eukarya) in environmental samples. Interestingly, the range of detection of bacterial cell numbers in our study $(7.5 \times 10^7 \text{ to } 9.8 \times 10^9 \text{ cells/mL})$ was two to four orders of magnitude higher than numbers typically reported within similar, pH neutral cave systems (Northup et al., 2000; Barton et al., 2006). In addition, biofilm samples were estimated to contain 9.85×10^9 total microbial cells/g wet weight, a quantity that is two orders of magnitude greater than studies of ferromanganese deposits in Spider and Lechuguilla caves (Spilde et al., 2005). Deep cave systems with limited energy supply and minimal human impact are considered to be oligotrophic environments, and recent research indicates that they are low-biomass environments with high levels of microbial diversity (Northup and Lavoie, 2001; Barton et al., 2004; Hunter et al., 2004; Boston et al., 2006). Although the total cell count reported in the present study is higher than that found in oligotrophic caves, it is not outside the range of numbers reported in studies of other environmental systems. Microbial cell abundance has been estimated to range from 1.29×10^9 to 7.6×10^{10} cells/mL in marine sediments (Nitahara et al., 2011), cold seep microbial mats (Grünke et al., 2011), arable soil (Torsvik et al., 2002), and filamentous microbial mats in sulfidic springs (Engel et al., 2004b). At the time of sampling, the CSPC Mn Falls site was thought to be heavily impacted by organic input from sewage effluent. Bacterial

biomass in cave pools has been shown to increase proportionally with organic carbon input (Simon and Buikema Jr., 1997), and cell concentrations in the range of 1×10^9 cells/mL have been reported in sewage (Fierer and Lennon, 2011). Therefore, high cell counts at sites within the CSPC system could be indicative of high levels of anthropogenic impact (e.g., nutrient loading), due in part to the shallow, surface-influenced depths of these caves. In fact, clone library data corroborate this idea as many of the clones obtained here were related to sequences obtained from degraded environments (see Fig. 5, OTUs BF2B07, BF2E04, BF2F03, BLD10, and BLB01).

In general, a high degree of diversity within systems is supported by microbial metabolic plasticity (Whitman *et al.*, 1998) and the development of mutualistic associations in biofilm communities leading to the interdependency of organisms within the community (Fierer and Lennon, 2011). The SSU rRNA data from the present study is suggestive of the presence of a variety of microbial metabolic strategies within CSPC biofilms, as clone sequences obtained in this study are closely related to methanogens (OTU G01, Fig. 4), hydrocarbon degraders (OTU BF2E03, Fig. 5), ammonia-oxidizers (OTU BF2F03, Fig. 5), denitrifiers (OTU BLB01, Fig. 5), and iron or manganese-oxidizers. Several lines of evidence from the SSU rRNA molecular-based survey of CSPC suggest that metal-oxidation plays an important role in the formation of ferromanganous biofilms within the cave system.

Members of the *Proteobacteria* (47% of the sequences represented by dominant OTUs in the present study) are common constituents of cave clone libraries and have been detected in RNA-based surveys as metabolically active members of cave microbial consortia (Portillo *et al.*, 2008). Members of the *Bacteroidetes* (26% of the sequences represented by dominant OTUs in the present study) have been detected in both pH neutral (Schabereiter-Gurtner *et al.*, 2002b; Chelius and Moore, 2004) and sulfidic (Engel *et al.*, 2001; Barton and Luiszer, 2005) cave systems. Molecular work from the present study indicates that *Leptothrix* are dominant members of the CSPC Mn Falls biofilm community, with 6% of the total library sequences represented by OTU BF2A07 (Fig. 5), a close relative (99% identity over a 1,489 bp sequence alignment) of the *Leptothrix* strain isolated in this study suggesting that these organisms play an important role in the biomineralization of Mn in southern Appalachian cave systems.

Leptothrix sp. are known to be capable of both Fe and Mn oxidation (van Veen *et al.* 1978; Spring, 2006) therefore we cannot rule out the role of microbially induced Fe oxidation by *Leptothrix* and other related organisms in the formation of cave ferromanganese biofilms and crusts.

Of particular interest in the present study, is the relatively high proportion of Acidobacteria (12% of the sequences represented by dominant OTUs in the present study) in CSPC biofilms. Members of this class have been detected in molecular-based studies of both pH neutral (Schabereiter-Gurtner et al., 2002a, b; Chelius and Moore, 2004; Schabereiter-Gurtner et al., 2004; Northup et al., 2011) and sulfidic (Engel et al., 2004b) cave systems. Acidobacteria are known to be recalcitrant to cultivation (Stevenson et al., 2004), therefore information concerning their physiological role in the environment is lacking. Evidence from several studies indicates that Acidobacteria may be important metabolically active members of cave microbial consortia (Meisinger et al., 2007; Portillo et al., 2008). However, further research is needed to determine if members of the Acidobacteria play a role in cave biomineralization processes. One of the few isolated Acidobacteria cultivars, Geothrix fermentans (Coates et al., 1999), is a known Fe(III)-reducer, suggesting the potential for these organisms to be involved in the reductive dissolution of cave ferromanganese deposits. Interestingly, OTU BF2C10 (Fig. S3), closely related to other clones isolated from freshwater ferromanganese deposits (Stein et al., 2001) and iron-oxidizing biofilms (Duckworth et al., 2007), shares 100% identity over a ca. 1500 base pair alignment with Geothrix fermentans. Overall, results suggest that many of these organisms (among the Acidobacteria, Proteobacteria and Bacteroides) may be responsible for, or at least involved in the transformation (precipitation or dissolution) of cave ferromanganese deposits.

The identification of clones related to organismal or clonal sequences from a variety of oxidized metal environments corroborates studies of ferromanganese deposits in caves and other systems (Stein *et al.*, 2001; Northup *et al.*, 2003; Spilde *et al.*, 2005). In the present study, these sequences represented 21% of the total dominant OTUs, suggesting that metal-oxidizers are abundant members of the CSPC biofilm communities and contribute to the formation of ferromanganese deposits. Horner-Devine *et al.* (2007) demonstrated that a certain degree of structure occurs within microbial communities, as species

assemblages exist in non-random patterns that can be dictated by environmental conditions. Therefore, the observed enrichment of metal-oxidizing organisms in the present study is unlikely to represent a stochastic fluctuation in community structure, and is likely related to the Fe and Mn geochemistry at these sites.

Archaea, like bacteria, are ubiquitous within the environment (DeLong, 1992), and play a key role in the maintenance of biogeochemical cycles (Goldscheider *et al.*, 2006). Despite the widespread distribution of archaea in the environment (Chaban *et al.*, 2006) and the known metabolic diversity of cultured representatives, archaea remain understudied members of microbial communities, particularly in caves. The role of archaea in the formation and transformation of cave ferromanganese deposits is debatable, although molecular evidence of archaea in clone libraries generated from cave ferromanganese deposits (Northup *et al.*, 2003) has led some investigators (Tebo *et al.*, 2005) to speculate regarding the possible existence of a new class of archaea capable of Mn-biomineralization.

In the present study, archaea represented ca. 5.0% of the total microbial population in cave biofilms, a finding that is consistent with the general thought regarding the abundance of archaea in environmental microbial consortia, typically about 10.0% of the total microbial population. Archaeal community diversity was relatively low in comparison to bacterial community diversity; however, this trend is consistent with literature reports in caves (Macalady *et al.*, 2007), marine ferromanganese crusts (Nitahara *et al.*, 2011), and other environments (DeLong, 1992).

Members of the Crenarchaea (Northup *et al.*, 2003; Chelius and Moore, 2004; Spear *et al.*, 2007; Llirós *et al.*, 2008; Chen *et al.*, 2009) and the Euryarchaea (Northup *et al.*, 2003; Llirós *et al.*, 2008; Chen *et al.*, 2009) have been detected in molecular surveys from caves, subterranean environments, and karst systems. The archaeal community in this study was dominated by members of the Marine Group 1 Crenarchaea. OTU TDO2 accounted for 37% of the total archaeal diversity in the library, and 92% of the Crenarchaeal diversity. Members of the Rice Cluster V and Deep Sea Hydrothermal Vent Group 6 (DSHV6) Euryarchaea were the second and third most dominant archaeal groups, representing 32% and 29% respectively of the total archaeal diversity captured in this study. Of the six DSHV6 OTUs identified in this study, four (FD02, FF04, TD04, and TD06) were less than 95% similar to their closest relatives as determined by BLAST analysis. This high degree of divergence (Amann *et al.*, 1995) indicates that these sequences represent novel lineages unique to CSPC or other similar systems. Several findings emphasize the need to ascertain the functional role of archaea in cave biogeochemical cycling: 1) the dominance of sequences related to Crenarchaeal OTU TD02 in the CSPC Mn(II)-oxidizing biofilm community, 2) recent evidence from other studies of metabolically active Crenarchaea in similar cave systems (Gonzalez *et al.*, 2006) , and 3) the recovery of several novel Euryarchaeal lineages in CSPC.

Fungi, like archaea, are understudied components of cave ecosystems, and little is known about the abundance or environmental relevance of fungi in caves (Bastian *et al.*, 2009). By using 169 copies/fungal genome for our qPCR standardization, it is likely that qPCR measurements of fungal cell abundance in the present study underestimate actual abundance within sample sites. Nevertheless, our results are generally consistent with what is known about soil microbial communities in that eukaryotic cells represent ca. 1.0 % of the total cell population in environmental samples; therefore, fungal:bacterial ratios are typically well below 1 (Fierer *et al.*, 2005). However, it is important to note that abundance within an environment does not necessarily correlate with environmental relevance. Rare taxa, such as fungi, often comprise the majority of microbial diversity in the environment and are thought to be important components of the functional diversity of a system (Curtis and Sloan, 2005; Sogin *et al.*, 2006; Huber *et al.*, 2007). Further, the maintenance of such diversity is a key component contributing to the maintenance of ecosystem stability (Lennon and Jones, 2011).

Fungal diversity in cave systems is thought to be high (Roble *et al.*, 2011; Vaughan *et al.*, 2011), and the existence of tightly coupled fungal-bacterial interactions (e.g., chemolithoautotrophic bacteria providing the organic base to support heterotrophic bacteria and fungi) have been demonstrated in cave ferromanganese deposits (Cunningham *et al.*, 1995). Though fungi mediate key biogeochemical transformations within the environment regularly (Sterflinger, 2000; Fomina *et al.*, 2005; Dupont *et al.*, 2007), the extent to which fungi are involved in the formation of ferromanganese deposits is the subject of long-standing debate (Taylor-George *et al.*, 1983; Grote and Krumbein, 1992; Schelble *et al.*, 2005). Mnoxidizing fungi represent a phylogenetically diverse group of organisms, yet little is known about the role of these organisms in the biogeochemical cycling of manganese (Miyata *et al.*, 2006). The importance of fungi as unrecognized constituents of metal-oxidizing communities has recently been highlighted in the work of Santelli *et al.* (2010). The role of fungi in the formation and transformation of the cave mineral environment is a relevant and important future line of study within the broader field of cave geomicrobiology, and is currently being investigated at these sites.

Microbial Mn-biomineralization in cave ferromanganese deposits

The present study is significant due to the broad taxonomic array of bacteria isolated from cave ferromanganese deposits that demonstrate the ability to oxidize Mn(II) in culture. To our knowledge, the isolation of a *Janthinobacterium* sp. capable Mn(II)-oxidation represents the first report of a Mn(II)-oxidizing member of this genus. This finding expands the diversity of known Mn-oxidizers and provides further support for the importance of this process to the microbial cell. In addition, this study represents the first report of *Flavobacterium* and *Arthrobacter* strains isolated from a cave that demonstrate Mn-biomineralization capacity *in vitro*. *Flavobacterium* (Ikner *et al.*, 2007) and *Arthrobacter* (Laiz *et al.*, 2000; Ikner *et al.*, 2007) species have been isolated from cave systems in prior studies, although the Mn-biomineralization capacity of these isolates was not established.

In addition to the above strains, the isolation of a Mn(II)-oxidizing *Leptothrix* from CSPC represents the first reported isolation of this organism from a cave in over twenty years (Moore, 1981; Peck, 1986), although recent work has demonstrated the presence of *Leptothrix* in caves using scanning electron microscopy (de los Ríos *et al.*, 2011; Florea *et al.*, 2011; Frierdich *et al.*, 2011; S.K. Carmichael, unpublished data). Iron and manganese oxidizing *Leptothrix sp.* are commonly isolated from freshwater systems and are particularly abundant at redox interfaces (Spring, 2006). However, *Leptothrix sp.* typically lose their sheath-forming capacity in culture, so isolation of a close relative of the sheath-forming strain SP-6 from a high dilution is unusual and noteworthy.

Over 30 different metal oxide and hydroxide minerals can be found in caves (Hill and Forti, 1997), though it is important to note that not all black or dark brown deposits in caves are Mn oxides (Hill, 1982; Gázquez *et al.*, 2012) and it is unlikely that all are formed by microbes. However, Mn-oxidizing microbes have been shown to produce several of the Mn oxide minerals (such as birnessite and todorokite) commonly found in caves (Noskin, 2001; Spilde *et al.*, 2005; Santelli *et al.*, 2010; Frierdich *et al.*, 2011). The isolation of three Mn(II)-biomineralizing organisms from high dilutions ($2.5x10^{-8}$ g wet weight and $2.5x10^{-10}$ g wet weight) is suggestive of the environmental relevance of these genera (*Janthinobacterium, Leptothrix*, and *Flavobacterium*) in the formation of cave ferromanganese deposits in the upper Tennessee River Basin. The diversity of Mn(II)-oxidizers isolated in this study, combined with the evidence of biomineralization capacity within cave isolates demonstrates the importance of these organisms in cave biogeochemical cycles.

Conclusions

The present study represents the first geomicrobiological analysis of ferromanganese deposits within the cave-rich, yet vastly understudied southern Appalachian karst system. Experimental results better clarify the role of microbes in 1) biogeochemical transformations within the Carter Salt Peter Cave system and 2) the formation and transformation of the cave mineral environment. Elemental analysis indicates the presence of Mn-enriched geochemical environments within some ferromanganese deposits in the CSPC system. SSU rRNA based molecular surveys at Mn-enriched sites reveal the genetic potential for Mn-biomineralization within these deposits. Biomineralization capacity was inferred via culture-dependent surveys, which resulted in the isolation of a broad taxonomic array of Mn(II)-oxidizing bacteria from cave ferromanganese deposits. Overall, molecular evidence and cultivation-based techniques demonstrate that Mn(II)-oxidizing bacteria are abundant and environmentally relevant species in cave ferromanganese deposits. Although archaea are also present in these deposits, their contribution to the formation of the metal-oxide minerals is not conclusive as cultivation attempts did not succeed in isolating these microbes. We cannot rule out the possibility that archaea do not participate in the biogeochemical cycling of metals

in this cave environment. The Mn-oxidizing bacteria identified here likely play a role in mediating cave biogeochemical cycles, forming and transforming the cave mineral environment, and are vital contributors (via functional diversity) to the maintenance of cave microbial consortia (Warren and Kauffman, 2003) within these fragile and unique cave systems. However, more work is needed to better elucidate the full cycle of metal transformation within the cave environment.

Experimental Procedures

Field Description

The study area (Fig. 1, inset) is comprised of several epigenic caves, all located in the Ordovician Knox Dolomite unit (Oder, 1934) within the upper Tennessee River Basin (spanning northeast Tennessee and southwest Virginia). The primary study site, Carter Salt Peter Cave (Carter County, Tennessee, Fig. 1), is an epigenic cave system typical of those found within the Appalachian region. Carter Salt Peter Cave, herein referred to as CSPC, is relatively shallow cave system occurring at a depth of approximately 30 m. Evidence of anthropogenic impact is widespread throughout the system. Within the dark zone of the cave, ambient temperature remains around 13°C year-round and humidity levels approach 100%. These conditions are typical of cave systems where temperature in the deep zone annually hovers around MAST (Mean Annual Surface Temperature) for a given region (Northup and Lavoie, 2001). Rockhouse Cave is located less than 2 km east of CSPC, and the two systems are hydrologically connected (Gao et al., 2006b; Gao et al., 2006a). Worley's cave, located 24 km northeast of CSPC in Sullivan County, TN, is frequently visited by humans and contains a substantial subterranean creek system that exits the cave to a surface water system. Recent work (Y. Gao, unpublished data) has demonstrated that Worley's cave is hydrologically connected to sinkholes in nearby farm fields and therefore may be susceptible to agricultural runoff. In contrast to these three anthropogenically-impacted caves, Daniel Boone Caverns (herein referred to as DBC) in Scott County, VA is rarely visited and is located in an isolated forest location on the top of a ridge. Therefore, DBC is not subject to agricultural or municipal runoff. It

contains several pools and drip networks, but does not have an extensive subsurface hydrologic system at present.

Sample collection

Samples were collected in roughly three month intervals from July 2009 to September 2011 in four cave systems (Fig. 1) located in eastern Tennessee and southwest Virginia: Carter Salt Peter Cave, Daniel Boone Caverns, Rockhouse Cave, and Worley's Cave. Ferromanganese deposits were identified within cave systems as black/chocolate brown patinas coating cave rocks and walls. Deposits were screened for the presence of Mn oxides using 0.04% Leucoberbelin Blue (LBB), a redox indicator that is oxidized by Mn(III) or Mn(IV) to produce a bright blue color change (Krumbein and Altmann, 1973). Deposit morphology was highly variable within systems (Fig. S1), with LBB-positive samples collected from biofilms, ferromanganese coatings and crusts, and ferromanganous micronodules. Samples were collected aseptically by scraping the deposit surface using a sterile 50 mL Falcon tube. Samples were stored on ice, transported to the lab, and immediately processed for downstream use.

Geochemistry and biogeochemical analyses

A subset of cave ferromanganese samples were analyzed at Appalachian State University to determine substrate mineralogy (Table 1) using a Shimadzu 6000 powder X-ray diffractometer with a Cu X-ray source and measured from 5-80° 20. Species were identified using the PDF/4+ Minerals Database. A subset of samples were collected for metal analyses in December 2009 (Worley's Cave) and January 2010 (Carter Salt Peter Cave), lyophilized over a 48 hour period, then following USEPA SW846 Method 3051A: Microwave Assisted Acid Digestion of Sediments, Sludges, Soils, and Oils (Link *et al.*, 1998; USEPA, 2007). Elemental analysis was performed in duplicate on several rock and biofilm samples (Table 1) to determine total Mn and Fe content using a Varian 710-ES Inductively Coupled Plasma-Optical Emission Spectrometer (ICP-OES).

Real-time quantitative PCR

Ten sample sites across three cave systems were analyzed using real-time quantitative PCR to quantify the relative abundance of archaea, bacteria, and fungi in the Carter Salt Peter, Rockhouse, and Worley's cave systems (Fig. 2). Primers were selected for each domain that demonstrated broad coverage over the 16S rRNA (archaea and bacteria) and fungal ITS1 regions. The forward primer 338F 5'TCC TACGGGAGGCAGCAGT (Nadkarni *et al.*, 2002) was paired with the reverse primer 518R 5'ATTACCGCGGCTGCTGG (Einen *et al.*, 2008) to target the bacterial 16S rRNA gene sequence. The primer pair 967F 5'AATTGGCGGGGGGGGGGGGGCAC/1060R 5'GGCCATGCACCWCCTCTC (Cadillo-Quiroz *et al.*, 2006) was selected to target the archaeal 16S rRNA gene sequence. The fungal ITS1 gene sequence was targeted using the ITS1F 5'TCCGTAGGTGAACCTGCGG/5.8sR

5'CGCTGCGTTCTTCATCG primer pair (Fierer et al., 2005). Amplifications were performed in triplicate on an Applied BiosystemsTM 7300 Real-Time PCR System (Carlsbad, CA) using MaximaTM SYBR Green/ROX qPCR Master Mix (Fermentas, Glen Burnie, MA) with 2 ng sample DNA/well. Calibration curves for quantification were generated using one of the following standards: 1) plasmid DNA containing the SSU rRNA gene from *Rhodobacter* sp. CR07-74 (bacteria, range of 10^2 – 10^9 target copies/µL), 2) genomic DNA extracted using the Qiagen DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit (Valencia, CA) from *Methanoregula boonei* 6A8 (archaea, range of 10^2 - 10^7 target copies/µL), and 3) plasmid DNA containing the fungal ITS1 gene from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (fungi, range of 10^{1} - 10^{8} target copies/µL). Circular plasmid DNA standards have been reported to cause overestimation of sample cell number using quantitative PCR (Hou et al., 2010). To circumvent this potential issue, plasmid DNA standards were lineraized by restriction digest using BssHII (bacteria) and NCOI-HFTM (fungi) (New England BioLabs, Ipswich, MA). rRNA operon copy numbers in microbial cells are variable (Fogel et al., 1999; Warner, 1999) and change based on environmental conditions (Klappenbach et al., 2000; Anderson and Cairney, 2004). Therefore, SSU rRNA gene copy number was normalized in experimental results using the average copy number for archaea (1.07 copies/cell) and bacteria (4.08 copies/cell) as reported by the Ribosomal RNA Operon Copy Number Database (Klappenbach et al., 2001) in March, 2010. A
conservative normalization of fungal copy number was made by standardizing results using the average rRNA gene operon copy number (169 copies/cell) for the chytrid *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* (Lefèvre *et al.*, 2010), as chytrids are known members of the CSPC microbial consortia (B. Zorn, unpublished data).

Fluorescence direct counts

Fluorescence direct counts were performed on samples from Mn Falls and Mud Trap Falls (CSPC) to confirm the validity of real-time quantitative PCR results (Fig. S2). Cave biofilm samples were collected for fluorescence direct counts in Fall 2009. Upon receipt in the lab, 0.1 g (wet weight) of biofilm material was mixed 1:10 w/v with 0.1% (final concentration) sodium pyrophosphate ($Na_4P_2O_7$.10 H₂O) and vortexed for ten minutes to disrupt cell clumps and homogenize the material. Samples were fixed in a 4% paraformaldehyde solution and stored at 4°C overnight. The following morning, samples were resuspended by vortexing, and a 5 µL sample was then applied to a slide and evenly spread over 484 mm² surface area. Samples were stained with 1 µg/mL (final concentration) DAPI (4,6-diamino-2-phenylindole), and Citiflour Antifadent Mounting Medium AF1 (Electron Microscopy Sciences, Hatfield, PA) was applied to prevent bleaching of the DAPI fluorescent signal. Fluorescence direct counts were conducted at 100X magnification on an Olympus Bx51 fluorescence microscope. Fields of view were randomly selected and counted until a minimum of 300 cells/sample were visualized and recorded.

DNA extraction, cloning, sequencing, and phylogenetic analysis

DNA was extracted from cave samples using a bead beating protocol with the Fast DNA Spin Kit for Soil (MP Biomedicals, Solon, OH). The concentration of extracted DNA was determined using a NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies, Wilmington, DE). Extracted DNA was used to create a total of four clone libraries. For bacteria, one library each was created from DNA extracted from light and dark material at the Mn Falls site. For archaea, one library was created from DNA extracted from each cave biofilm (Mn Falls and Mud Trap Falls). PCR amplification of bacterial and archaeal SSU

rRNA gene sequences was conducted using the primer 27F 5'AGAGTTTGATCMTGGCTCAG (Lane, 1991) combined with a modified version of 1492R primer 5'RGYTACCTTGTTACGACTT (for bacteria) (Emerson and Moyer, 2002) and the 109F 5'ACKGCTCAGTAACACGT and 912R

5'CTCCCCGCCAATTCCTTTA primer pair for archaea (Lueders and Friedrich, 2000). PCR amplifications were conducted in triplicate, and amplified PCR products were pooled before purification using either the Montage® PCR Purification Kit (Millipore, Billerica, MA) or the QIAquick PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). PCR products were cloned into TOPO TA pcr®2.1 vectors (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA), and plasmid DNA extracted from transformants using the QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) was screened by sequencing using the M13F(-20) primer. 96 well plates of glycerol stocks were prepared for each sample site using each primer set and sequenced using M13F(-20) and M13R(-27) primers. Sequencing was conducted at Beckman-Coulter Genomics (Danvers, MA). Chimeric sequences were eliminated from analysis prior to consensus sequence construction. Sequences from both libraries were pooled (creating a ca. 180 sequence bacterial library and 65 sequence archaeal library) for DOTUR analysis in order to make OTU determinations (Schloss and Handelsman, 2005). Representative sequences for each OTU for archaea, or each dominant OTU (as defined by two or more sequence representatives) for bacteria were chosen based on sequence length and quality. For the bacterial dominant OTUs, additional sequencing of transformant plasmid DNA was conducted using primers 357F 5'CCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG, 926R 5'CCGYCWATTCMTTTRGTTT, and 1098R 5'GGGTYKCGCTCGTTGC to obtain a full-length SSU rRNA gene sequence. Contigs were assembled using Sequencer sequence analysis software (Gene Codes Corporation, Ann Arbor, MI). For phylogenetic analysis, additional sequences of interest were selected using ARB (Ludwig et al., 2004) and the NCBI taxonomic database (Johnson et al., 2008). OTU and additional sequences of interest were aligned using the on-line SILVA aligner (Pruesse et al., 2007). Phylogenetic trees (Fig. 3-6 and Fig. S3) were constructed using the PHYLIP software package (Felsenstein, 2004) by conducting both neighbourjoining and maximum likelihood analysis. Clone sequences were deposited in GenBank under the accession numbers JN820160-JN820219.

Isolation of Mn(II)-oxidizing cave microorganisms on agar media

Mn oxide rich samples from ferromanganese biofilms, micronodules, and coatings on rock walls and speleothems were collected in an attempt to cultivate Mn(II)-oxidizing cave microorganisms. Samples were transported to the lab on ice and immediately plated on a variety of media designed to target the phylogenetically diverse array of Mn-oxidizers. Some plates were incubated under full oxygen conditions, while others were incubated microaerophilically, with the recognition that oxygen limited environments constitute important niches in cave systems (Portillo and Gonzalez, 2009). More than ten media types were utilized over the course of the study. A modified version of AY media (Santelli et al., 2011) was created by supplementing the media post-autoclaving with 100 µM MnCl₂. A modified version of Burk's nitrogen-free medium (Mohandas, 1988) was created to target putative nitrogen-fixing, Mn(II)-oxidizing microorganisms by substituting an equimolar concentration of succinic acid, disodium salt for sucrose as a carbon source and amending the media (post-autoclaving) with 100 µM MnCl₂ and 3.7 mM FeCl₃. A novel media, Nitrate Mineral Salts (NMS), was designed for this study by T. Craig to target methylotrophic Mn(II)-oxidizers. NMS contains (in g L⁻¹)1 MgSO₄•7H₂O, 0.14 CaCl₂•2H₂O, 1 KNO₃, 0.27 KH₂PO₄, 0.3 NaH₂PO₄, 1 mL trace element solution (containing in mg L⁻¹ 1000 EDTA, 400 FeSO₄•7H₂O, 250 CuSO₄•5H₂0, 20 ZnSO₄•7H₂0, 6 MnCl₂•4H₂0, 60 H₃BO₃, 40 CoCl₂•6H₂0, 2CaCl₂•2H₂0, 4 NiCl₂•6H₂0, 6 Na₂Mo₄•2H₂0). pH of the media was adjusted ca. 7.1-7.2 before autoclaving, and 15 g agar was added for plates. NMS media was supplemented post-autoclaving with sterile 0.02 M Hepes buffer pH 7.2, 5 µM ferrous ammonium citrate, 0.2% v/v vitamin solution for J medium (Tebo et al., 2007), and 100 μ M MnCl₂. For agar plates, a 0.05% v/v methanol was added as a carbon source; a 50:50 CH₄(g):air mix was used as the sole carbon source for liquid media. A new medium, FMO2, was designed for this study by S.L. Bräuer and contains (in g L⁻¹) 10 mL Major Metals 1 solution (containing in g L⁻¹ 12NaCl, 1.2 KCl, 5 MgCl₂•6H20, 1 KH₂PO₄, 2 NH₄Cl, 1 CaCl₂•2H₂0), 1 mL 1000X Trace Metal 1 Solution with NTA (containing in g L⁻¹ 0.15 CoCl₂•6H₂0, 0.15 ZnCl₂, 0.05 H₃BO₃, 0.02 NiCl₂•6H₂0, 0.01 Na2M04•2H20, 0.4 FeCl2•4H20, 0.1 MnSO4•4H20, 3 MgSO4•7H20, 0.1 CaCl2•2H20, 0.01 CuSO4•5H20,

0.18 AlK(SO₄)₂•12H₂0, 1.5 NTA), and 0.05 yeast extract. pH of the media was adjusted to ca. 7.0-7.2 before autoclaving, and either 15 g agar or Gelrite gellan gum (as suggested by Hara *et al.*, 2009) was added for plates. The media was supplemented post-autoclaving with sterile 0.02 M Hepes buffer pH 7.2, 5 μ M ferrous ammonium citrate, 0.2% v/v vitamin solution for J medium (Tebo *et al.*, 2007), 100 μ M MnCl₂, and either 10% 2M arabinose, 10% 2M succinate, or 10% casamino acids as a carbon source. Plates were inoculated by spreading 80 μ L of a 1% v/v Mn oxide rich sample in 0.02M Hepes buffer pH 7.2 on agar-solidified media. All cultures were incubated in the dark at 10°C to mimic environmental conditions within caves. Mn(II)-oxidation was confirmed in isolates by LBB testing; LBB-positive isolates were re-streaked for isolation a minimum of three times on the equivalent growth medium.

Isolation of Mn(II)-oxidizing cave microorganisms from serial dilutions

Serial dilutions to extinction were inoculated in Cellstar 96 well culture plates (greiner bio-one, Monroe, NC) using three different media types: FMO2 media with either 10% 2M arabinose, 10% 2M succinate, or 10% casamino acids as a carbon source. Inocula from the most dilute sample that grew and produced dark brown/black precipitates was transferred to the equivalent agar-solidified growth medium and were re-streaked for isolation a minimum of three times. Mn-oxidation was confirmed in isolates by LBB testing. All cultures were incubated in the dark at 10°C, mimicking environmental conditions within caves.

Identification of the isolates

Once a colony was isolated, a colony PCR reaction was used to screen the microorganism for phylogenetic placement using the universal bacterial primer 357F 5'CCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG. Isolates of interest were cloned using TOPO TA *pcr*®2.1 vectors (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA), and plasmid DNA containing the SSU rRNA gene sequence was sequenced using M13F(-20), M13R(-27), 357F 5'CCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG, 926R 5'CCGYCWATTCMTTTRAGTTT, and 1098R 5'GGGTYKCGCTCGTTGC primers to obtain a full-length SSU rRNA gene sequence for phylogenetic placement as described above. Contigs were assembled using Sequencher sequence analysis software (Gene Codes Corporation, Ann Arbor, MI). Isolate sequences were deposited in GenBank under the accession numbers JN820147-JN820159.

TEM microscopy and elemental analysis

Several Mn-oxidizing bacterial cultures were examined using a JEOL JEM-1400 transmission electron microscope (TEM) equipped with an Oxford INCA energy dispersive X-ray detector (EDS) to confirm the presence of Mn oxides associated with microbial cells. Samples were mounted on Fornvar Carbon Type-B, 200 mesh Cu TEM grids (Ted Pella, Redding, CA) by diluting liquid cultures 1:5 using sterile deionized water and applying 5 μ L dilution to each grid. TEM grids were allowed to air dry in a laminar flow cabinet. This process was repeated a total of three times, with a total volume of 15 μ L of diluted culture applied to each grid, and then carbon coated. Samples were initially imaged using transmission electron microscopy and spot analyzed with EDS to confirm the presence of Mn deposits. Several samples were selected for elemental mapping via scanning transmission electron microscopy (STEM) to confirm the locations of Mn within the sample (Fig. 7). In all cases, EDS analysis (data not shown) demonstrated the presence of concentrated Mn deposits associated with microbial cells.

Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank Dr. Clara Chan for assistance with electron microscopy and sample preparation, Dr. Guichuan Hou for assistance with light, confocal, and transmission electron microscopy, and Dr. John Walker for assistance with fluorescence microscopy and development of fungal qPCR protocol. I thank Dr. Yongli Gao, Taylor Burnham, Seth Hewitt, John Rossi, Milton Starnes, Robbie Winters, and John Matthews for providing field expertise and scouting locations of cave ferromanganese deposits, and to the landowners of the caves for site access. I am appreciative of assistance from Dr. Carol Babyak, Dr. Shea Tuberty, Daniel Jackson, and Yosuke Sakamachi in preparing samples and in

conducting ICP-OES analyses. I am deeply grateful for the assistance of Dr. Trevor Craig, Zach Anderson, Jared Butler, Kornelia Galior, Ashley Hawkins, Daniel Parker, Leigh Anne Roble, Marlie Shelton, and Bryan Zorn in culture maintenance, field assistance, and procedural development. Partial support was provided through a National Science Foundation grant 0935270, two North Carolina Space Grant New Investigators Program Awards to S. Carmichael and to S. Bräuer, and through a North Carolina Space Grant Graduate Research Fellowship awarded to M.J. Carmichael. Support was also provided by Appalachian State University.

Figures and Tables



Fig. 1. Maps of the primary study sites: Carter Salt Peter Cave, Rockhouse Cave, and Worley's Cave. Daniel Boone Caverns has not yet been surveyed at the time of this writing. Sampling locations are labeled with arrows. Regional map inset shows the relative location of all four cave systems that are included in this study. Carter Salt Peter Cave survey conducted on February 8, 1981 by L. Adams, R. Knight, R. Page, and T. Wilson. Rockhouse Cave survey conducted on May 6, 1980 by L. Adams, T. Gingrich, and D. Nelms. Worley's Cave survey conducted from December 22, 1971 - August 8, 1973 by M. Adams, T. Anderson, C. Booth, R. Bowery, J. Cox, T. Harrison, D. Mire, A. Powers, D. Powers, and J. Powers. All cave maps adapted by S.K. Carmichael.

Mn Fe Mn:Fe Substrate Sample Site (ppm) (ppm) Concentration Geochemistry Quartz, Illite, Trace 266.8 1.07 Ribbon Rock (W) 284.6 Dolomite Quartz, Orthoclase, River Bank (W) 123.2 275.7 0.45 Illite, Trace Dolomite Weathered Ribbon Quartz, Orthoclase, 125.4 323.8 0.39 Rock (W) Illite Quartz, Trace Calcite, Mn Chamber (W) 77.4 342.6 0.22 Minor Orthoclase Dinosaur Cove 22.3 124.8 0.18 Calcite Popcorn (CSPC) Dinosaur Cove Mud 205.3 343.8 0.59 Nontronite (CSPC) Watermark (CSPC) 0.06 Nontronite 14.3 254.7 Mn Falls (CSPC) 327.5 361.4 0.91 Nontronite Dinosaur Cove 10.9 50.1 0.22 Calcite (CSPC)

Table 1. Biogeochemical analyses of ferromanganese deposits located in cave systems within the upper Tennessee River Basin. Mn:Fe concentrations at sample sites were determined by ICP-OES analysis and are reported as an average. Substrate geochemistry was determined by X-ray diffraction. Location of sample site is abbreviated below as follows: Worley's Cave (W), and Carter Salt Peter Cave (CSPC).







Fig. 3. Neighbour-joining tree based on Crenarchaeal SSU rRNA gene sequences obtained from biofilms found in Carter Salt Peter Cave, Carter County, TN in this study. The number of sequences from each library, Mn Falls (MNF) and Mud Trap Falls (MTF), that are represented by a particular OTU is given in parentheses following the NCBI accession number. Alignments were created using the on-line SILVA aligner. Dendogram was created using PHYLIP. Bootstrapping values are shown for nodes that were supported >50% of the time and with maximum-likelihood analysis (data not shown). *Aquifex pyrophilus* and *Thermotoga maritima* were used as outgroups. Branch lengths indicate the expected number of changes per sequence position.



Fig. 4. Neighbour-joining tree based on Euryarchaeal SSU rRNA gene sequences obtained from biofilms found in Carter Salt Peter Cave, Carter County, TN in this study. The number of sequences from each library, Mn Falls (MNF) and Mud Trap Falls (MTF), that are represented by a particular OTU is given in parentheses following the NCBI accession number. Alignments were created using the on-line SILVA aligner. Dendogram was created using PHYLIP. Bootstrapping values are shown for nodes that were supported >50% of the time and with maximum-likelihood analysis (data not shown). *Aquifex pyrophilus* and *Thermotoga maritima* were used as outgroups. Branch lengths indicate the expected number of changes per sequence position.



Fig. 5. Neighbour-joining tree inferring the phylogenetic relationship between *cultured strains** (asterisks) and those found in *clone libraries* in Carter Salt Peter Cave, Carter County, TN in this study. Isolates that oxidize Mn continually are indicated by a +; isolates that oxidize Mn intermittently are indicated by a +/-. Putative Nitrogen-fixing, Mn(II)-oxidizers are indicated by a N; putative methylotrophic Mn(II)-oxidizers are indicated by a **M**. Source of isolation is noted immediately before accession number. The number of sequences from the library that represented a particular OTU is given in parentheses following the NCBI accession number. Alignments were created using the on-line SILVA aligner. Dendogram was created using PHYLIP. Bootstrapping values are shown for nodes that were supported >50% of the time and with maximum-likelihood analysis (data not shown). *Aquifex pyrophilus* and *Thermotoga maritima* were used as outgroups. Branch lengths indicated the expected number of changes per sequence position (see scale bar).



Fig. 6. Neighbour-joining tree inferring the phylogenetic relationship between*cultured strains** (asterisks) and those found in *clone libraries* in Carter Salt Peter Cave, Carter County, TN in this study. Isolates that oxidize Mn(II) continually are indicated by a +; isolates that oxidize Mn(II) intermittently are indicated by a +/-. Source of isolation is noted immediately before accession number. The number of sequences from the library that represented a particular OTU is given in parentheses following the NCBI accession number. Alignments were created using the on-line SILVA aligner. Dendogram was created using PHYLIP. Bootstrapping values are shown for nodes that were supported >50% of the time and with maximum-likelihood analysis (data not shown). *Aquifex pyrophilus* and *Thermotoga maritima* were used as outgroups. Branch lengths indicate the expected number of changes per sequence position (see scale bar).



Fig. 7. TEM microscopy of the sheath-forming isolate *Leptothrix* sp. G6 and *Janthinobacterium* sp. A6, a genus not previously recognized to contain members capable of Mn(II)-oxidation. TEM micrographs (scale bars represent 1 μ m) demonstrate the presence of electron-dense Mn deposits associated with bacterial cells. STEM P and Mn elemental maps (scale bars represent 800 nm) reveal the location of phosphorous and manganese within bacterial cells. Image Credit: S.K. Carmichael.

References

- Adams, L.F., and Ghiorse, W.C. (1987) Characterization of an extracellular Mn²⁺-oxidizing activity and isolation of Mn²⁺-oxidizing protein from *Leptothrix discophora* SS-1. *J Bacteriol* **169**: 1279-1285.
- Allouc, J., and Harmelin, J.G. (2001) Mn-Fe deposits in shallow cryptic marine environment: examples in northwestern Mediterranean submarine caves. *Bull Soc Geol France* **172**: 765-778.
- Amann, R.I., Ludwig, W., and Schleifer, K.-H. (1995) Phylogenetic identification and in situ detection of individual microbial cells without cultivation. *Microbiol Rev* **59**: 143-169.
- Anderson, C.R., Johnson, H.A., Caputo, N., Davis, R.E., Torpey, J.W., and Tebo, B.M. (2009) Mn(II) oxidation is catalyzed by Heme Peroxidases in "*Aurantimonas manganoxydans*" Strain SI85-9A1 and *Erythrobacter* sp. Strain SD-21. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **75**: 4130-4138.
- Anderson, I.C., and Cairney, J.W.G. (2004) Diversity and ecology of soil fungal communities: increased understanding through the application of molecular techniques. *Environ Microbiol* **6**: 769-779.
- Angert, E.R., Northup, D.E., Reysenbach, A-L., Peek, A.S., Goebel, B.M., and Pace, N.R. (1998) Molecular phylogenetic analysis of a bacterial community in Sulphur River, Parker Cave, Kentucky. *Am Mineral* 83: 1583-1592.
- Archibald, F.S., and Fridovich, I. (1981) Manganese and defenses against oxygen toxicity in Lactobacillus plantarum. J Bacteriol 145: 442-451.
- Barton, H.A., and Luiszer, F. (2005) Microbial metabolic structure in a sulfidic cave hot spring: potential mechanisms of biospeleogenesis. *J Cave Karst Stud* **67**: 28-38.
- Barton, H.A., and Jurado, V. (2007) What's up down there? Microbial diversity in caves. *Microbe* **2**: 132-138.
- Barton, H.A., and Northup, D.E. (2007) Geomicrobiology in cave environments: past, current and future perspectives. *J Cave Karst Stud* **69**: 163-178.
- Barton, H.A., Taylor, M.R., and Pace, N.R. (2004) Molecular phylogenetic analysis of a bacterial community in an oligotrophic cave environment. *Geomicrobiol J* **21**: 11-20.
- Barton, H.A., Taylor, N.M., Lubbers, B.R., and Pemberton, A.C. (2006) DNA extraction from lowbiomass carbonate rock: an improved method with reduced contamination and the low-biomass contaminant database. *J Microbiol Methods* **66**: 21-31.
- Barton, H.A., Taylor, N.M., Kreate, M.P., Springer, A.C., Oehrle, S.A., and Bertog, J.L. (2007) The impact of host rock geochemistry on bacterial community structure in oligotrophic cave environments. *Int J Speleol* **36**: 93-104.
- Bastian, F., Alabouvette, C., and Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2009) The impact of arthropods on fungal community structure in Lascaux Cave. *J Appl Microbiol* **106**: 1456-1462.
- Boogerd, F.C., and de Vrind, J.P.M. (1987) Manganese oxidation by *Leptothrix discophora*. *J Bacteriol* **169**: 489-494.

- Borodina, E., Kelly, D.P., Rainey, F.A., Ward-Rainey, N.L., and Wood, A.P. (2000) Dimethylsulfone as a growth substrate for novel methylotrophic species of *Hyphomicrobium* and *Arthrobacter*. *Arch Microbiology* **173**: 425-437.
- Borodina, E., Kelly, D.P., Schumann, P., Rainey, F.A., Ward-Rainey, N.L., and Wood, A.P. (2002) Enzymes of dimethylsulfone metabolism and the phylogenetic characterization of the facultative methylotrophs *Arthrobacter sulfonivorans* sp. nov., *Arthrobacter methylotrophus* sp. nov., and *Hyphomicrobium sulfonivorans* sp. nov. *Arch Microbiology* **177**: 173-183.
- Boston, P.J., Hose, L.D., Northup, D.E., and Spilde, M.N. (2006) The microbial communities of sulfur caves: a newly appreciated geologically driven system on Earth and potential model for Mars. In *Perspectives on Karst Geomorphology, Hydrology, and Geochemistry*. Harmon, R.S., and Wicks, C.M. (eds). Boulder, Colorado: Geological Society of America, pp. 331-344.
- Cadillo-Quiroz, H., Bräuer, S., Yashiro, E., Sun, C., Yavitt, J., and Zinder, S. (2006) Vertical profiles of methanogenesis and methanogens in two contrasting acidic peatlands in central New York State, USA. *Environ Microbiol* 8: 1428-1440.
- Cahyani, V.R., Murase, J., Ishibashi, E., Asakawa, S., and Kimura, M. (2009) Phylogenetic positions of Mn²⁺-oxidizing bacteria and fungi isolated from Mn nodules in rice field subsoils. *Biol Fertil Soil* 45: 337-346.
- Campbell, J.W., Watson, A., Watson, C., Ball, H., and Pirkle, R. (2011) *Escherichia coli*, other coliform, and environmental chemoheterotrophic bacteria in isolated water pools from six caves in northern Alabama and northwestern Georgia. *J Cave Karst Stud* **73**: 75-82.
- Cañaveras, J.C., Cuezva, S., Sanchez-Moral, S., Lario, J., Laiz, L., Gonzalez, J.M., and Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2006) On the origin of fiber calcite crystals in moonmilk deposits. *Naturwissenschaften* **93**: 27-32.
- Chaban, B., Ng, S.Y.M., and Jarrell, K.F. (2006) Archaeal habitats-from the extreme to the ordinary. *Can J Microbiol* **52**: 73-116.
- Chelius, M.K., and Moore, J.C. (2004) Molecular phylogenetic analysis of *Archaea* and *Bacteria* in Wind Cave, South Dakota. *Geomicrobiol J* **21**: 123-134.
- Chen, Y., Wu, L., Boden, R., Hillebrand, A., Kumaresan, D., Moussard, H., *et al.* (2009) Life without light: Microbial diversity and evidence of sulfur- and ammonium-based chemolithotrophy in Movile Cave. *ISME J* 3: 1093-1104.
- Christman, M.C., and Culver, D.C. (2001) The relationship between cave biodiversity and available habitat. *J Biogeogr* 28: 367-380.
- Coates, J.D., Ellis, D.J., Gaw, C.V., and Lovely, D.R. (1999) *Geothrix fermentans* gen. nov., sp. nov., a novel Fe(III)-reducing bacterium from a hydrocarbon-contaminated aquifer. *Int J Syst Bacteriol* **49**: 1615-1622.
- Cunningham, K.I., Northup, D.E., Pollastro, R.M., Wright, W.G., and Larock, E.J. (1995) Bacteria, fungi and biokarst in Lechuguilla Cave, Carlsbad-Caverns-National-Park, New-Mexico. *Environ Geol* **25**: 2-8.

Curtis, T.P., and Sloan, W.T. (2005) Exploring microbial diversity-a vast below. Science 309: 1331-1333.

- Daly, M.J., Gaidamakova, E., Matrosova, V., Vasilenko, A., Zhai, M., Venkateswaran, A., et al. (2004) Accumulation of Mn(II) in *Deinococcus radiodurans* facilitates gamma-radiation resistance. *Science* 306: 1025-1028.
- de los Ríos, A., Bustillo, M., Ascaso, C., and Carvalho, M.R. (2011) Bioconstructions in ocherous speleothems from lave tubes on Terceira Island (Azores). *Sediment Geol* **236**: 117-128.
- DeLong, E.F. (1992) Archea in coastal marine environments. Proc Natl Acad Sci 89: 5685-5689.
- Dick, G.J., Lee, Y.E., and Tebo, B.M. (2006) Manganese(II)-oxidizing *Bacillus* spores in Guaymas Basin hydrothermal sediments and plumes. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **72**: 3184-3190.
- Dixon, J.B., and Skinner, H.C.W. (1992) Manganese minerals in surface environments. In *Biomineralization Processes of Iron and Manganese*. Skinner, H.C.W., and Fitzpatrick, R.W. (eds). Cremlingen, Germany: Catena Verlag, pp. 31-59.
- Duckworth, O., Homstrom, S., Pena, J., Zacharias, E., and Sposito, G. (2007) Biogeochemistry of iron oxidation in a circumneutral freshwater habitat. In *American Geophysical Union Fall Meeting*. San Francisco, California: abstract #B22D-07.
- Dupont, J., Jacquet, C., Dennetière, B., Lacoste, S., Bousta, F., Orial, G. *et al.* (2007) Invasion of the French Paleolithic painted cave of Lascaux by members of the *Fusarium solani* species complex. *Mycol Helv* 99: 526-533.
- Edwards, K.J., Bach, W., and McCollum, T.M. (2004) Neutrophilic iron-oxidizing bacteria in the ocean: their habitats, diversity, and roles in mineral deposition, rock alteration, and biomass production in the deep sea. *Geomicrobiol J* **21**: 393-404.
- Einen, J., Thorseth, I.H., and Øvreås, L. (2008) Enumeration of *Archaea* and *Bacteria* in seafloor basalt using real-time quantitative PCR and fluorsecence microscopy. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **282**: 182-187.
- Emerson, D., and Ghiorse, W.C. (1992) Isolation, cultural maintenance, and taxonomy of a sheathforming strain of *Leptothrix discophora* and characterization of manganese-oxidizing activity associated with the sheath. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **58**: 4001-4010.
- Emerson, D., and Moyer, C.L. (2002) Neutrophilic Fe-oxidizing bacteria are abundant at the Loihi Seamount hydrothermal vents and play a major role in Fe oxide deposition. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **68**: 3085-3093.
- Engel, A.S., Stern, L.A., and Bennett, P.C. (2004a) Microbial contributions to cave formation: new insights into sulfuric acid speleogenesis. *Geology* **32**: 369-372.
- Engel, A.S., Porter, M.L., Kinkle, B.K., and Kane, T.C. (2001) Ecological assessment and geological significance of microbial communities from Cesspool Cave, Virginia. *Geomicrobiol J* 18: 259-274.

- Engel, A.S., Porter, M.L., Stern, L.A., Quinlan, S., and Bennett, P.C. (2004b) Bacterial diversity and ecosystem function of filamentous microbial mats from aphotic (cave) sulfidic springs dominated by chemolithoautotrophic "*Epsilonproteobacteria*". *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **51**: 31-53.
- Engel, A.S., Meisinger, D.B., Porter, M.L., Payn, R.A., Schmid, M., Stern, L.A., *et al.* (2010) Linking phylogenetic and functional diversity to nutrient spiraling in microbial mats from Lower Kane Cave (USA). *ISME J* **4**: 98-110.
- Felsenstein, J. (2004) PHYLIP (Phylogeny Inference Package) version 3.68. Distributed by the author Department of Genome Sciences, University of Washington, Seattle.
- Fendorf, S.E., and Zasoski, R.J. (1992) Chromium(III) oxidation by δ-MnO₂. *Environ Sci Technol* **26**: 79-85.
- Fierer, N., and Lennon, J.T. (2011) The generation and maintenance of diversity in microbial communities. *Am J Bot* **98**: 439-448.
- Fierer, N., Jackson, J.A., Vilgalys, R., and Jackson, R.B. (2005) Assessment of soil microbial community structure by use of taxon-specific quantitative PCR assays. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **71**: 4117-4120.
- Florea, L.J., Noe-Stinson, C.L., Brewer, J., Fowler, R., Kearns, J.B., and Greco, A.M. (2011) Iron oxide and calcite associated with *Leptothrix* sp. biofilms within an estavelle in the upper Floridan aquifer. *Int J Speleol* **40**: 205-219.
- Fogel, G.B., Collins, C.R., Li, J., and Brunk, C.F. (1999) Prokaryotic genome size and SSU rDNA copy number: estimation of microbial relative abundance form a mixed population. *Microb Ecol* 38: 93-113.
- Fomina, M.A., Alexander, I.J., Colpaert, J.V., and Gadd, G.M. (2005) Solubilization of toxic metal minerals and metal tolerance of mycorrhizal fungi. *Soil Biol Biochem* **37**: 851-866.
- Ford, T., and Mitchell, R. (1990) The ecology of microbial corrosion. Adv Microb Ecol 11: 231-262.
- Francis, C.A., and Tebo, B.M. (2002) Enzymatic manganese(II) oxidation by metabolically-dormant spores of diverse *Bacillus* species. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **68**: 874-880.
- Frierdich, A.J., Hasenmueller, E.A., and Catalano, J.G. (2011) Composition and structure of nanocrystalline Fe and Mn oxide cave deposits: Implications for trace element mobility in karst systems. *Chem Geol* 284: 82–96.
- Gao, Y., Gibson, N., Burnham, T., and Evanshen, B. (2006a) Water chemistry and quality changes in the Rockhouse Cave System, Carter County, Tennessee. In Sixteenth Tennessee Water Resources Symposium. Montgomery Bell State Park, Burns, Tennessee.
- Gao, Y., Benfield, R., Jones, S., Burnham, T., and Gibson, N. (2006b) Groundwater tracing in the Rockhouse Cave System, Carter County, Tennessee. In *Sixteenth Tennessee Water Resources Symposium*. Montgomery Bell State Park, Burns, Tennessee.

- Gázquez, F., Calaforra, J.-M., Rull, F., Forti, P., and García-Casco, A. (2012) Organic matter of fossil origin in the amberine speleothems from El Soplao Cave (Cantabria, Northern Spain). *Int J Speleol* **41**: 113-123.
- Gebers, R., and Hirsch, P. (1978) Isolation and investigation of *Pedomicrobium* spp., heavy metaldepositing bacteria from soil habitats. In *Envrionmental Biogeochemistry and Geomicrobiology Volume 3: Methods, Metals, and Assessment.* Krumbein, W. (ed). Ann Arbor, MI: Ann Arbor Science Publishers Inc., pp. 911-922.
- Geszvain, K., and Tebo, B.M. (2010) Identification of a two-component regulatory pathway essential for Mn(II) oxidation in *Pseudomonas putida* GB-1. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **76**: 1224-1231.
- Ghiorse, W.C., and Ehrlich, H.L. (1992) Microbial biomineralization of iron and manganese. In Biomineralization Processes of Iron and Manganese: Modern and Ancient Environments.
 Skinner, H.C.W., and Fitzpatrick, R.W. (eds). Cremlingen-Destedt: Catena Verlag, pp. 75-99.
- Ghosal, D., Omelchenko, M.V., Gaidamakova, E.K., Matrosova, V.Y., Vasilenko, A., Venkateswaran, A. et al. (2005) How radiation kills cells: survival of *Deinococcus radiodurans* and *Shewanella oneidensis* under oxidative stress. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* 29: 361-375.
- Goldscheider, N., Hunkeler, D., and Rossi, P. (2006) Review: microbial biocenoses in pristine aquifers and an assessment of investigative methods. *Hydrogeol J* 14: 926-941.
- Gonzalez, J.M., Portillo, M.C., and Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2006) Metabolically active Crenarchaeota in Altamira Cave. *Naturwissenschaften* **93**: 42-45.
- Gradziński, M., Banaś, M., and Uchman, A. (1995) Biogenic origin of manganese flowstones from Jaskinia Czarna Cave, Tatra Mts., Western Carpathians. *Ann Soc Geol Pol* **65**: 19-27.
- Grote, G., and Krumbein, W.E. (1992) Microbial precipitation of manganese by bacteria and fungi from desert rock and rock varnish. *Geomicrobiol J* **10**: 49-57.
- Grünke, S., Felden, J., Lichtschlag, A., Girnth, A.-C., De Beer, D., Wenzhöfer, F., and Boetius, A. (2011) Niche differentiation among mat-forming, sulfide-oxidizing bacteria at cold seeps of the Nile Deep Sea Fan (Eastern Mediterranean Sea). *Geobiol* 9: 330-348.
- Hara, S., Hashidoko, Y.H., Desyatkin, R.V., Hatano, R., and Tahara, S. (2009) High rate of N₂ fixation by East Siberian Cryophilic soil bacteria as determined by measuring acetylene reduction in Nitrogen-poor medium solidified with Gellan Gum. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **75**: 2811-2819.
- Hill, C., and Forti, P. (1997) Cave Minerals of the World: National Speleological Society.
- Hill, C.A. (1982) Origin of black deposits in caves. NSS Bulletin 44: 15-19.
- Horner-Devine, M.C., Silver, J.M., Leibold, M.A., Bohannan, B.J.M., Colwell, R.K., Fuhrman, J.A. *et al.* (2007) A comparison of taxon co-occurence patterns for macro- and microorganisms. *Ecology* 88: 1345-1353.
- Hou, Y., Zhang, H., Miranda, L., and Lin, S. (2010) Serious overestimiton in quantitative PCR by circular (supercoiled) plasmid standard: microalgal *pcna* as the model gene. *PLoS One* **5**: e9545.

- Huber, J.A., Welch, D.B.M., Morrison, H.G., Huse, S.M., Neal, P.R., Butterfield, D.A., and Sogin, M.L. (2007) Microbial population structures in the deep marine biosphere. *Science* **318**: 97-100.
- Hunter, A.J., Northup, D.E., Dahm, C.N., and Boston, P.J. (2004) Persistent coliform contamination in Lechuguilla cave pools. *J Cave Karst Stud* **66**: 102-110.
- Ikner, L.A., Toomey, R.S., Nolan, G., Neilson, J.W., Pryor, B.M., and Maier, R.M. (2007) Culturable microbial diversity and the impact of tourism in Kartchner Caverns, Arizona. *Microb Ecol* 53: 30-42.
- Johnson, K., Carmichael, M.J., McDonald, W., Rose, N., Windelspecht, M., Pitchford, J. et al. (2012) Increased abundace of *Gallionella* spp., *Leptothrix* spp. and total bacteria in response to enhanced Mn and Fe concentrations in a disturbed southern Appalachian high elevation wetland. *Geomicrobiol J* 29: 124-138.
- Johnson, M., Zaretskaya, I., Raytselis, Y., Merezhuk, Y., McGinnis, S., and Madden, T.L. (2008) NCBI BLAST: a better web interface. *Nucleic Acids Res* **36**: W5-W9.
- Jones, B. (2001) Microbial activity in caves A geological perspective. Geomicrobiol J 18: 345-357.
- Jones, D.S., Albrecht, H.L., Dawson, K.S., Schaperdoth, I., Freeman, K.H., Pi, Y., et al. (2011) Community genomic analysis of an extremely acidophilic sulfur-oxidizing biofilm. ISME J: doi:10.1038/ismej.2011.75.
- Kay, J., Conklin, M., Fuller, C., and O'Day, P. (2001) Processes of nickel and cobalt uptake by a manganese oxide forming sediment in Pinal Creek, Globe Mining District, Arizona. *Environ Sci Technol* 35: 4719-4625.
- Klappenbach, J.A., Dunbar, J.M., and Schmidt, T.M. (2000) rRNA operon copy number reflects ecological strategies of bacteria. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **66**: 1328-1333.
- Klappenbach, J.A., Saxman, P.R., Cole, J.R., and Schmidt, T.M. (2001) rrndb: the Ribosomal RNA Operon Copy Number Database. *Nucleic Acids Res* **29**: 181-184.
- Klein, D.A. (2011) Bulk extraction-based microbial ecology: Three critical questions. *Microbe* 6: 377.
- Krumbein, W.E., and Altmann, H.J. (1973) A new method for the detection and enumeration of manganese oxidizing and reducing microorganisms. *Helgölander Wissenschaftlichen Untersuchungen* 25: 347-356.
- Krumbein, W.E., and Jens, K. (1981) Biogenic rock varnishes of the Negev Desert (Israel) an ecological study of iron and manganese transformation by cyanobacteria and fungi. *Oecologia* **50**: 25-38.
- Kuczynski, J., and Knight, R. (2011) Analytic strategies for understanding host-associated microbial communities. *Microbe* **6**: 389-394.
- Kuczynski, J., Liu, Z., Lozupone, C., McDonald, D., Fierer, N., and Knight, R. (2010) Microbial community resemblance methods differ in their ability to detect biologically relevant patterns. *Nat Meth* **7**: 813-819.

- Laiz, L., Groth, I., Schumann, P., Zezza, F., Felske, A., Hermosin, B., and Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2000) Microbiology of the stalactites from Grotta dei Cervi, Porto Badisco, Italy. *International Journal* of Microbiology 3: 25-30.
- Lane, D.J. (1991) 16S and 23S rRNA sequencing. In *Nucleic Acid Techniques in Bacterial Systematics*. Stackebrandt, E., and Goodfellow, M. (eds). New York: John Wiley, pp. 115-148.
- Larsen, E.I., Sly, L.I., and McEwan, A.G. (1999) Manganese(II) adsorption and oxidation by whole cells and a membrane fraction of *Pedomicrobium* sp. ACM 3067. *Arch Microbiol* **171**: 257-264.
- Learman, D.R., Voelker, B.M., Vazquez-Rodriguez, A.I., and Hansel, C.M. (2011a) Formation of manganese oxides by bacterially generated superoxide. *Nat Geosci* **4**: 95-98.
- Learman, D.R., Wankel, S.D., Webb, S.M., Martinez, N., Madden, A.S., and Hansel, C.M. (2011b) Coupled biotic-abiotic Mn(II) oxidation pathway mediates the formation and structural evolution of biogenic Mn oxides. *Geochim Cosmochim Acta* **75**: 6048–6063.
- Lefèvre, E., Jobard, M., Venisse, J.-S., Bec, A., Kagami, M., Amblard, C., and Sime-Ngando (2010) Development of a real-time PCR assay for quantitative assessment of uncultured freshwater zoosporic fungi. *J Microbiol Methods* **81**: 69-76.
- Lennon, J.T., and Jones, S.E. (2011) Microbial seed banks: the ecological and evolutionary implications of dormancy. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **9**: 119-130.
- Link, D.D., Walter, P.J., and Kingston, H.M. (1998) Development and validation of the new EPA microwave-assiste leach method 3051A. *Environ Sci Technol* **32**: 3628-3632
- Llirós, M., Casamayor, E.O., and Borrego, C. (2008) High archaeal richness in the water column of a freshwater sulfurous karstic lake along an interannual study. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **66**: 331-342.
- Ludwig, W., Strunk, O., Westram, R., Richter, L., Yadhukumar, H.M., Buchner, A., *et al.* (2004) ARB: a software environment for sequence data. *Nucleic Acids Res* **32**: 1363-1371.
- Lueders, T., and Friedrich, M. (2000) Archaeal population dynamics during sequential reduction processes in rice field soil. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **66**: 2732-2742.
- Lumsden, D.N., and Caudle, G.C. (2001) Origin of massive dolostone: the upper Knox model. *J Sediment Res* **71**: 400-409.
- Macalady, J.L., Jones, D.S., and Lyon, E.H. (2007) Extremely acidic, pendulous cave wall biofilms from the Frasassi cave system, Italy. *Environ Microbiol* **9**: 1402-1414.
- Macalady, J.L., Dattagupta, S., Schaperdoth, I., Jones, D.S., Druschel, G.K., and Eastman, D. (2008) Niche differentiation among sulfur-oxidizing bacterial populations in cave waters. *ISME J* **2**: 590-601.
- Macalady, J.L., Lyon, E.H., Koffman, B., Albertson, L.K., Meyer, K., Galdenzi, S., and Mariani, S. (2006) Dominant microbial Populations in limestone-corroding stream biofilms, Frasassi cave system, Italy. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 72: 5596-5609.

- Manceau, A., N., Tamura, M.A., MacDowell, M.A., Celestre, R.S., Soblett, R.E., Sposito, G., and Padmore, H.A. (2002) Deciphering Ni sequestration in soil ferromanganese modules by combining X-ray fluorescence, absorption, and diffraction at micrometer scales of resolution. Am Mineral 87: 1494-1499.
- Meisinger, D.B., Zimmermann, J., Ludwig, W., Schleifer, K.H., Wanner, G., Schmid, M., *et al.* (2007) *In situ* detection of novel *Acidobacteria* in microbial mats from a chemolithoautotrophically based cave ecosystem (Lower Kane Cave, WY, USA). *Environ Microbiol* **9**: 1523-1534.
- Melim, L.A., Shinglman, K.M., Boston, P.J., Northup, D.E., Spilde, M.N., and Queen, J.M. (2001) Evidence for microbial involvement in pool finger precipitation, Hidden Cave, New Mexico. *Geomicrobiol J* 18: 311-329.
- Miyata, N., Maruo, K., Tani, Y., Tsuno, H., Seyama, H., Soma, M., and Iwahori, K. (2006) Production of biogenic manganese oxides by anamorphic Ascomycete fungi isolated from streambed pebbles. *Geomicrobiol J* 23: 63-73.
- Mohandas, S. (1988) Nitrogen fixation in tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill 'Pusa Ruby'). *Plant Soil* **107**: 219-225.
- Montañez, I.P. (1994) Late diagenetic dolomitization of the Lower Ordovician, Upper Knox Carbonates: a record of the hydrodynamic evolution of the southern Appalachian Basin. *AAPG Bull* **78**: 1210-1239.
- Moore, G.W. (1981) Manganese deposition in limestone caves. In *Proceedings of the International Congress of Speleology; a Meeting of the International Union of Speleology*, pp. 642-645.
- Nadkarni, M.A., Martin, F.E., Jacques, N.A., and Hunter, N. (2002) Determination of bacterial load by real-time PCR using a broad-range (universal) probe and primers set. *Microbology* **148**: 257-266.
- Nealson, K.H. (1978) The isolation and characterization of marine bacteria which catalyze manganese oxidation. In *Environmental Biogeochemistry and Geomicrobiology Volume 3: Methods, Metals* and Assessment. Krumbein, W.E. (ed). Ann Arbor, MI: Ann Arbor Science Publishers Inc., pp. 847-858.
- Nealson, K.H., Tebo, B.M., and Rosson, R.A. (1988) Occurrence and mechanisms of microbial oxidation of manganese. *Adv Appl Microbiol* **33**: 279-318.
- Nelson, Y.M., Lion, L.W., Ghiorse, W.C., and Shuler, M.L. (1999a) Production of biogenic Mn oxides by *Leptothrix discophora* SS-1 in a chemically defined growth medium and evaluation of their Pb adsorption characteristics. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 65: 175-180.
- Nelson, Y.M., Lion, L.W., Shuler, M.L., and Ghiorse, W.C. (1999b) Lead binding to metal oxide and organic phases of natural aquatic biofilms. *Limnol Oceanogr* **4**: 1715-1729.
- Nitahara, S., Kato, S., Urabe, T., Usui, A., and Yamagishi, A. (2011) Molecular characterization of the microbial community in hydrogenetic ferromanganese crusts of the Takuyo-Daigo Seamount, northwest Pacific. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **321**: 121-129.
- Northup, D.E., and Lavoie, K.H. (2001) Geomicrobiology of caves: a review. *Geomicrobiol J* 18: 199-222.

- Northup, D.E., Reysenbach, A.-L., and Pace, N.R. (1997) Microorganisms and speleothems. In *Cave Minerals of the World*. Hill, C., and Forti, P. (eds): National Speleological Society, pp. 261-266.
- Northup, D.E., Dahm, C.N., Melim, L.A., Spilde, M.N., Crossey, L.J., Lavoie, K.H., *et al.* (2000) Evidence for geomicrobiological interactions in Guadalupe Caves. *J Cave Karst Stud* **62**: 80-90.
- Northup, D.E., Melim, L.A., Spilde, M.N., Hathaway, J.J.M., Garcia, M.G., Moya, M., *et al.* (2011) Lava cave micobial communities within mats and secondary mineral deposits: implications for life detection on other planets. *Astrobiology* **11**: 1-18.
- Northup, D.E., Barns, S.M., Yu, L.E., Spilde, M.N., Schelble, R.T., Dano, K.E., *et al.* (2003) Diverse microbial communities inhabiting ferromanganese deposits in Lechuguilla and Spider Caves. *Environ Microbiol* **5**: 1071-1086.
- Noskin, G.A. (2001) Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* and vancomycin-resistant enterococci: emerging problems and new prospects for management. *Ann Acad Med Singapore* **30**: 320-331.
- Oder, C.R.L. (1934) Preliminary subdivision of the knox dolomite in East Tennessee. J Geol 42: 469-497.
- Onac, B.P., and Forti, P. (2011) State of the art and challenges in cave mineral studies. *Studia UBB Geologia* **56**: 29-38.
- Onac, B.P., Pedersen, R.B., and Tysseland, M. (1997) Presence of rare-earth elements in black ferromanganese coatings from Vântului Cave (Romania). *J Cave Karst Stud* **59**: 128-131.
- Pace, N.R. (1997) A molecular view of microbial diversity and the biosphere. Science 276: 734-740.
- Peck, S.B. (1986) Bacterial deposition of iron and manganese oxides in North American caves. *NSS Bulletin* **48**: 26-30.
- Porter, M.L., Engel, A.S., Kane, T.C., and Kinkle, B.K. (2009) Productivity-diversity relationships from chemolithoautotrophically based sulfidic karst systems. *Int J Speleol* **38**: 27-40.
- Portillo, M.C., and Gonzalez, J.M. (2009) Sulfate-reducing bacteria are common members of bacterial communities in Altamira Cave (Spain). *Sci Total Environ* **407**: 1114-1122.
- Portillo, M.C., Gonzalez, J.M., and Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2008) Metabolically active microbial communities of yellow and grey colonizations on the walls of Altamira Cave, Spain. *J Appl Microbiol* **104**: 681-691.
- Post, J.E. (1999) Manganese oxide minerals: crystal structures and economic and environmental significance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* **96**: 3447-3454.
- Pruesse, E., Quast, C., Knittel, K., Fuchs, B.M., Ludwig, W., Peplies, J., and Glöckner, F. (2007) SILVA: a comprehensive online resource for quality checked and aligned ribosomal RNA sequence data compatible with ARB. *Nucleic Acids Res* **35**: 7188-7196.
- Roble, L.A., Carmichael, S.K., Santelli, C., and Brauer, S.L. (2011) Mn oxide biomineralization by fungi in Southern Appalachian Caves. In *2011 GSA Annual Meeting* Minneapolis, MN.

- Rossi, C., Lozano, R.P., Isanta, N., and Hellstrom, J. (2010) Manganese stromatolites in caves: El Soplao (Cantabria, Spain). *Geology* **38**: 1119-1122.
- Rossmassler, K., Engel, A.S., Twing, K.I., Hanson, T.E., and Campbell, B.J. (2012) Drivers of *Episilonproteobacterial* community composition in sulfidic caves and springs. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **79**: 421–432.
- Santelli, C., Webb, S.M., Dohnalkova, A., and Hansel, C. (2011) Diversity of Mn oxides produced by Mn(II)-oxidizing fungi. *Geochim Cosmochim Acta* **75**: 2762-2776.
- Santelli, C., Pfister, D., Lazarus, D., Sun, L., Burgos, W., and Hansel, C. (2010) Promotion of Mn(II) oxidation and remediation of coal mine drainage in passive treatment systems by diverse fungal and bacterial communities. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **76**: 4871-4875.
- Savant, D.V., Shouche, Y.S., Prakash, S., and Ranade, D.R. (2002) *Methanobrevibacter acididurans* sp. nov., a novel methanogen from a sour anaerobic digester. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* **52**: 1081-1087.
- Schabereiter-Gurtner, C., Saiz-Jimenez, C., Piñar, G., Lubitz, W., and Rölleke, S. (2002a) Phylogenetic 16S rRNA analysis reveals the presence of complex and partly unknown bacterial communities in Tito Bustillo cave, Spain, and on its Palaeolithic paintings. *Environ Microbiol* 4: 392-400.
- Schabereiter-Gurtner, C., Saiz-Jimenez, C., Piñar, G., Lubitz, W., and Rölleke, S. (2002b) Altamira cave Paleolithic paintings harbor partly unknown bacterial communities. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 211: 7-11.
- Schabereiter-Gurtner, C., Saiz-Jimenez, C., Piñar, G., Lubitz, W., and Rölleke, S. (2004) Phylogenetic diversity of bacteria associated with Paleolithic paintings and surrounding rock walls in two Spanish caves (Llonin and La Garma). *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **47**: 235-247.
- Schelble, R.T., McDonald, G.D., Hall, J.A., and Nealson, K.H. (2005) Community structure comparison using FAME analysis of desert varnish and soil, Mojave desert, California. *Geomicrobiol J* 22: 353-360.
- Schloss, P.D., and Handelsman, J. (2005) Introducing DOTUR, a computer program for defining operational taxonomic units and estimating species richness. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 71: 1501-1506.
- Schweisfurth, R., Eleftheriadis, D., Gundlach, H., Jacobs, M., and Jung, W. (1978) Microbiology of the precipitation of manganese. In *Environmental Biogeochemistry and Geomicrobiology Volume 3: Methods, Metals, and Assessment.* Krumbein, W. (ed). Ann Arbor, MI: Ann Arbor Science Publishers Inc., pp. 923-928.
- Shabarova, T., and Pernthaler, J. (2010) Karst pools in subsurface environments: collectors of microbial diversity or temporary residence between habitat types. *Environ Microbiol* **12**: 1061-1074.
- Shapiro, J., and Pringle, A. (2010) Anthropogenic influences on the diversity of fungi isolated from caves in Kentucky and Tennessee. *Am Midl Nat* **163**: 76-86.
- Simon, K.S., and Buikema Jr., A.L. (1997) Effects of organic pollution on an Appalachian cave: Changes in macroinvertebrate populations and food supplies. *Am Midl Nat* **138**: 387-401.

- Simon, K.S., Benfield, E.F., and Macko, S.A. (2003) Food web structure and the role of epilithic biofilms in cave streams. *Ecology* **84**: 2395-2406.
- Skinner, H.C.W., and Fitzpatrick, R.W. (1992) Iron and manganese biomineralization. In *Biomineralization Processes of Iron and Manganese*. Skinner, H.C.W., and Fitzpatrick, R.W. (eds). Cremlingen, Germany: Catena Verlag, pp. 1-6.
- Sogin, M.L., Morrison, H.G., Huber, J.A., Welch, D.M., Huse, S.M., Neal, P.R., *et al.* (2006) Microbial diversity in the deep-sea and the underexplored "rare biosphere". *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 103: 12115-12120.
- Spear, J.R., Barton, H.A., Robertson, C.E., Francis, C.A., and Pace, N.R. (2007) Microbial community biofabrics in a geothermal mine adit. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **73**: 6172-6180.
- Spilde, M.N., Northup, D.E., and Boston, P.J. (2006) Ferromanganese deposits in the caves of the Guadalupe Mountains. In 57th Field Conference, Caves and Karst of Southeastern New Mexico. Land, L., Lueth, V.W., Raatz, W., Boston, P.J., and Love, D.W. (eds). Socorro: New Mexico Geological Society, pp. 161-166.
- Spilde, M.N., Northup, D.E., Boston, P.J., Schelble, R.T., Dano, K.E., Crossey, L.J., and Dahm, C.N. (2005) Geomicrobiology of cave ferromanganese deposits: a field and laboratory investigation. *Geomicrobiol J* 22: 99-116.
- Spring, S. (2006) The genera *Leptothrix* and *Sphaerotilus*. In *The Prokaryotes*. Dworkin, M., Falkow, S., Rosenberg, E., Schleifer, K.-H., and Stackebrandt, E. (eds). New York: Springer, pp. 758-777.
- Staley, J.T., and Konopka, A. (1985) Measurement of in situ activities of nonphotosynthetic microorganisms in aquatic and terrestrial habitats. *Annu Rev Microbiol* **39**: 321-346.
- Stein, L.Y., La Duc, M.T., Grundi, T.J., and Nealson, K.H. (2001) Bacterial and archaeal populations associated with freshwater ferromanganous micronodules and sediments. *Environ Microbiol* 3: 10-18.
- Sterflinger, K. (2000) Fungi as geologic agents. Geomicrobiol J 17: 97-124.
- Stevenson, B.S., Eichorst, S.A., Wertz, J.T., Schmidt, T.M., and Breznak, J.A. (2004) New strategies for cultivation and detection of previously uncultured microbes. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **70**: 4748-4755.
- Sunda, W.G., and Kieber, D.J. (1994) Oxidation of humic substances by manganese oxides yields lowmolecular-weight organic substrates. *Nature* **367**: 62-64.
- Taboroši, D. (2006) Biologically influenced carbonate speleothems. In *Perspectives on Karst Geomorphology, Hydrology, and Geochemistry*. Harmon, R.S., and Wicks, C. (eds): Geological Society of America, pp. 307-317.
- Taylor-George, S., Palmer, F., Staley, J.T., Borns, D.J., Curtiss, B., and Adams, J.B. (1983) Fungi and bacteria involved in desert varnish formation. *Microb Ecol* **9**: 227-245.

- Tebo, B.M., Clement, B.G., and Dick, G.J. (2007) Biotransformations of Manganese. In *Manual of Environmental Microbiology*. Hurst, C.J., Crawford, R.L., Garland, J.L., Lipson, D.A., Mills, A.L., and Stetzenbach, L.D. (eds). Washington, DC: ASM Press, pp. 1223-1238.
- Tebo, B.M., Johnson, H.A., McCarthy, J.K., and Templeton, A.S. (2005) Geomicrobiology of manganese(II) oxidation. *Trends Microbiol* **13**: 421-428.
- Toner, B., Manceau, A., Webb, S.M., and Sposito, G. (2006) Zinc sorption to biogenic hexagonalbirnessite particles within a hydrated bacterial biofilm. *Geochim Cosmochim Acta* **70**: 27-43.
- Torsvik, V., Øvreås, L., and Thingstad, T.F. (2002) Prokaryotic diversity-magnitude, dynamics, and controlling factors. *Science* **296**: 1064-1066.
- Turekian, K.K., and Wedepohl, K.H. (1961) Distribution of the elements in some major units of the Earth's crust. *Geol Soc Am Bull* **72**: 175-192.
- USEPA Method 3051A: Microwave assisted acid digestion of sediments, sludges, soils, and oils. (USEPA, 2007).
- v. Wintzingerode, F., Göbel, U.B., and Stackebrandt, E. (1997) Determination of microbial diversity in environmental samples: pitfalls of PCR-based rRNA analysis. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* **21**: 213-229.
- van Veen, W.L., Mulder, E.G., and Deinema, M.H. (1978) The *Sphaerotilus-Leptothrix* group of bacteria. *Microbiol Rev* **42**: 329-356.
- Vaughan, M.J., Maier, R.M., and Pryor, B.M. (2011) Fungal communities on speleothem surfaces in Kartchner Caverns, Arizona, USA. *Int J Speleol* **40**: 65-77.
- Villalobos, M., Bargar, J., and Sposito, G. (2005) Mechanisms of Pb(II) sorption on a biogenic manganese oxide. *Environ Sci Technol* **39**: 569-576.
- Warner, J.R. (1999) The economics of ribosome biosynthesis in yeast. Trends Biochem Sci 24: 437-440.
- Warren, L.A., and Kauffman, M.E. (2003) Microbial geoengineers. Science 299: 1027-1029.
- Webb, S.M., Tebo, B.M., and Bargat, J.R. (2005) Structural characterization of biogenic Mn oxides produced in seawater by the marine *Bacillus* sp. strain SG-1. *Am Mineral* **90**: 1342-1357.
- Wedepohl, K.H. (1995) The composition of the continental crust. *Geochimica and Cosmochimica Acta* **59**: 1217-1232.
- White, W.B., Culver, D.C., Herman, J.S., Kane, T.C., and Mylroie, J.E. (1995) Karst lands. *Am Sci* 83: 450-459.
- White, W.B., Vito, C., and Scheetz, B.E. (2009) The mineralogy and trace element cheistry of black Manganese oxide deposits from caves. *J Cave Karst Stud* **71**: 136-143.
- Whitman, W.B., Coleman, D.C., and Wiebe, W.J. (1998) Prokaryotes: the unseen majority. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences **95**: 6578-6583.

Wooley, J.C., Godzik, A., and Friedberg, I. (2010) A primer on metagenomics. *PLoS Comput Biol* **6**: 1-13.

Supporting Information



Fig. S1. Variation in ferromanganese deposit morphologies found in caves of the upper Tennessee River Basix: A) Mn Falls biofilm (CSPC), B) Mud Trap Falls biofilm (CSPC), C) Biovermiculations at Hang Out (R), D) Micronodules at Rimstone (CSPC), E) Ferromanganese Coating at Lower Ledge (DBC), and F) Ferromanganese Crust at Hollow Shelf (CSPC). Cave systems are abbreviated as follows: Carter Salt Peter Cave (CSPC), Daniel Boone Caverns (DBC), and Rockhouse Cave (R).



Fig. S2. A comparison of estimated microbial cell number in cave biofilms using real-time quantitative PCR and fluorescence direct counts.



Fig. S3. Neighbour-joining tree inferring the phylogenetic placement of SSU rRNA gene sequences obtained from biofilms found in Carter Salt Peter Cave, Carter County, TN in this study. The number of sequences from the library that represented a particular OTU is given in parentheses following the NCBI accession number. Alignments were created using the on-line SILVA aligner. Dendogram was created using PHYLIP. Bootstrapping values are shown for nodes that were supported >50% of the time and with maximum-likelihood analysis (data not shown). *Aquifex pyrophilus* and *Thermotoga maritima* were used as outgroups. Branch lengths indicate the expected number of changes per sequence position (see scale bar).

CHAPTER 3: EVIDENCE OF SUSTAINED ANTHROPOGENIC IMPACT IN CARTER SALT PETER CAVE, CARTER COUNTY, TENNESSEE

Summary

Carter Salt Peter Cave, Carter County, Tennessee, is an epigenic cave system typical of those found within the Appalachian region. Evidence of anthropogenic impact is widespread throughout the cave system, and sites within the cave were evaluated for signs of contamination by human sewage material. Molecular-based analyses of DNA extracted from a seep biofilm, Mn Falls, demonstrated the presence of a *Bacteroides-Prevotella* human-signature in DNA extracted from the biofilm in both July 2009 and July 2011. Culture-based enumeration of estimated cell number at the Mn Falls biofilm seep site revealed a consistently higher count of culturable heterotrophic bacteria and cultivable percentage of the total bacterial population in comparison to a nearby seep biofilm, Mud Trap Falls, with less water flow. Both findings are consistent with a hypothesis of nutrient loading via sewage contamination at the Mn Falls site and provide evidence for sustained anthropogenic impact within the Carter Salt Peter Cave system. Cave and karst systems contain unique and highly-adapted macro- and microflora that are intrinsically vulnerable to pollution. Therefore, continued monitoring of the Carter Salt Peter Cave system is imperative to provide baseline data for the development of a management plan to protect this unique cave ecosystem.

Introduction

Karst terrain is a heterogeneous landscape that covers 20% of the Earth's dry land surface and 40% of the land in the United States east of Oklahoma (White *et al.*, 1995; Ford, 2006). Characteristic topographic features of karst regions include sinkholes, subsidence zones, and swallow holes, while subsurface features include complex, dendritic internal drainage patterns (conduits) that widen to form spaces accessible to humans, such as caves and caverns (Palmer, 1991). The evolution of conduit systems within a karst region leads to the development of complex subterranean flow patterns and a high degree of interconnectivity between karst drainage basins (Poulson and White, 1969; Green *et al.*, 2006). When water enters a conduit system, a variety of internal factors determine its ultimate fate, and rapid fluctuations in water level and velocity via surface input render flow within conduits highly variable. Water can move at rates of 100-1000+ feet/day (Taylor and Nelson Jr., 2008), and peak flow rates during storm events can be up to two orders of magnitude above the base flow rate (Vesper *et al.*, 2001).

The unique geomorphologic and hydrologic features of karst terrain render the landscape highly vulnerable to pollution. If overlying soil filtration capacity is poor, contaminants can enter karst drainage basins quickly (Vesper *et al.*, 2001; Wong *et al.*, 2011). High hydrologic conductivity permits the evolution of a complex conduit system in which contaminants can 1) easily penetrate the bedrock, 2) quickly move through these conduit systems (Boyer and Pasquarell, 1999; Field, 2002; Boyer and Kuczynska, 2003; Graening and Brown, 2003; Pronk *et al.*, 2006), and 3) be dispersed across a broad spatial scale (Field, 2002; Simon *et al.*, 2007). Once contaminants enter they can either be flushed quickly, or persist in the environment for lengthy durations (Mahler *et al.*, 2000; Green *et al.*, 2006; Goeppert and Goldscheider, 2011).

Contamination of karst groundwater resources poses a significant human and environmental threat: karst groundwater resources are the primary source of drinking water for a significant portion of the Earth's population (Ford and Williams, 1989; Brosig *et al.*, 2008), and karst systems are home to fragile and unique communities of micro- and macro-organisms that are highly adapted to the

subterranean environment (Porter, 2007). Common contaminants within karst systems have been grouped into six broad categories (Vesper et al., 2001). (1) Water soluble compounds easily infiltrate karst systems, are dispersed with groundwater flow, and are ultimately discharged from the system. (2) Lightly, slightly insoluble, organic compounds (light nonaqueous phase liquids, or LNAPLs) are less dense than groundwater and rise to the surface. These compounds are known to persist in systems for lengthy durations. Heavy, insoluble, organic compounds (dense nonaqueous phase liquids, or DNAPLs) (3) are denser than groundwater and also have long residence times in karst systems because they sink into sediment/pore water. (4) Metal contamination may either be naturally occurring through host rock dissolution or be introduced by humans due to land use practices. Bioavailability of metal contaminants is primarily controlled through adsorption to metal-oxides in karst systems in pH neutral waters, thus this type of contaminant is typically flushed from the groundwater during pulse events that expel sediment and particulate matter from of karst systems (Post, 1999). (5) Pathogens and exogenous microbial consortia enter karst aquifers easily due to the extreme porosity of the bedrock. (6) In heavily visited caves, trash from irresponsible recreational cavers litters cave systems. Trash can also be introduced from nearby landowners who may use sinkholes as dumps for home and farm refuse (White et al., 1995). If transported deep within karst systems, trash can become a persistent leaky source of groundwater pollution. Impacts of the aforementioned categories of chemical and biological contamination have been extensively documented in literature (Simon and Buikema Jr., 1997; Kozar, 2002; Graening and Brown, 2003; Wood et al., 2008; Iker et al., 2010; Goeppert and Goldscheider, 2011; Hu et al., 2011). These studies demonstrate the importance of developing and utilizing novel methods of monitoring karst groundwater resources for indicators of high levels of surface impact (Pronk et al., 2006; Pronk et al., 2007; Pronk et al., 2009).

The primary impediment to research in karst systems is the inaccessibility of the closed conduit system to researchers (Goldscheider *et al.*, 2006). As a result, indirect methods of water quality monitoring are frequently employed by researchers: culture based studies to detect coliform bacteria (Rusterholz and Mallory, 1994; Mikell Jr. *et al.*, 1996), molecular techniques to identify the

presence/absence of fecal indicators and endemic species in karst systems (Porter, 2007; Ahmed *et al.*, 2008a; Roslev and Bukh, 2011), and the use of fluorescent dye-tracers and microspheres to model water flow and pathogen dispersal in conduit systems (Gao, 2011; Goeppert and Goldscheider, 2011). Direct study of karst environments is restricted to open conduits that are large enough to allow for human movement and environmental manipulation. For this reason, cave research has become a focal point in delineating the effects of anthropogenic impact on karst terrain.

As is the case with karst systems in general, anthropogenic impact in cave systems is a phenomenon that has been documented worldwide (Watson et al., 1997; Ciferri, 1999; Chelius and Moore, 2004; Zhong et al., 2011). The cave interior environment can be altered by vandalism, speleothem removal, and graffiti. Changes in hydrological flow regimes, with a downstream impact on speleogenic processes, have been linked to human activity: even something as simple as touching a speleothem without a glove could deposit oil on the surface of a rock and alter drip patterns and speleothem formation (Barton, 2006). The cave microclimate and geochemical environment is easily altered by human presence, which can disrupt the delicate balance of cave ecosystems by impacting nutrient cycling and biomineralization processes (Hoyos et al., 1998; Schabereiter-Gurtner et al., 2002; Barton et al., 2007; Bastian and Alabouvette, 2009; Cuezva et al., 2009; Portillo et al., 2009; Faimon et al., 2011; Fernandez-Cortes et al., 2011). Human foot traffic in caves has been linked to sediment compaction/erosion and the introduction of allocthonous nutrients and organisms (Simon and Buikema Jr., 1997; Hunter et al., 2004; Lavoie and Northup, 2005; van Beynen and Townsend, 2005). These changes have been shown to destroy microhabitats (Northup, 2011), alter cave biogeochemical cycles, and impact sensitive cave fauna such as bats (Blehert et al., 2011). Finally, surface impacts such as land use changes and alterations in vegetation can affect soil and epikarst filtration of drip water and have the potential to introduce nutrient loads and pathogenic microorganisms into cave systems through groundwater percolation (Watson et al., 1997). Anthropogenic impacts can be localized at a single site within a cave (Shapiro and Pringle, 2010; Gillieson, 2011), or spread throughout an entire cave system (Watson et al., 1997). Any type of impact within caves is primarily manifest at the lower trophic levels, particularly in cave microbial communities,

which have the potential to exert powerful bottom-up controls on ecosystem health and stability within a cave (Horner-Devine *et al.*, 2003). Due to the constancy of the cave environment, impact is real, quickly detrimental, and hard to reverse.

In 2009 a study was initiated to characterize the geomicrobiology of ferromanganese deposits in Carter Salt Peter Cave (herein CSPC), Carter County, Tennessee. Early on, impact within the CSPC system was evident. During an initial exploratory visit to the cave in July 2009, researchers noted 1) an abundance of graffiti covering cave rocks and walls, 2) a prevalence of litter throughout the cave system, and 3) a distinct sewage odor was present in portions of the cave with active water flow. At one of these sites, a thick, dark black, microbial biofilm (Mn Falls), full of microcrystalline Mn oxide minerals, flowed down the cave wall and onto the cave floor. One of the water sources for CSPC is known to be contaminated by a variety of inputs, including fecal coliforms (Gao et al., 2006), and many streams in this region are listed as impaired bodies of water (Gao, 2011). A member of the Mountain Empire Grotto in Johnson City, Tennessee, noted that the appearance of the Mn Falls biofilm in 2008 coincided with a time in which a local septic tank company had been reportedly dumping raw sewage into a sinkhole that is hydrologically linked to CSPC (John Matthews, personal communication). We began monitoring the site in 2009. From 2009-2011, the appearance of the Mn Falls biofilm changed drastically, losing its dark black color, and exhibiting a dramatic visual reduction in Mn(IV)-oxide production, though estimated cells/g wet weight biofilm material remained relatively constant and field tests continued to demonstrate the presence of Mn oxides, as detected using Leucoberbelin Blue.

Early water quality monitoring efforts at the Mn Falls site documented fluorine concentrations that were an order of magnitude greater than background concentrations (S.K. Carmichael, unpublished data). Because there are no natural sources of fluorine in the region, this fluorine likely comes from the local, fluoridated municipal water source. In addition, high nitrogen and/or phosphorous loads were detected in cave water, which can potentially be linked to agricultural impacts and/or sewage infiltration within the cave system. Microbiological studies documented the presence of several dominant OTUs (as defined by two or more sequences represented by an OTU) in clone libraries constructed from Mn Falls biofilm material that provide further circumstantial evidence of nutrient loading/sewage contamination at this site (Chapter Two). Five OTUs (ca. 11% of sequences represented by dominant OTUs) were closely related (\geq 97% identical) to environmental clones isolated from fecal contaminated water and activated sludge. A sixth OTU (6% of sequences represented by dominant OTUs) shared 99% identity over a 1,488 bp alignment to *Leptothrix chlodnii*, a species that has been isolated from organic-rich polluted water and activated sludge (van Veen *et al.*, 1978; Spring, 2006). In addition, we were able to isolate a Mn(II)oxidizing *Leptothrix* sp. (isolate G6) from the Mn Falls biofilm that shared 99% identity over a 1,489 bp alignment to this OTU and 99% identity over a 1,488 bp alignment with *Leptothrix chlodnii*. *Leptothrix* sp. G6 was isolated from a serial dilution culture containing 2.5x10⁻⁸ g wet weight biofilm material, indicating that *Leptothrix* sp. are abundant and environmentally relevant species at the Mn Falls site (Chapter Two).

Mn(II)-oxidizing bacteria are known to grow and oxidize Mn using a variety carbon sources (van Veen *et al.*, 1978), from glucose, peptone, and yeast extract (Siering and Ghiorse, 1996; Tebo *et al.*, 2007) to succinate (Chapter Two), acetate, propionate, and butyrate (van Veen *et al.*, 1978). These last three carbon sources are known byproducts of fermentation in both ruminant and human guts (Cummings, 1981; Topping and Clifton, 2001) and are excreted in feces. This provides further circumstantial evidence to support a hypothesis linking nutrient/sewage infiltration at the Mn Falls site and a link between blooms of Mn(II)-oxidizing biofilms in this shallow cave system. Given the dramatic change in the appearance of the Mn Falls biofilm over the duration of the study and the possibility that this change may have somehow been linked to exogenous nutrient input to the cave system, an effort was initiated to document the extent of human impact within the CSPC system, and to either validate or alleviate concern over potential fecal contamination at the site.

Controlled experimentation of limestone inoculated with a known microbial consortia has demonstrated that culture-dependent and culture-independent techniques yield contrasting snapshots of true community diversity in karst systems (Laiz *et al.*, 2003). Due to this phenomenon, comprehensive analyses of microbial ecology are best completed by pairing both types of methodologies (Donachie *et*
al., 2007; Ritz, 2007; Vartoukian *et al.*, 2010). Therefore, a polyphasic approach using water chemistry analyses, molecular markers, and culture-dependent cell enumeration assays was utilized to determine the presence of anthropogenic impact via nutrient loading. Data collected over a three-year extended study has provided evidence of sustained anthropogenic impact within the Carter Salt Peter Cave system.

Results

Description of sample sites within Carter Salt Peter Cave

Carter Salt Peter Cave contains abundant ferromanganese deposits, which are visible in the form of black or chocolate brown biofilms and patinas that coat cave walls and speleothems. The source of reduced Fe(II) and Mn(II) necessary for the formation of these deposits is likely the Knox Dolomite bedrock as studies in similar systems indicate that these reduced compounds may enter a cave via seepage, groundwater percolation, or as a result of bedrock geochemistry (Moore, 1981; Levy, 2007; Rossi *et al.*, 2010). Samples from this study were obtained from two Mn(II)-oxidizing biofilms located in physical proximity to one another (Fig. 1). Mn Falls, the site of alleged sewage contamination, experienced a previously described dramatic change in appearance (Fig. 2A and 2B) over the duration of one year. Mud Trap Falls (Fig. 2C), an adjacent site that is not hydrologically linked to Mn Falls (Y. Gao, personal communication), did not undergo the dramatic change in appearance that was seen at Mn Falls. Therefore, Mud Trap Falls was selected as a comparison site.

Detection of human-specific Bacteroides-Prevotella 16S rRNA gene sequences in DNA extracted from the Mn Falls biofilm site

A molecular-based survey of the Mn Falls site was initiated to detect the presence or absence of human fecal indicators in DNA extracted from the biofilm from the time of the alleged pollution and at regular intervals post impact. A primer set designed by Bernhard and Field (2000a, b) targeting human-specific *Bacteroides-Prevotella* was chosen due to its sensitivity and reliability according to previous reports in

the literature (Ahmed *et al.*, 2009b; Ahmed *et al.*, 2009a). Multiple attempts at amplification of DNA extracted from both Mn Falls and Mud Trap Falls resulted in two positive amplifications, both from Mn Falls: sample F, extracted in July 2009 during an initial sampling trip to the cave when the biofilm was in bloom (OTUs from this extraction are prefaced by a F in Fig. 3), and sample 4, extracted in July 2011 during a more recent sampling trip to the cave when the biofilm was drastically reduced in appearance (OTUs from this extraction are prefaced by a 4 in Fig. 3). Multiple attempts at amplification of DNA extracted from Mud Trap Falls were unsuccessful. Due to the high degree of similarity among all cloned sequences, clones were binned into OTUs for phylogenetic analysis. Using a 99% cutoff, analysis of bacterial clones revealed 6 unique OTUs (Fig. 3) out of ca. 15 total sequences.

Three OTUs, *FB12*, *4A08*, and *FB01*, represented sequences that are members of the *Prevotella* spp., a genus that is commonly isolated from the oral cavity, upper respiratory tract, and urogenital tract of humans (Shah and Collins, 1990). Clone *FB12* shared 100% identity over a ca. 700 bp read to a clone isolated from a study of the microbiota of the human intestine (Walker *et al.*, 2011), and 99% identity to clones isolated from the human gut (Hayashi *et al.*, 2002). *FB12*'s closest cultured relative was *Prevotella copri*, the type strain of which was isolated from human feces (Hayashi *et al.*, 2007). Clone *4A08* shared 99% identity to environmental clones isolated from fecal contaminated watersheds (Lamendella *et al.*, 2007; Lamendella *et al.*, 2009), and 97% identity to its' closest cultured relative, *Prevotella paludivivens*, a species isolated from rice-plant residue (Ueki *et al.*, 2007). Clone *FB01* shared 99% identity to environmental clones isolated from equine-fecal contaminated water (Simpson *et al.*, 2004).

The three remaining OTUs, *4A09*, *FB08*, and *FB10*, represented sequences that are members of the *Bacteroides* spp., a genus commonly isolated from the mammalian gastrointestinal tract (Shah and Collins, 1990). Clone *4A09* shared 98% identity over a ca. 700 bp read to environmental clones isolated from river water polluted with feces (Ju-Yong *et al.*, 2010) and human sewage samples (Dorai-Raj *et al.*, 2009). Clone *FB08* shared 100% identity to clones isolated from the human intestine (Walker *et al.*, 2011) and human feces. Clone *FB10* shared 99% identity to clones isolated from the human intestine and human feces.

feces in as study investigating the association of human gut microbial ecology with obesity (Ley *et al.*, 2006).

Molecular evidence from this study indicates the presence of a *Bacteroides-Prevotella* fecal signature in DNA extracted from the Mn Falls biofilm in July 2009 and July 2011. Phylogenetic analysis from clone sequences suggests a stronger human-specific signature in July 2009, with 50% of the sequences clustering with sequences from human feces, a conclusion that is consistent with the hypothesis of contamination localized at this site within the cave. A weaker human signature, as defined by a lower percentage of sequences (20%) clustering with sequences from human feces, was detected in the July 2011 sample of Mn Falls, providing evidence of sustained anthropogenic impact at this site within the Carter Salt Peter Cave system.

Enumeration of culturable heterotrophic bacteria in cave biofilms using most probable number assays It is a well established fact that the majority of microbes within the environment are recalcitrant to cultivation, a problem that compounds the lack of knowledge regarding the role that microbes play within the environment (Staley and Konopka, 1985; Rappé and Giovannoni, 2003). A variety of factors contribute to the inability to cultivate the majority of microbial species using traditional media- from dormancy (Jones and Lennon, 2010; Lennon and Jones, 2011) to anaerobic, oligotrophic, or chemoautotrophic lifestyles (Mikell Jr. *et al.*, 1996). In environmental studies, direct cell counts typically exceed viable cell counts by several orders of magnitude (Amann *et al.*, 1995; Goldscheider *et al.*, 2006; Kimura *et al.*, 2011). The issue of non-cultivability is magnified in cave environments where microbes are adapted to the unique geochemical and environmental conditions of a given cave (Barton, 2006; Glausiusz, 2007).

Microbial species within pristine caves (those that have little or minimal human impact) are adapted to leading an oligotrophic lifestyle. Utilization of a typical carbon-rich media in an attempt to cultivate indigenous cave organisms would be unsuccessful, as the slow-growth lifestyle of oligotrophs is disrupted in the presence of rich carbon resources with devastating effects to the microbial cell (Koch, 1997). However, human-related microbiota and opportunistic pathogens, which are generally not endogenous members of the cave microflora, are adapted to high-quality carbon environments and grow well on carbon-rich media. Therefore, it is reasonable to hypothesize that sites within cave systems that experience impact from sewage/nutrient loading would demonstrate higher culturable heterotrophic cell counts than areas without impact. Further, data in the literature support this hypothesis (see Table 1 in Amann *et al.*, 1995). Most probable number (MPN) assays (Table 1) were utilized to test this hypothesis through the enumeration of total culturable heterotrophic bacteria and total culturable heterotrophic Mn(II)-oxidizers in two Mn(II)-oxidizing cave biofilms, Mn Falls and Mud Trap Falls.

Samples from cave biofilms for MPN assays were obtained on three different occasions, February 2010 (Mud Trap Falls), May 2010 (Mn Falls), and July 2010 (Mn Falls and Mud Trap Falls) (Table 1). Data from a prior molecular-based experiment (Chapter Two) indicated that total estimated bacterial cell counts remained relatively constant over the duration of the study period. A difference was observed between total estimated bacterial cell counts and total culturable heterotrophic bacteria at the Mud Trap Falls site; however, there was significant overlap between the total estimated bacterial cell counts and total culturable heterotrophic bacterial cell counts and total culturable heterotrophic bacteria at the Mn Falls site. Results from cultivation-based enumeration of heterotrophic Mn(II)-oxidizing bacteria revealed no significant differences between population numbers at Mud Trap and Mn Falls, though a slight increase in the percent culturable Mn(II)-oxidizing bacteria was observed at Mud Trap Falls. This observation is likely a result of a decrease in estimated total bacteria at this site as compared to the Mn Falls site.

Results from cultivation-based enumeration of total heterotrophic bacteria revealed an interesting trend. Data from the February 2010 sampling of Mud Trap Falls indicated an average count of 1.1×10^8 cells/g wet weight; data from the May 2010 sampling of Mn Falls indicated an average count of 2.5×10^{10} cells/g wet weight. No overlap in 95% confidence intervals was observed between these two samples, which is indicative of a significant difference in total culturable heterotrophic bacteria between these two sites. July 2010 data from both sites reflects the same pattern, with an average count of 9.6×10^6 cells/g wet weight at Mud Trap Falls and 9.6×10^9 cells/g wet weight at Mn Falls. The difference between the two

sites in July 2010 data is more pronounced, as total cultivable heterotrophic bacteria at Mn Falls outnumbered Mud Trap falls by three orders of magnitude, with no overlap observed in 95% confidence intervals. An observed increase in the total culturable heterotrophic bacteria at the Mn Falls site is suggestive of greater nutrient loading at this site. A slight overlap was observed between the 95% upper confidence interval at Mud Trap Falls in February 2010 and the 95% lower confidence interval at Mn Falls in July 2010. However, the percent of culturable heterotrophic bacteria within the total population was consistently higher at Mn Falls, approaching 100%, a finding that is supportive of nutrient loading at the site. Interestingly, the percent of culturable heterotrophic bacteria within the total population showed a slight variation between the two sampling dates at Mud Trap Falls. MPN results indicate that culturable counts at this site were significantly higher (roughly a two order of magnitude increase) in February 2010 as compared to July 2010. This trend is reflected in a slight increase in the percent of culturable heterotrophic bacteria within the total population in February 2010 as well. These results mirror what was seen at Mn Falls, making it enticing to speculate that the Mud Trap Falls site may have been impacted by nutrient loading in February 2010.

Discussion

Due to the porous nature of bedrock in karst systems and the poor filtration capacity of the soil and epikarst zone, karst systems are inherently vulnerable to pollution (Caumartin, 1963; Field, 2002). A high degree of interconnectivity is observed in karst conduit systems, therefore surface impacts throughout a karst drainage basin can be dispersed over long distances quickly. Karst aquifers are particularly vulnerable to bacterial contamination and nutrient loading (Drew, 1996; Kozar, 2002; Coxon, 2011; Worthington, 2011) and exogenous input of this type can enter a cave or karst system via atmospheric deposition, percolation through the soil and epikarst, groundwater flow, or via animal/human foot traffic (Mahler *et al.*, 2000; Barton and Jurado, 2007; Pronk *et al.*, 2007). The persistence and/or endogenous nature of human associated microbial pathogens in the karst environment is a subject of debate (Hunter *et al.*, 2004; Personné *et al.*, 2004; Barton and Pace, 2005; Scott *et al.*, 2005; Goldscheider *et al.*, 2006;

Ahmed *et al.*, 2008b). However, it is recognized that autochthonous microbial communities in cave and karst systems represent diverse, highly adapted, stable consortia (Farnleitner *et al.*, 2005; Goldscheider *et al.*, 2006; Pronk *et al.*, 2009) residing within environments that are fragile and highly vulnerable to disturbance (Roth, 1993; Watson *et al.*, 1997; van Beynen and Townsend, 2005).

The occurrence of human and ruminant-related fecal indicators in karst groundwater and subsurface systems is well documented in the literature (Simon and Buikema Jr., 1997; Boyer and Pasquarell, 1999; Kozar, 2002; Boyer and Kuczynska, 2003; Hunter *et al.*, 2004; Personné *et al.*, 2004; Pronk *et al.*, 2007; Goeppert and Goldscheider, 2011). Molecular-based methods have been successfully employed in the past to detect the presence of human fecal indicators in karst aquifers (Reischer *et al.*, 2007). *Bacteroides* spp. represent a prominent new alternative indicator for the detection of fecal pollution in environmental samples due to an inability to survive in a non-host environment for lengthy periods of time, a strict association with warm-blooded animals, and a relative abundance of members of this genus in fecal samples as compared to traditional indicators (Ahmed *et al.*, 2008a). In the present study, molecular-based characterization of the Mn Falls microbial community demonstrated the presence of a *Bacteroides-Prevotella* fecal signature in DNA extracted from the Mn Falls biofilm in July 2009 and July 2011, providing evidence of sustained anthropogenic impact at this site.

Karst aquifers and deep cave systems with minimal human impact are considered to be oligotrophic environments, defined by less than 2 mg total organic carbon per liter (Barton and Jurado, 2007), and several nutrients such as nitrogen, sulfur, phosphorous, and iron are considered to be additional limiting factors in these systems (Goldscheider *et al.*, 2006). Organisms that thrive in rich carbon environments, like those associated with feces, would not thrive in these types of systems without nutrient loading from exogenous sources. Several prior studies establish a link between carbon amendment/nutrient loading and an increase in culturable heterotrophic bacteria at impacted sites within cave systems. A recent study by Ikner *et al.* (2007) investigating the culturable microbial diversity of Kartchner Caverns, Arizona revealed that areas of high human impact were associated with cultivable counts of bacteria that were two orders of magnitude higher than similar counts in low impact zones within the cave. In addition, localized sites associated with the input of rich carbon sources (e.g., guano, animal feces, human traffic) in several European cave systems demonstrated higher culturable cell counts than sites not affected by nutrient loading (Mulec *et al.*, 2012). In other impacted cave systems, bacterial biomass was shown to increase by an order of magnitude in cave pools impacted by septic system effluent as compared to reference pools within the same system (Simon and Buikema Jr., 1997). In Wind Cave, South Dakota, experimental manipulations of soil plots revealed an increase in bacterial biomass within plots fertilized by feces or a combination of lint and feces relative to plots fertilized with lint alone or control plots, findings that confirm the nutrient-limited status of cave environments (Chelius *et al.*, 2009). Significantly higher average cultivable cell counts at the Mn Falls site and consistently higher percentage of culturable bacteria support the hypothesis of localized nutrient loading/sewage contamination at the Mn Falls site in CSPC. However, it is important to note that cultivation-based experiments are inherently biased by media design and inoculation/incubation techniques (Rusterholz and Mallory, 1994), and that dilution of fecal matter, which would occur within karst conduit systems, does affect the ability to culture and detect fecal indicator bacteria in environmental samples (Ahmed *et al.*, 2008b).

Results from the present study demonstrate the presence of human-specific fecal indicators within the CSPC system and provide compelling support for impact via nutrient loading at the Mn Falls site. Due to the inherent stability of the cave environment and the highly adapted cave macro- and microfauna, this type of impact has the potential to disrupt the delicate balance of life within a cave and exert a strong negative effect on ecosystem function (Fernandez-Cortes *et al.*, 2011). Eutrophication of the cave environment has an immediate and cumulative effect (Gillieson, 2011) on cave microbial communities and rich carbon input is known to drive successional change within microbial communities (Fierer *et al.*, 2010). In many cave systems, microbial communities are an important source of the primary productivity that sustains the ecosystem; therefore, changes within cave microbial communities have the potential to exert powerful bottom-up controls on ecosystems structure and function (Torsvik *et al.*, 2002; Simon *et al.*, 2003; Simon *et al.*, 2007). Localized variations in geochemistry have been shown to impact microbial community structure (Barton *et al.*, 2007; Shabarova and Pernthaler, 2010; Sonnleitner *et al.*, 2011). which can impact biogeochemical cycling and mineralization processes within an environment (Frierdich *et al.*, 2011; Santelli *et al.*, 2011). This is especially true in the case of nutrient loading within oligotrophic systems, as changes in resource availability have the potential to alter the biochemistry of individual cells (Klappenbach *et al.*, 2000; Grünke *et al.*, 2011), which would in turn impact ecosystem processes (Lennon and Cottingham, 2008).

This latter point is best demonstrated in the case of European show caves that have been ravaged by human activity (Cañaveras *et al.*, 2001; Bastian *et al.*, 2010; Saiz-Jimenez *et al.*, 2011). Similar conclusions are reached by Iker *et al.* (2010) in research that linked changes in nitrogen-cycling within a cave system to a change in cave microfloral composition as a result of pesticide contamination within the system, and by Bastian *et al.* (2009) in research that linked changes in endogenous cave microflora with biocide treatments in Lascaux Cave. The effect of nutrient enrichment on microbial community diversity is less clear; however, it is clear that nutrient availability in cave systems is linked to niche diversity (Macalady *et al.*, 2008; Engel *et al.*, 2010), which plays a role in determining microbial community structure and species richness. The composition of cave microbial communities directly impacts the cave environment through mediating biogeochemical processes (Horner-Devine *et al.*, 2003), shaping the cave environment (Portillo *et al.*, 2009; Stomeo *et al.*, 2009; Portillo and Gonzalez, 2010), and providing the functional diversity that is necessary for the maintenance of ecosystem stability (Torsvik *et al.*, 2002).

Cave microbial consortia and the environments in which they reside are highly vulnerable to an array of impacts as a result of anthropogenic disturbance (Bastian and Alabouvette, 2009; Northup, 2011). Karst management is a hot topic in research today, as anthropogenic impact in karst systems continues to be a widespread problem (van Beynen, 2011). Legal protection for cave and karst systems has been extended at the Federal and State levels (Huppert, 1995); but, enacted legislation varies in the degree to which it protects these vulnerable systems and is too often wrought with loopholes (Carpenter and Busch, 1993; van Beynen and Townsend, 2005). There are several non-profit and community organizations (such as grottos) that actively work through outreach efforts to educate the public regarding the effects of human impact in karst regions, the importance of sustainable practices in karst regions, and the utilization

of minimal impact techniques when caving. These types of efforts have been called for by the caving community for a long time (Barton, 2006). National and international organizations, such as the National Speleological Society and the IUCN, have issued recommendations for the protection of cave and karst systems (Watson *et al.*, 1997). However, the effectiveness of these guidelines, recommendations, and management plans is contingent on the accumulation of baseline data that delineates the sources of contamination within a system and the documentation of specific impacts within a cave or karst system (Northup, 2011). This conclusion demonstrates the continued need for research, especially in regions such as the Appalachians, where cave density is high and research in cave systems is lacking. Our hope is that the studies already undertaken within the CSPC system, when paired with continued monitoring of cave health, provide the requisite baseline evidence to develop an informed management plan for the protection and conservation of this fragile and unique subterranean system.

Experimental Procedures

Field description

Carter Salt Peter Cave (Carter County, Tennessee, Fig. 1), located in the Ordovician Knox Dolomite unit (Oder, 1934), is an epigenic cave system typical of those found within the Appalachian region. At a depth of approximately 30 m, Carter Salt Peter Cave (herein CSPC) represents a relatively shallow system. Environmental conditions within the dark zone of the cave are typical of those found in other cave systems (Northup and Lavoie, 2001), as ambient air temperature remains around 13°C year-round (mean annual surface temperature for the region) and humidity approaches 100%. A variety of carbonate speleothem formations occur throughout the cave system (flowstone, dripstone, soda straws, corrosion residue), and the cave is particularly enriched in ferromanganese deposits. The cave is located in close proximity to agricultural land and residential areas, and the cave entrance is neither gated nor protected from human traffic. As a result, evidence of anthropogenic impact is widespread throughout the cave system.

Sample collection

Samples were collected from two Mn-oxidizing cave biofilms, Mn Falls (Figs. 2A and 2B), the site of alleged impact, and Mud Trap Falls (Fig. 2C), and a second biofilm community located in physical proximity to Mn Falls, in roughly three month intervals from July 2009 to June 2011. Deposits were screened for the presence of Mn oxides using 0.04% Leucoberbelin Blue (LBB), a redox indicator that is oxidized by Mn(III) or Mn(IV) to produce a bright blue color change (Krumbein and Altmann, 1973). Samples were collected aseptically by scraping the deposit surface using a sterile 50 mL Falcon tube. Care was taken to sample at locations within a deposit that tested LBB-positive for Mn(II)-oxidation and to maximize the sampling of black/chocolate brown coatings in these locations. Samples were stored on ice, transported to the lab, and immediately processed for downstream use.

DNA extraction, and PCR amplification, cloning, and phylogenetic analysis of human-specific Bacteroides-Prevotella 16S rRNA gene sequences

DNA was extracted from cave samples using a bead beating protocol with the Fast DNA Spink Kit for Soil (MP Biomedicals, Solon, OH). The concentration of extracted DNA was determined using a NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies, Wilmington, DE). Human-specific *Bacteroides-Prevotella* 16S rRNA gene sequences were amplified from Mn Falls biofilm material using a primers designed by Bernhard and Field (Bernhard and Field, 2000a) with a demonstrated detection limit of 1.4×10^{-6} g dry feces/liter. A nested PCR approach was utilized in an attempt to amplify the region of interest in DNA extracted from cave biofilms in early July 2009 (*F*), late July 2009 (*F2*), January 2010 (*F3-W* and *T*), July 2011 (*4*). Approximately 3 ng of environmental DNA was used as a template for the first round of PCR amplification using the universal *Bacteroides-Prevotella* primers 32F (5'-AACGCTAGCTACAGGCTT) and 708R (5'-CAATCGGAGTTCTTCGTG) (Bernhard and Field, 2000b). Each 50 µL reaction contained 1.25 U AmpliTaq Gold (Applied Biosystems, Carlsbad, CA), 50 µM each primer, 1X PCR Gold Buffer (Applied Biosystems, Carlsbad, CA), 2 mM MgCl₂ Solution (Applied Biosystems, Carlsbad, CA), 200 μ M each dNTP, and 2X BSA (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA). A MJ Mini Personal Thermal Cycler (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) was used for all PCR-amplification reactions. The amplification protocol for the first round of PCR is as follows: an initial denaturation of 94°C for 5 min, followed by 35 cycles of 94°C for 30 s, 60°C for 1 min, and 72°C for 2 min, followed by a final extension of 72°C for 6 min. PCR amplifications were conducted in triplicate and visualized on a 1% agarose gel stained with GelRed Nucleic Acid Stain (Phenix Research, Candler, NC). A single positive band of approximately 700 bp was visualized in DNA samples *F* (July 2009) and *4* (July 2011) obtained from the Mn Falls biofilm. Amplifications of each DNA template were pooled for downstream use in the next round of PCR.

1 μ L of PCR product from the pooled amplifications of F (July 2009) and 4 (July 2011) DNA was used as a template for PCR amplification of human-specific Bacteroides-Prevotella 16S rRNA gene sequences in the second round of the nested protocol. PCR amplification was conducted using the Bacteroides-Prevotella human-specific forward primer HF183 (5'- ATCATGAGTTCACATGTCCG) paired with the *Bacteroides-Prevotella* universal reverse primer 708R (5'-CAATCGGAGTTCTTCGTG) (Bernhard and Field, 2000a). Reaction conditions mimicked those given for the first round of the nested protocol, with the following adjustment in the amplification protocol: an initial denaturation of 94°C for 5 min, followed by 25 cycles of 94°C for 30 s, 60°C for 1 min, and 72°C for 2 min, followed by a final extension of 72° C for 6 min. Amplifications were conducted in triplicate, and 5 µL of PCR product for each template was visualized on a 1.5% agarose gel stained with GelRed Nucleic Acid Stain (Phenix Research, Candler, NC) to verify the presence of a ca. 600 bp band. Amplifications of each PCR template were pooled and concentrated by rotary evaporation to a volume of approximately 10 μ L. The concentrated PCR product for each template was run on a 1.5% agarose gel stained with GelRed Nucleic Acid Stain (Phenix Research, Candler, NC). A ca. 600 bp band for each template was manually excised from the gel and purified using an UltraClean GelSpin DNA Extraction Kit (Mo-Bio Laboratories, Carlsbad, California). Purified PCR products of each DNA template were cloned into TOPO TA pcr®2.1 vectors (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA), and plasmid DNA extracted from transformants using the QIAprep

Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) was screened using the M13F(-20) primer. A small clone library consisting of ca. 15 clones for each DNA template was prepared and glycerol stocks were sequenced using the M13F(-20) primer. Sequencing was conducted at Beckman-Coulter Genomics (Danvers, MA). OTUs were determined by DOTUR analysis (Schloss and Handelsman, 2005), and representative sequences for each OTU were chosen based on sequence length and quality. For phylogenetic analysis, additional sequences of interest were selected using ARB (Ludwig *et al.*, 2004) and the NCBI taxonomic database (Johnson *et al.*, 2008). OTU and additional sequences of interest were aligned using the on-line SILVA aligner (Pruesse *et al.*, 2007). A phylogenetic tree (Fig. 3) was constructed using the PHYLIP software package (Felsenstein, 2004) by conducting both neighbourjoining and maximum likelihood analysis. Clone sequences were deposited in GenBank under the accession numbers JN820135-JN820146.

Most probable number assays

Most probable number (MPN) assays were employed to determine the total number of culturable heterotrophic microorganisms and heterotrophic Mn(II)-oxidizing microorganisms in CSPC biofilms (Table 1). Biofilm samples were collected from Mn Falls and Mud Trap Falls in February, May, and July of 2010 and stored overnight at 4°C. FMO2 growth medium (Chapter Two), was used for MPN assays. Biofilm samples were centrifuged to concentrate the wet biomass and the supernatant was removed. Samples were weighed and diluted 1:10 with medium. Serial dilutions of 1:10 diluted biofilm samples were made, ranging from 10^{-2} to 10^{-11} and inoculated in Cellstar 96 well culture plates (greiner bio-one, Monroe, NC). Each well contained 250 µL sterile media and was inoculated with 25 µL of either biofilm material, a positive control (*Leptothrix sp.*), or a negative control in eight replicates per sample. A fifth plate for each sample was inoculated and tested immediately for Mn(II)-oxidation and heterotrophic metabolism using 50 µL 0.04% LBB (rows 1-4) and 50 µL 0.3% iodonitrotetrazolium chloride (INT) (Sigma Aldrich) (rows 5-8) respectively. Colorometric results from the fifth-plate test were used to ascertain background levels for comparison after incubation. Plates were incubated in the dark at 10°C for

4 weeks (to mimic cave conditions) and scored immediately using LBB and INT as described above. Plates were then returned to the dark at 10°C and allowed to incubate overnight to note any color change. MPN assays were scored again after 24 hours, with no notable change in results being observed. Results were applied to a downloadable MPN calculator (Curiale, 2004) to determine the total number of culturable heterotrophic microorganisms and culturable heterotrophic Mn(II)-oxidizing microorganisms in cave biofilms.

Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank Taylor Burnham, Jared Butler, Ashley Hawkins, Seth Hewitt, Daniel Parker, Amanda Strom, and Bryan Zorn for their help with sample collection and field/laboratory assistance. I am appreciative of the landowners of the cave for site access. Partial support was provided through National Science Foundation grant 0935270 awarded to S.L. Bräuer, two grants from the North Carolina Space Grant New Investigators Awards to S. Carmichael and S.L Bräuer, and through a North Carolina Space Grant Graduate Research Fellowship awarded to M.J. Carmichael. Support was also provided by Appalachian State University. **Figures and Tables**







Fig. 2. (A) Carter Salt Peter Cave, Mn Falls site, July 2008, photo taken by Mountain Empire Grotto member John Matthews months after an alleged septic tanker truck released sewage into a local sinkhole. Image is published with permission. (B) Carter Salt Peter Cave, Mn Falls site, July 2010, Mn oxides reduced. Mn oxides have steadily decreased with time at the site since sampling began in July 2009. (C) Carter Salt Peter Cave, Mud Trap Falls site, July 2009.



Fig. 3. Neighbour-joining tree inferring the phylogenetic placement of SSU rRNA gene sequences obtained from the Mn Falls biofilm found in Carter Salt Peter Cave, Carter County, TN in this study in either July 2009 (sequences beginning with F) or July 2011 (sequences beginning with 4). The number of sequences represented by each OTU are given along with the year DNA was extracted in parentheses following the NCBI accession number. Alignments were created using the on-line SILVA aligner. Dendogram was created using PHYLIP. Bootstrapping values are shown for nodes that were supported >50% of the time with maximum-likelihood analysis (data not shown). *Methanobrevibacter smithii* and *Methanosphaera stadtmanae* were used as outgroups. Branch lengths indicate the expected number of changes per sequence position (see scale bar).

Sample (Sample Date)	Heterotrophic Bacteria			Heterotrophic Mn(II)-oxidizing Bacteria			Total	a	Culturable
	95% CI lower	MPN (cells/g wet weight)	95% CI upper	95% CI lower	MPN (cells/g wet weight)	95% CI upper	Bacteria ^a (cells/g wet weight)	Bacteria (%)	Mn(II)- oxidizing Bacteria (%)
Mud Trap Falls (Feb. 2010)	3.6×10^7	1.1×10 ⁸	3.2×10^8	4.5×10 ⁷	1.4×10^{8}	$4.6 imes 10^8$	2.6× 10°	4.2	5.4
Mn Falls (May 2010)	6.9 ×10 ⁹	2.5×10 ¹⁰	$8.9\times\!\!10^{10}$	9.3 ×10 ⁷	3.2×10^8	$1.1 imes 10^9$	$9.8 imes 10^9$	≥100.0 ^b	3.3
Mud Trap Falls (July 2010)	3.2×10^{6}	9.6 ×10 ⁶	2.9×10^7				2.6×10^9	0.4	
Mn Falls (July 2010)	3.2×10^8	9.6 ×10 ⁹	2.9×10^{10}				9.8×10^{9}	97.9	

Table 1. Total culturable heterotrophic bacteria and culturable heterotrophic Mn(II)-oxidizing bacteria present in Carter Salt Peter Cave biofilms.

^aTotal bacterial cell number was estimated in a previous study by real-time quantitative PCR. SSU rRNA gene copy number was normalized in experimental results using the average copy number for bacteria (4.08 copies/cell) as reported by the Ribosomal RNA Operon Copy Number Database (Klappenbach *et al.*, 2001) in March 2010. ^bThe 95% CI lower bound for heterotrophic bacteria lies within the error range of total bacterial cell number as estimated by real-time quantitative PCR.

References

- Ahmed, W., Goonetilleke, A., and Gardner, T. (2008a) Alternative indicators for detection and quantification of faecal pollution. *Water* **39**: 39-45.
- Ahmed, W., Stewart, J., Gardner, T., and Powell, D. (2008b) A real-time polymerase chain reaction assay for quantitative detection of the human-specific enterococci surface protein marker in sewage and environmental waters. *Environ Microbiol* **10**: 3225-3264.
- Ahmed, W., Goonetilleke, A., Powell, D., and Gardner, T. (2009a) Evaluation of multiple sewageassociated *Bacteroides* PCR markers for sewage pollution tracking. *Water Res* **43**: 4872-4877.
- Ahmed, W., Goonetilleke, A., Powell, D., Chauhan, K., and Gardner, T. (2009b) Comparison of molecular markers to detect fresh sewage in environmental waters. *Water Res* **43**: 4908-4917.
- Amann, R.I., Ludwig, W., and Schleifer, K.-H. (1995) Phylogenetic identification and in situ detection of individual microbial cells without cultivation. *Microbiol Rev* **59**: 143-169.
- Barton, H.A. (2006) Introduction to cave microbiology: a review for the non-specialist. *J Cave Karst Stud* **68**: 43-54.
- Barton, H.A., and Pace, N.R. (2005) Discussion: persistent coliform contamination in Lechuguilla cave pools. *J Cave Karst Stud* 67: 55-57.
- Barton, H.A., and Jurado, V. (2007) What's up down there? Microbial diversity in caves. *Microbe* **2**: 132-138.
- Barton, H.A., Taylor, N.M., Kreate, M.P., Springer, A.C., Oehrle, S.A., and Bertog, J.L. (2007) The impact of host rock geochemistry on bacterial community structure in oligotrophic cave environments. *Int J Speleol* **36**: 93-104.
- Bastian, F., and Alabouvette, C. (2009) Lights and shadows on the conservation of a rock art cave: the case of Lascaux Cave. *Int J Speleol* **38**: 55-60.
- Bastian, F., Alabouvette, C., Jurado, V., and Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2009) Impact of biocide treatements on the bacterial communities of the Lascaux Cave. *Naturwissenschaften* **96**: 863-868.
- Bastian, F., Jurado, V., Nováková, A., Alabouvette, C., and Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2010) The microbiology of Lascaux Cave. *Microbiology* **156**: 644-652.
- Bernhard, A.E., and Field, K.G. (2000a) A PCR assay to discriminate human and ruminant feces on the basis of host differences in *Bactreoides-Prevotella* genes encoding 16S rRNA. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 66: 4571-4574.
- Bernhard, A.E., and Field, K.G. (2000b) Identification of nonpoint sources of fecal polluton in coatal waters by using host-specific 16S ribosomal DNA genetic markers from fecal anaerobes. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 66: 1587-1594.
- Blehert, D.S., Lorch, J.M., Ballmann, A.E., Cryan, P.M., and Meteyer, C.U. (2011) Bat white-nose syndrome in North America. *Microbe* **6**: 267-273.

- Boyer, D.G., and Pasquarell, G.C. (1999) Agricultural land use impacts on bacterial water quality in karst groundwater aquifer. *J Am Water Res As* **35**: 291-300.
- Boyer, D.G., and Kuczynska, E. (2003) Storm and seasonal distributions of fecal coliforms and *Cryptosporidium* in a spring. *J Am Water Res As* **39**: 1449-1456.
- Brosig, K., Geyer, T., Subah, A., and Sauter, M. (2008) Travel time based approach for the assessment of vulnerability of karst groundwater: the Transit Time Method. *Environ Geol* **54**: 905-911.
- Cañaveras, J.C., Sanchez-Moral, S., Soler, V., and Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2001) Microorganisms and microbially induced fabrics in cave walls. *Geomicrobiol J* 18: 223-240.
- Carpenter, B., and Busch, L. (1993) Subterranean Blues. US News and World Report 115: 57-60.
- Caumartin, V. (1963) Review of the microbiology of underground environments. NSS Bulletin 25: 1-14.
- Chelius, M.K., and Moore, J.C. (2004) Molecular phylogenetic analysis of *Archaea* and *Bacteria* in Wind Cave, South Dakota. *Geomicrobiol J* **21**: 123-134.
- Chelius, M.K., Beresford, G., Horton, H., Quirk, M., Selby, G., Simpson, R.T., *et al.* (2009) Impacts of alterations of organic inputs on the bacterial community within the sediments of Wind Cave, South Dakota, USA. *Int J Speleol* **38**: 1-10.
- Ciferri, O. (1999) Microbial degradation of paintings. Appl Environ Microbiol 65: 879-885.
- Coxon, C. (2011) Agriculture and Karst. In *Karst Management*. van Beynen, P. (ed). New York: Springer, pp. 103-138.
- Cuezva, S., Sanchez-Moral, S., Saiz-Jimenez, C., and Cañaveras, C. (2009) Microbial communities and associated mineral fabrics in Altamira Cave, Spain. *Int J Speleol* **38**: 83-92.
- Cummings, J.H. (1981) Short chain fatty acids in the human colon. Gut 22: 763-779.
- Curiale, M. (2004) MPN calculator version VB6. [WWW document]. URL www.i2workout.com/mcuriale/mpn/index.html.
- Donachie, S.P., Foster, J.S., and Brown, M.V. (2007) Culture clash: challenging the dogma of microbial diversity. *ISME J* 1: 97-102.
- Dorai-Raj, S., O'Grady, J., and Colleran, E. (2009) Specificity and sensitivity evaluation of novel and existing *Bacteroidales* and *Bifidobacteria*-specific PCR assays on feces and sewage samples and their application for microbial source tracking in Ireland. *Water Res* **43**: 4980-4988.
- Drew, D. (1996) Agriculturally induced environmental changes in Burren Karst, Western Ireland. *Environ Geol* 28: 137-144.
- Engel, A.S., Meisinger, D.B., Porter, M.L., Payn, R.A., Schmid, M., Stern, L.A., *et al.* (2010) Linking phylogenetic and functional diversity to nutrient spiraling in microbial mats from Lower Kane Cave (USA). *ISME J* **4**: 98-110.

- Faimon, J., Troppová, D., Baldík, V., and Novotný, R. (2011) Air circulation and its impact on microclimatic variables in the Císařská Cave (Moravian Karst, Czech Republic). Int. J. Climatol.: DOI: 10.1002/joc.2298.
- Farnleitner, A.H., Wilhartitz, I., Ryzinska, G., Kirschner, A.K.T., Stadler, H., Burtscher, M.M., *et al.* (2005) Bacterial dynamics inspring water of alpine karst aquifers indicates the presence of stable autochthonous microbial endokarst communities. *Environ Microbiol* 7: 1248-1259.
- Felsenstein, J. (2004) PHYLIP (Phylogeny Inference Package) version 3.68. Distributed by the author. Department of Genome Sciences, University of Washington, Seattle.
- Fernandez-Cortes, A., Cuezva, S., Sanchez-Moral, S., Cañaveras, C., Porea, E., Jurado, V., *et al.* (2011) Detection of human-induced environmental disturbances in a show cave. *Environ Sci Pollut R* 18: 1037-1045.
- Field, M.S. (2002) Development of a counterterrorism preparedness tool for evaluating risks to karstic spring water. In *Survey*, USGS (ed). Shepherdstown, West Virginia: USGS, pp. 20-29.
- Fierer, N., Nemergut, D.R., Knight, R., and Craine, J.M. (2010) Changes through time: integrating microorganisms into the study of succession. *Res Microbiol* **161**: 635-642.
- Ford, D. (2006) Karst geomorphology, caves, and cave deposits: a review of North American contributions during the past half century. In *Perspectives on Karst Geomorphology, Hydrology, and Geochemistry*. Harmon, R.S., and Wicks, C.M. (eds). Boulder, Colorado: Geological Society of America, pp. 1-13.
- Ford, D., and Williams, P.W. (1989) *Karst Geomorphology and Hydrology*: London, UK: Unwin Hyman Limited.
- Frierdich, A.J., Hasenmueller, E.A., and Catalano, J.G. (2011) Composition and structure of nanocrystalline Fe and Mn oxide cave deposits: implications for trace element mobility in karst systems. *Chem Geol* 284: 82–96.
- Gao, Y. (2011) Investigating sinkhole hazards and groundwater and surface water contaminations in the Southeastern Appalachian karst region. In 2011 GSA Annual Meeting. Minneapolis, MN: Geological Society of America.
- Gao, Y., Gibson, N., Burnham, T., and Evanshen, B. (2006) Water chemistry and quality changes in the Rockhouse Cave System, Carter County, Tennessee. In Sixteenth Tennessee Water Resources Symposium. Montgomery Bell State Park, Burns, Tennessee.
- Gillieson, D.S. (2011) Management of Caves. In *Karst Management*. van Beynen, P. (ed). New York: Springer, pp. 141-158.
- Glausiusz, J. (2007) Extreme culture. Nature 447: 905-906.
- Goeppert, N., and Goldscheider, N. (2011) Transport and variability of fecal bacteria in carbonate conglomerate aquifers. *Ground Water* **49**: 77-84.
- Goldscheider, N., Hunkeler, D., and Rossi, P. (2006) Review: microbial biocenoses in pristine aquifers and an assessment of investigative methods. *Hydrogeol J* 14: 926-941.

- Graening, G.O., and Brown, A.V. (2003) Ecosystem dynamics and pollution effects in an Ozark cave stream. *J Am Water Res As* **39**: 1497-1507.
- Green, R.T., Painter, S.L., Sun, A., and Worthington, S.R.H. (2006) Groundwater contamination in karst terranes. *Water, Air, Soil Pollut* **6**: 157-170.
- Grünke, S., Felden, J., Lichtschlag, A., Girnth, A.-C., De Beer, D., Wenzhöfer, F., and Boetius, A. (2011) Niche differentiation among mat-forming, sulfide-oxidizing bacteria at cold seeps of the Nile Deep Sea Fan (Eastern Mediterranean Sea). *Geobiol* 9: 330-348.
- Hayashi, H., Sakamoto, M., and Benno, Y. (2002) Phylogenetic analysis of the human gut microbiota using 16S rDNA clone libraries and strictly anaerobic culture-based methods. *Microbiol Immunol* 46: 535-548.
- Hayashi, H., Shibata, K., Sakamoto, M., Tomita, S., and Benno, Y. (2007) *Prevotella copri*, sp. nov. and *Prevotella stercorea* sp. nov., isolated from human faeces. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* **57**: 941-946.
- Horner-Devine, M.C., Leibold, M.A., Smith, V.H., and Bohannan, B.J.M. (2003) Bacterial diversity patterns along a gradient of primary productivity. *Ecol Lett* **6**: 613-622.
- Hoyos, M., Soler, V., Cañaveras, J.C., Sánchez-Moral, S., and Sanz-Rubio, E. (1998) Microclimatic characterization of a karstic cave: human impact on microenvironmental parameters of a prehistoric rock art cave (Candamo Cave, northern Spain). *Environ Geol* **33**: 231-242.
- Hu, Y., Qi, S., Zhang, J., Tan, L., Zhang, J., Wang, Y., and Yuan, D. (2011) Assessment of organochlorine pesticides contamination in underground rivers in Chongqing, Southwest China. J Geochem Explor 111: 47-55.
- Hunter, A.J., Northup, D.E., Dahm, C.N., and Boston, P.J. (2004) Persistent coliform contamination in Lechuguilla cave pools. *J Cave Karst Stud* **66**: 102-110.
- Huppert, G.N. (1995) Legal protection for caves in the United States. Environ Geol 26: 121-123.
- Iker, B.C., Kambesis, P., Oehrle, S.A., Groves, C., and Barton, H.A. (2010) Microbial atrazine breakdown in a karst groundwater system and its effect. *J Environ Qual* **39**: 508-518.
- Ikner, L.A., Toomey, R.S., Nolan, G., Neilson, J.W., Pryor, B.M., and Maier, R.M. (2007) Culturable microbial diversity and the impact of tourism in Kartchner Caverns, Arizona. *Microb Ecol* 53: 30-42.
- Johnson, M., Zaretskaya, I., Raytselis, Y., Merezhuk, Y., McGinnis, S., and Madden, T.L. (2008) NCBI BLAST: a better web interface. *Nucleic Acids Res* **36**: W5-W9.
- Jones, S.E., and Lennon, J.T. (2010) Dormancy contributes to the maintenance of microbial diversity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* **107**: 5881-5886.
- Ju-Yong, J., Park, H.-D., Lee, K.-H., Hwang, J.-H., and Ka, J.-O. (2010) Quantitative analysis of humanand cow-specific 16S rRNA gene markers for assessment of fecal pollution in river waters by Real-Time PCR. J Microbiol Biotechnol 20: 245-253.

- Kimura, S., Bryan, C.G., Hallberg, K.B., and Johnson, D.B. (2011) Biodiversity and geochemistry of an extremely acidic, low-temperature subterranean environment sustained by chemolithotrophy. *Environ Microbiol* 13: 2092-2104.
- Klappenbach, J.A., Dunbar, J.M., and Schmidt, T.M. (2000) rRNA operon copy number reflects ecological strategies of bacteria. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **66**: 1328-1333.
- Koch, A.L. (1997) Microbial physiology and ecology of slow growth. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* **61**: 305-318.
- Kozar, M.D. (2002) Synopsis of karst investigations conducted in Jefferson and Berkeley Counties, West Virginia, by the U.S. Geological Survey, West Virginia District. USGS (ed). Charleston, WV.
- Krumbein, W.E., and Altmann, H.J. (1973) A new method for the detection and enumeration of manganese oxidizing and reducing microorganisms. *Helgölander Wissenschaftlichen Untersuchungen* 25: 347-356.
- Laiz, L., Pinar, G., Lubitz, W., and Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2003) Monitoring the colonization of monuments by bacteria: cultivation versus molecular methods. *Environ Microbiol* **5**: 72-74.
- Lamendella, R., Santo Domingo, J.W., Oerther, D.B., Vogel, J.R., and Stoeckel, D.M. (2007) Assessment of fecal pollution sources in a small northern-plains watershed using PCR and phylogenetic analyses of *Bacteroidetes* 16S rRNA gene. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **59**: 651-660.
- Lamendella, R., Santo Domingo, J.W., Yannarell, A.C., Ghosh, S., Di Giovanni, G., Mackie, R.I., and Oerther, D.B. (2009) Evaluation of swine-specific PCR assays used for fecal source tracking and analysis of molecular diversity of swine-specific "*Bacteroidales*" populations. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **75**: 5787-5796.
- Lavoie, K.H., and Northup, D.E. (2005) Bacteria as indicators of human impact in caves. 2005 National Cave and Karst Management Symposium: 40-47.
- Lennon, J.T., and Cottingham, K.L. (2008) Microbial productivity in variable resource environments. *Ecology* **89**: 1001-1014.
- Lennon, J.T., and Jones, S.E. (2011) Microbial seed banks: the ecological and evolutionary implications of dormancy. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **9**: 119-130.
- Levy, D.B. (2007) Oxidation-reduction chemistry of Lechuguilla Cave seepage. *J Cave Karst Stud* **69**: 351-358.
- Ley, R.E., Turnbaugh, P.J., Klein, S., and Gordon, J.I. (2006) Human gut microbes associated with obesity. *Nature* **444**: 1022-1023.
- Ludwig, W., Strunk, O., Westram, R., Richter, L., Yadhukumar, H.M., Buchner, A., *et al.* (2004) ARB: a software environment for sequence data. *Nucleic Acids Res* **32**: 1363-1371.
- Macalady, J.L., Dattagupta, S., Schaperdoth, I., Jones, D.S., Druschel, G.K., and Eastman, D. (2008) Niche differentiation among sulfur-oxidizing bacterial populations in cave waters. *ISME J* **2**: 590-601.

- Mahler, B.J., Personné, J.C., Lods, G.F., and Drogue, C. (2000) Transport of free and particulateassociated bacteria in karst. *J Hydrol* 238: 179-193.
- Mikell Jr., A.T., Smith, C.L., and Richardson, J.C. (1996) Evaluation of media and techniques to enumerate heterotrophic microbes from karst and sand aquifers. *Microb Ecol* **31**: 115-124.
- Moore, G.W. (1981) Manganese deposition in limestone caves. In *Proceedings of the International Congress of Speleology; a Meeting of the International Union of Speleology*, pp. 642-645.
- Mulec, J., Krištůfek, V., and Chroňáková, A. (2012) Comparative microbial sampling from eutrophic caves in Slovenia and Slovakia using RIDA(R) COUNT test kits. *Int J Speleol* **41**: 1-8.
- Northup, D.E. (2011) Managing microbial communities in caves. In *Karst Management*. van Beynen, P. (ed). New York: Springer, pp. 225-240.
- Northup, D.E., and Lavoie, K.H. (2001) Geomicrobiology of caves: a review. *Geomicrobiol J* 18: 199-222.
- Oder, C.R.L. (1934) Preliminary subdivision of the knox dolomite in East Tennessee. J Geol 42: 469-497.
- Palmer, A.N. (1991) Origin and morphology of limestone caves. Geol Soc Am Bull 103: 1-21.
- Personné, J.C., Poty, F., Mahler, B.J., and Drogue, C. (2004) Colonization by aerobic bacteria in karst: laboratory and in situ experiments. *Ground Water* **42**: 526-533.
- Porter, M.L. (2007) Subterranean biogeography: what have we learned from molecular techniques?. *J Cave Karst Stud* **69**: 179-186.
- Portillo, M.C., and Gonzalez, J.M. (2010) Differential effects of distinct bacterial biofilms in a cave environment. *Current Topics in Microbiology* **60**: 435-438.
- Portillo, M.C., Porca, E., Cuezva, S., Cañaveras, C., Sanchez-Moral, S., and Gonzalez, J.M. (2009) Is the availability of different nutrients a critical factor for the impact of bacteria on subterraneous carbon budgets? *Naturwissenschaften* 96: 1035-1042.
- Post, J.E. (1999) Manganese oxide minerals: crystal structures and economic and environmental significance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* **96**: 3447-3454.
- Poulson, T.L., and White, W.B. (1969) The cave environment. Science 165: 971-981.
- Pronk, M., Goldscheider, N., and Zopfi, J. (2006) Dynamics and interaction of organic carbon, turbidity, and bacteria in a karst aquifer system. *Hydrogeol J* 14: 473-484.
- Pronk, M., Goldscheider, N., and Zopfi, J. (2007) Particle-size distirbution as indicator for fecal bacteria contamination of drinking water from karst springs. *Environ Sci Technol* **41**: 8400-8405.
- Pronk, M., Goldscheider, N., and Zopfi, J. (2009) Microbial communities in karst groundwater and their potential use for biomonitoring. *Hydrogeol J* **17**: 37-48.

- Pruesse, E., Quast, C., Knittel, K., Fuchs, B.M., Ludwig, W., Peplies, J., and Glöckner, F. (2007) SILVA: a comprehensive online resource for quality checked and aligned ribosomal RNA sequence data compatible with ARB. *Nucleic Acids Res* **35**: 7188-7196.
- Rappé, M.S., and Giovannoni, S.J. (2003) The uncultured microbial majority. *Annu Rev Microbiol* **57**: 369-394.
- Reischer, G.H., Kasper, D.C., Steinborn, R., Farnleitner, A.H., and Mach, R.L. (2007) A quantitative realtime PCR assay for the highly sensitive and specific detection of human faecal influence in spring water from a large alpine catchment area. *Lett Appl Microbiol* **44**: 351-356.
- Ritz, K. (2007) The Plate Debate: cultivable communities have no utility in contemporary environmental microbial ecology. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **60**: 358-362.
- Roslev, P., and Bukh, A.S. (2011) State of the art molecular markers for fecal pollution source tracking in water. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **89**: 1341-1355.
- Rossi, C., Lozano, R.P., Isanta, N., and Hellstrom, J. (2010) Manganese stromatolites in caves: El Soplao (Cantabria, Spain). *Geology* **38**: 1119-1122.
- Roth, J.R. (1993) Preserving biodiversity in caves. Wild Earth 3: 32-33.
- Rusterholz, K.J., and Mallory, L.M. (1994) Density, activity, and diversity of bacteria to a karstic aquifer. *Microb Ecol* 28: 79-99.
- Saiz-Jimenez, C., Cuezva, S., Jurado, V., Fernandez-Cortes, A., Porca, E., Benavente, D., *et al.* (2011) Paleolithic art in peril: policy and science collide at Altamira cave. *Science* **334**: 42-43.
- Santelli, C., Webb, S.M., Dohnalkova, A., and Hansel, C. (2011) Diversity of Mn oxides produced by Mn(II)-oxidizing fungi. *Geochim Cosmochim Acta* **75**: 2762-2776.
- Schabereiter-Gurtner, C., Saiz-Jimenez, C., Piñar, G., Lubitz, W., and Rölleke, S. (2002) Phylogenetic 16S rRNA analysis reveals the presence of complex and partly unknown bacterial communities in Tito Bustillo cave, Spain, and on its Palaeolithic paintings. *Environ Microbiol* 4: 392-400.
- Schloss, P.D., and Handelsman, J. (2005) Introducing DOTUR, a computer program for defining operational taxonomic units and estimating species richness. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 71: 1501-1506.
- Scott, T.M., Jenkins, T.M., Lukasik, J.O., and Rose, J.B. (2005) Potential use of a host associated molecular marker in *Enterococcus faecium* as an index of human fecal pollution. *Environ Sci Technol* **39**: 283-287.
- Shabarova, T., and Pernthaler, J. (2010) Karst pools in subsurface environments: collectors of microbial diversity or temporary residence between habitat types. *Environ Microbiol* **12**: 1061-1074.
- Shah, H.N., and Collins, D.M. (1990) *Prevotella*, a new genus to include *Bacteroides malaninogenicus* and related species formerly classified in the genus *Bacteroides*. *Int J Syst Bacteriol* **40**: 205-208.
- Shapiro, J., and Pringle, A. (2010) Anthropogenic influences on the diversity of fungi isolated from caves in Kentucky and Tennessee. *Am Midl Nat* **163**: 76-86.

- Siering, P.L., and Ghiorse, W.C. (1996) Phylogeny of the Sphaerotilus-Leptothrix group inferred from morphological comparisons, genomic fingerprinting, and 16s ribosomal DNA sequence analyses. *Int J Syst Bacteriol* 46: 173-182.
- Simon, K.S., and Buikema Jr., A.L. (1997) Effects of organic pollution on an Appalachian cave: Changes in macroinvertebrate populations and food supplies. *Am Midl Nat* **138**: 387-401.
- Simon, K.S., Benfield, E.F., and Macko, S.A. (2003) Food web structure and the role of epilithic biofilms in cave streams. *Ecology* **84**: 2395-2406.
- Simon, K.S., Pipan, T., and Culver, D.C. (2007) A conceptual model of the flow and distribution of organic Carbon in caves. *J Cave Karst Stud* **69**: 279-284.
- Simpson, J.M., Santo Domingo, J.W., and Reasoner, D.J. (2004) Assessment of equine fecal contamination: the search for alternative bacterial source-tracking targets. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 47: 65-75.
- Sonnleitner, R., Redl, B., and Schinner, F. (2011) Microbial mobilization of major and trace elements from catchment rock samples of a high mountain lake in the European Alps. Arct Antarct Alp Res 43: 465-473.
- Spring, S. (2006) The genera *Leptothrix* and *Sphaerotilus*. In *The Prokaryotes*. Dworkin, M., Falkow, S., Rosenberg, E., Schleifer, K.-H., and Stackebrandt, E. (eds). New York: Springer, pp. 758-777.
- Staley, J.T., and Konopka, A. (1985) Measurement of in situ activities of nonphotosynthetic microorganisms in aquatic and terrestrial habitats. *Annu Rev Microbiol* **39**: 321-346.
- Stomeo, F., Portillo, M.C., and Gonzalez, J.M. (2009) Assessment of bacterial and fungal growth on natural substrates: Consequences for preserving caves with prehistoric paintings. *Current Topics* in Microbiology 59: 321-325.
- Taylor, C.J., and Nelson Jr., H.L. (2008) A compilation of provisional karst geospatial data for the Interior Low Plateaus Physiographic Region, Central United States. Reston, VA: U.S. Geological Survey, p. 26.
- Tebo, B.M., Clement, B.G., and Dick, G.J. (2007) Biotransformations of Manganese. In *Manual of Environmental Microbiology*. Hurst, C.J., Crawford, R.L., Garland, J.L., Lipson, D.A., Mills, A.L., and Stetzenbach, L.D. (eds). Washington, DC: ASM Press, pp. 1223-1238.
- Topping, D.L., and Clifton, P.M. (2001) Short-chain fatty acids and human colonic function: roles of resistant starch and nonstarch polysaccharides. *Physiol Rev* **81**: 1031-1064.
- Torsvik, V., Øvreås, L., and Thingstad, T.F. (2002) Prokaryotic diversity- magnitude, dynamics, and controlling factors. *Science* **296**: 1064-1066.
- Ueki, A., Akasaka, H., Satoh, A., Suzuki, D., and Ueki, K. (2007) *Prevotella paludivivens* sp. nov., a novel strictly anaerobic, Gram-negative, hemicellulose-decomposing bacterium isolated from plant residue and rice roots in irrigated rice-field soil. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* 57: 1803-1809.

- van Beynen, P. (2011) Introduction. In *Karst Management*. van Beynen, P. (ed). New York: Springer, pp. 1-5.
- van Beynen, P., and Townsend, K. (2005) A disturbance index for karst environments. *Environ Manag* **36**: 101-116.
- van Veen, W.L., Mulder, E.G., and Deinema, M.H. (1978) The *Sphaerotilus-Leptothrix* group of bacteria. *Microbiol Rev* **42**: 329-356.
- Vartoukian, S.R., Palmer, R.M., and Wade, W.G. (2010) Strategies for culture of 'unculturable' bacteria. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **309**: 1-7.
- Vesper, D.J., Loop, C.M., and White, W.B. (2001) Contaminant transport in karst aquifers. *Theoretical* and Applied Karstology **13**: 63-73.
- Walker, A.W., Sanderson, J.D., Churcher, C., Parkes, G.C., Hudspith, B.N., Rayment, N., *et al.* (2011) High-throughput clone library analysis of the mucosa-associated microbiota reveals dysbiosis and differences between inflamed and non-inflamed regions of the intestine in inflammatory bowel disease. *BMC Microbiol* 11: 7.
- Watson, J., Hamilton-Smith, E., Gillieson, D., and Kiernan, K. (1997) *Guidelines for Cave and Karst Protection*. Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, UK: IUCN.
- White, W.B., Culver, D.C., Herman, J.S., Kane, T.C., and Mylroie, J.E. (1995) Karst lands. *Am Sci* 83: 450-459.
- Wong, C.I., Mahler, B.J., Musgrove, M., and Banner, J.L. (2011) Quantifying controls on karst spring and groundwater quality during a transition from extreme drought to wetter than average conditions. In 2011 Geological Society of America Annual Meeting Minneapolis, MN: Geological Society of America.
- Wood, P.J., Gunn, J., and Rundle, S.D. (2008) Response of bethic cave invertebrates to organic pollution events. *Aquat Conserv* 18: 909-922.
- Worthington, S.R.H. (2011) Management of carbonate aquifers. In *Karst Management*. van Beynen, P. (ed). New York: Springer, pp. 243-261.
- Zhong, L., Deng, J., Song, Z., and Ding, P. (2011) Research on environmental impacts of tourism in China: Progress and prospect. *J Environ Manag* 92: 2972-2983.

CHAPTER 4: SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND BROADER IMPACTS

Introduction

My research attempts to answer questions regarding the geomicrobiology of ferromanganese deposits in the cave-rich, but vastly understudied upper Tennessee River Basin. Specifically, I set out to answer questions regarding the role of Mn-biomineralization in the formation and transformation of the cave mineral environment (Chapter Two). Empirical observations during the study period led to the evolution of a second line of inquiry (addressed in Chapter Three), which specifically focused on the documentation of evidence of sustained anthropogenic impact within the Carter Salt Peter Cave (CSPC) system in Carter County, Tennessee. Here I present a summary of these results, conclusions from the work in its entirety, and potential lines of future investigations. I then will frame the emerging field of cave geomicrobiology in a broader perspective.

Summary

Chapter Two: Mn-biomineralization in ferromanganese deposits in caves of the upper Tennessee River karst Basin

Chapter Two of this thesis explores the role of Mn-biomineralization in the formation of ferromanganese deposits in the caves of the upper Tennessee River Basin. Results from this study document a Mn-rich geochemistry at many sites within the region's caves. One such site was the ferromanganous biofilm, Mn Falls located within CSPC, where Mn:Fe ratios (as measured by ICP-OES) were an order of magnitude greater than the bulk bedrock ratio for the Knox Dolomite as reported by Lumsden and Caudle (2001). Molecular evidence from the Mn Falls site revealed a microbial community that was enriched in

organisms related to environmental clones and isolates from metal-rich environments. Culture-based evidence demonstrated *in vivo* Mn(II)-biomineralization capacity in a phylogenetically diverse group of organisms. Some of these isolates (e.g., *Flavobacterium*, *Janthinobacterium*, *Leptothrix*) were obtained from high dilutions $(10^{-8} \text{ to } 10^{-10})$ of cave biofilm material, providing further support for the environmental relevance of Mn(II)-oxidizing biofilms in cave ferromanganese deposit formation. Microbial biomineralization processes are known to increase the rate of Mn(II)-oxidation up to five orders of magnitude above abiotic oxidation rates (Nealson *et al.*, 1988; Dixon and Skinner, 1992), which are especially slow in low temperature environments such as caves (Moore, 1981). Therefore, rapid depositional rates, especially those which exceed oxidation rates within an environment, are indicative of microbial involvement in deposit formation (Nealson *et al.*, 1988). Overall, experimental evidence indicates that Mn(II)-oxidizing organisms play an important role in ferromanganese deposit accretion in caves of the upper Tennessee River Basin.

Because the present study represents the first investigation of geomicrobiology in southern Appalachian epigenic caves, several questions remain regarding the role of microbes in 1) cave biogeochemical cycling and 2) the formation and transformation of secondary mineral deposits within these systems. Herein, I include some suggestions for future work aimed at elucidating the comprehensive role of microbes in the formation and dissolution of cave ferromanganese deposits. First, oxygen-limited environments are recognized as important niches in cave environments (Portillo and Gonzalez, 2009), yet we know very little about the role of anaerobes, specifically Mn(IV)-reducers, in the dissolution of cave ferromanganese deposits. Microbial Mn(IV)-reduction is a widespread phylogenetic trait among bacteria, archaea, and fungi (Lovely, 1991; Lovely *et al.*, 2004; Gadd, 2007). Dissimilatory Mn(IV)-reduction is a known mode of chemolithoautotrophic growth in bacteria (Lovely, 1991), and leads to the mobilization of Mn within an environment (Gadd, 2004). Thus, microbial Mn(IV)-reduction represents a potentially important process in the dissolution of cave ferromanganese deposits that warrants future investigation.

Second, fungi are known to mediate key biogeochemical transformations (Sterflinger, 2000), yet the role of these organisms in the formation of ferromanganese deposits has long been debated (TaylorGeorge *et al.*, 1983; Grote and Krumbein, 1992; Schelble *et al.*, 2005). Recent research indicates that Mn(II)-oxidizing fungi (Miyata *et al.*, 2003; Miyata *et al.*, 2006; Cahyani *et al.*, 2009; Santelli *et al.*, 2010; Santelli *et al.*, 2011) and Mn(IV)-reducing fungi (Gadd, 2007) are found in a variety of environments. Fungal diversity in caves is thought to be high (Roble *et al.*, 2011; Vaughan *et al.*, 2011), but the role of fungi in cave biogeochemical cycles is virtually unknown (Cunningham *et al.*, 1995; Bastian *et al.*, 2009). Evidence from Chapter Two indicates that fungi represent on average 0.3% of the total microbial population in cave ferromanganese deposits. Because fungal species can be capable of Mn-oxidation and reduction, processes that would lead to the formation and dissolution of cave ferromanganese deposits, understanding the role of fungi cave biogeochemical cycling is a relevant and important future line of study.

Finally, continued cultivation-based efforts are needed to continue to isolate cave organisms involved in Mn-biomineralization. These efforts should be focused on the development of new *in situ* and lab based culture techniques (Stevenson *et al.*, 2004; Nichols *et al.*, 2008; Nichols *et al.*, 2010; Vartoukian *et al.*, 2010), adapted to the cave environment, that target the isolation of novel species involved in the biogeochemical transformation of Mn, thus shedding light on the functional role and environmental relevance of these organisms within the cave environment. In addition, techniques such as RNA-based community surveys (Gonzalez *et al.*, 2006; Portillo *et al.*, 2008) and FISH (Meisinger *et al.*, 2007; Macalady *et al.*, 2008) should be developed and utilized as a supplement to cultivation efforts. These molecular-based methodologies would be useful in determining the metabolically active portion of the microbial population in cave ferromanganese deposits, as these organisms would be most influential in the formation/transformation of the cave mineral environment. However, it is important to note that Mn-biomineralization is not necessarily linked to metabolic activity, as Mn(II)-oxidation has been associated with spores of metabolically dormant *Bacillus* spp. (de Vrind *et al.*, 1986; Francis and Tebo, 2002; Dick *et al.*, 2006).

Chapter Three: Evidence of sustained anthropogenic impact in the Carter Salt Peter Cave (Carter County, Tennessee) system

Over the duration of the study period, we observed a striking change in the appearance of the Mn Falls biofilm (documented in Chapter Three), which suggested there was a link between the bloom of the Mn Falls biofilm and nutrient loading at this site within CSPC. Therefore, we initiated a second study within the CSPC system to detect the presence or absence of fecal signatures in DNA extracted from the Mn Falls biofilm at the time of alleged eutrophication (July 2009) and two years post-impact (July 2011). Results from molecular-based surveys (Chapter Three) detected the presence of *Bacteroides-Prevotella* fecal signature in DNA extracted from the Mn Falls biofilm at both sampling points; however, a stronger human-specific signature was detected in the July 2009 sample. DNA amplification attempts at a second Mn(II)-oxidizing biofilm located in CSPC, Mud Trap Falls, were unsuccessful; therefore a *Bacteroides-Prevotella* fecal signature was not detected at this second site where environmental eutrophication was not suspected. Supplementary cultivation-based MPN analyses supported the hypothesis of nutrient-loading at Mn Falls, as a significant increase in total culturable heterotrophic bacteria was observed at this site when compared to Mud Trap Falls. Results from the present study indicate that nutrient loading in shallow cave systems may alter microbial community composition and function, which could exert a downstream impact on nutrient cycling within the cave system.

Results also suggested that monitoring microbial community structure and function can be used as a way to trace contamination in karst systems. However, additional work is needed to test this hypothesis. First, continued monitoring of the CSPC system is required to document changes in microbial communities associated with fluctuations in source water quality measurements (e.g., TOC/DOC, nitrogen and phosphorous content, heavy metals, and fecal indicators). In addition, it would be useful to use cultivation-based methodologies to test which nutrient (e.g., carbon, nitrogen, or phosphorous) is a limiting factor in these shallow cave systems. In addition, a GIS overlay should be created to show the location of potential diffuse and point pollution sources in relation to CSPC. Several layers of information could be condensed into one GIS overlay, which would allow for manipulation and visualization of watershed drainage patterns, sources of pollution, and the location of the cave. Pertinent GIS layers may include bedrock type, faults/fractures, overburden, hydrology, elevation, water and sewer lines, septic tank locations, and cave location/declination. GIS technology has been previously used in the development of cave management strategies to protect Wind Cave, South Dakota (Horrocks and Szukalski, 2002; Ohms and Reece, 2002), one of the oldest known cave systems in the world. Finally, baseline studies need to be conducted in pristine analogous cave systems within the upper Tennessee River Basin to provide data for comparison purposes.

Conclusions

Historically, research within the field of cave geomicrobiology in the United States has been constrained to 1) active, sulfidic cave systems that are hypogene in origin (Engel *et al.*, 2003; Engel *et al.*, 2004b; Engel, 2007; Spear *et al.*, 2007; Porter *et al.*, 2009; Engel *et al.*, 2010), 2) deep, inactive hypogene systems located in the southwestern United States (Cunningham *et al.*, 1995; Northup *et al.*, 1997b; Northup *et al.*, 2000; Provencio and Polyak, 2001; Northup *et al.*, 2003; Spilde *et al.*, 2005; Levy, 2007b, a), and 3) cave systems with high levels of economic/tourist impact such as Wind Cave, South Dakota (Chelius and Moore, 2004; Chelius *et al.*, 2009) and Kartchner Caverns, Arizona (Buecher and Sidner, 1999; Hill, 1999; Ikner *et al.*, 2007; Vaughan *et al.*, 2011). Only a handful of studies (Angert *et al.*, 1998; Engel *et al.*, 2001; Simon *et al.*, 2003; Shapiro and Pringle, 2010; Campbell *et al.*, 2011) exist documenting the microbial ecology of caves in the southern Appalachians, one of the five major cave regions in the United States (Christman and Culver, 2001).

In addition, none of the aforementioned studies within the Appalachian region address the microbial ecology of epigenic cave systems, which reflect the most common form of speleogenic process worldwide (Palmer, 1991). Therefore, the body of work contained within this thesis represents the first study of the geomicrobiology of epigenic caves in the southeastern United States. For a long time, it has been obvious that the microbial communities of acidic, hypogenic cave systems (Angert *et al.*, 1998;

Vlasceanu *et al.*, 2000; Engel *et al.*, 2001; Engel *et al.*, 2003; Engel *et al.*, 2004b) and pH-neutral, epigenic systems (Schabereiter-Gurtner *et al.*, 2002; Northup *et al.*, 2003; Barton *et al.*, 2004; Chelius and Moore, 2004; Barton and Jurado, 2007) are strikingly different in composition. This pattern is evident on a regional scale, where the microbial community structure of Cesspool Cave in Allegheny County, Virginia (Engel *et al.*, 2001) shares little overlap with the dominant communities found in the present study (Chapter Two) in Carter Salt Peter Cave. However, in many ways the vastly different community structures found in sulfidic and carbonic cave systems display properties of functional redundancy, acting as agents of speleogenesis (Northup *et al.*, 2000; Engel *et al.*, 2004a; Taboroši, 2006) and providing the basis of energy for a system that is deprived of photosynthetic input (Sarbu *et al.*, 1996; Simon *et al.*, 2003; Simon *et al.*, 2007).

As we learn more about the geomicrobiology of cave systems within the upper Tennessee River Basin, it may become increasingly apparent that these relatively shallow cave systems share little similarity with their deeper analogous counterparts in the southwestern United States. Preliminary evidence from the present study (Chapter Two) suggests that this may be the case. Lechuguilla Cave (New Mexico) was formed over 12 million years ago by hypogenic processes; however, the cave is no longer actively forming and now represents a pH neutral system with similar environmental parameters (Boston *et al.*, 2006) to those found in our primary study site, CSPC. The primary difference between the two systems is the depth of the caves: Lechuguilla is the deepest known cave system in the United States (depth ca. 489m) (Boston *et al.*, 2006), whereas CSPC is a relatively shallow system (depth ca. 30m). Ferromanganese deposits are widespread throughout both cave systems and microbial biomineralization processes appear to be contributing to the accretion of these deposits. However, the microbial community structure in each cave appears to be markedly different. Ferromanganese deposits in Lechuguilla Cave are dominated by members of the *Firmicutes*, *Nitrospira*, the *a*-*Proteobacteria* (*Mesorhizobium* spp.), and the β -*Proteobacteria* (*Aquaspirillum* spp.) (Northup *et al.*, 2003). None of these groups were dominant members of a ferromanganous biofilm in CSPC (Chapter Two). In addition, the archaeal community composition in Northup *et al.*'s study was composed of several novel lineages, which do not resemble those found in CSPC (Chapter Two).

So, the question arises, what might be causing the differences in microbial community structure observed in ferromanganese deposits between these analogous systems? One possible explanation for the observed differences is the role of surface impact in deep vs. shallow cave systems. The degree of surface impact within a cave system depends on 1) the depth of the system, as shallow cave systems experience greater impact due to the lessened effect of soil/bedrock filtration (van Beynen and Townsend, 2005), 2) the occurrence of flowing water within a system, as water flushes nutrients and exogenous material into cave systems (Northup, 2011), and 3) the level of animal/human traffic within the system, as heavily visited caves receive higher levels of exogenous nutrient and material input (Hunter *et al.*, 2004; Ikner *et al.*, 2007; Chelius *et al.*, 2009; Chroňáková *et al.*, 2009). Shallow and deep cave systems would receive high levels of surface impact, it may be more effective to compare shallow caves to those impacted by high levels of human traffic (e.g., recreational caving activity, tourism) (Chelius and Moore, 2004; Ikner *et al.*, 2007; Chelius *et al.*, 2009; Vaughan *et al.*, 2011). However, more research is needed to determine if this comparison is valid.

The effects of anthropogenic/surface impacts on cave microbial communities have been well documented in prior research (Kozar, 2002; Graening and Brown, 2003; Iker *et al.*, 2010; Hu *et al.*, 2011). Organic supplementation of karst systems via leached human and animal waste is known to affect nutrient cycling in oligotrophic karst environments by increasing both the quality and quantity of carbon that is available to microorganisms. The impact of carbon-rich leachate is readily observed in karst microbial communities, as carbon supplementation through organic contamination events has been shown to increase bacterial biomass in polluted subterranean pools and sediments (Simon and Buikema Jr., 1997). In addition, experimental manipulations in Wind Cave, South Dakota provided direct evidence of a shift in microbial community composition, exerting a negative impact on the endemic microflora, as a result of alterations in organic inputs in cave soil (Chelius *et al.*, 2009). Evidence of shifts in microbial

community composition as a result of organic supplementation/nutrient loading is particularly intriguing in light of the observations in Chapter Three of this thesis, and with the realization that little information exists regarding the role of anthropogenic/surface impacts (e.g., organic supplementation) on biomineralization processes in caves.

One possible explanation for the differences in community structure observed within Lechuguilla and CSPC may be the immediate impact of nutrient enrichment on microbial community composition. In the case of the Mn Falls biofilm, nutrient enrichment appeared to alter microbial function by increasing Mn-biomineralization. This, in turn was visible as a thick, hairy, black biofilm coating on the surface of the cave wall, which steadily decreased in appearance following the initial pulse period of nutrient influx. Findings from the present study suggest that blooms of Mn-oxidation within cave systems may be linked to exogenous nutrient input and therefore may provide a method to gage ecosystem health and levels of anthropogenic disturbance in caves.

The idea of using microbial communities to monitor ecosystem health in karst terrain has previously been asserted by cave and karst researchers (Lavoie and Northup, 2005; Pronk *et al.*, 2009; Campbell *et al.*, 2011). If this hypothesis proves to be true, monitoring of Mn oxide deposits would be viewed as an efficient and cost-effective method of tracing nutrient loading/anthropogenic impact in karst terrain. This idea could then be extended to include monitoring of Mn oxide bulk elemental composition using ICP-OES, as Mn oxides are known to be efficient scavengers of heavy metals (Post, 1999; White *et al.*, 2009), which could enter a karst system as a result of industrial contamination (Vesper *et al.*, 2001; van Beynen and Townsend, 2005).

Broader Impacts

Strong selective pressures (Porter, 2007) have led to the development of a unique cave macroflora (Poulson and White, 1969; Fong, 2011) and diverse microflora (Northup and Lavoie, 2001; Barton, 2006; Engel, 2007) that has traditionally been the focus of research efforts within cave systems. These endeavors have led to the discovery of several new stygo- and troglobitic species that are uniquely adapted to an underground lifestyle (Poulson and White, 1969; Porter, 2007; Fong, 2011), the first report of a freshwater or terrestrial microbe-invertebrate symbiosis (Dattagupta *et al.*, 2009), and evolving thoughts on the role of microbial activity in 1) catalyzing speleogenic processes (Northup *et al.*, 1997a; Cañaveras *et al.*, 1999; Barton *et al.*, 2001; Jones, 2001; Engel *et al.*, 2004a; Barton and Luiszer, 2005; Cañaveras *et al.*, 2006) and 2) controlling biogeochemical cycling within subterranean systems (Sarbu *et al.*, 1996; Chaban *et al.*, 2006; Gorbushina, 2007; Simon *et al.*, 2007; Portillo *et al.*, 2009; Engel *et al.*, 2010; Akob and Küsel, 2011). This latter point is one of critical understanding in the face of climate change, as microbes exert a keystone control on ecosystem processes through the maintenance of Earth's biogeochemical cycles (Postgate, 1992).

Research within the emerging field of cave ecology has begun to move beyond basic exploratory efforts, with the recognition of a variety of niches through which the cave environment contributes to applied science. The most prominent emerging application of cave research within a broader context deals with astrobiology and the search for life in extraterrestrial environments. As addressed in Appendix A herein, caves, as an access point to the deep subsurface, are recognized as an astrobiological analog as they contain biogeochemical cycles similar to those hypothesize to occur on Mars (Boston *et al.*, 2001; Boynton *et al.*, 2009), the current focal point of NASA's search for extraterrestrial life (Baross, 2007). Research in the cave environment concerning microbes, biomineralization, and microbial biosignatures plays an integral role in the development of criteria and analytical techniques to assess and detect extraterrestrial biosignatures and provides a focal point for NASA's search for extraterrestrial life.

In addition to applications within the biological and planetary sciences, caves are recognized as a novel source of bioprospecting (Onaga, 2001), the search for novel therapeutic or pharmaceutical compounds in the environment (Schmidt, 2004; Bhullar *et. al.*, 2012). Efforts in this realm are often concentrated on the study of rare and extreme environments, as these systems are seen as unexplored caches of novel compounds. Several promising initial results have been identified in cave systems within North America (Rule *et al.*, 2011; Sadoway and Cheeptham, 2011) and Europe (Yücel and Yamac, 2010).

In the latter study, a group of researchers from Turkey have isolated an antibiotic-producing strain of *Streptomyces* sp. that demonstrates efficacy against methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*, vancomycin-resistant *Enterococcus faecium*, and *Acinetobacter baumannii* (Yücel and Yamaç, 2010). Isolation of novel antibiotic compounds has profound implications for human medicine in the face of rising concerns over the compounding problem of an increase in multi-drug resistant organisms (Dooley *et al.*, 1992; Perl, 1999; Noskin, 2001; Podnos *et al.*, 2001; Weigel *et al.*, 2003; Dias and Caniça, 2004; Sebaihia *et al.*, 2006; Flatow, 2011; IDSA, 2011) paired with a decrease in drug development efforts by the pharmaceutical industry (Austin *et al.*, 1999; Schmidt, 2004; Peleg and Hooper, 2010; IDSA, 2011).

As points of access to the deep subsurface, caves offer us a window into an unexplored territory. Despite the progress that has been made within the complementary fields of cave ecology and geomicrobiology, we are only scratching the surface of what there is yet to discover. We are still in the beginning stages of understanding the true value of the biodiversity contained within cave systems and the critical role of cave organisms in the maintenance of ecosystem processes. These conclusions place further emphasis on the need to protect and preserve these unique and fragile ecosystems.
BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adams, L.F., and Ghiorse, W.C. (1987) Characterization of an extracellular Mn²⁺-oxidizing activity and isolation of Mn²⁺-oxidizing protein from *Leptothrix discophora* SS-1. *J Bacteriol* **169**: 1279-1285.
- Ahmed, W., Goonetilleke, A., and Gardner, T. (2008) Alternative indicators for detection and quantification of faecal pollution. *Water* **39**: 39-45.
- Ahmed, W., Goonetilleke, A., Powell, D., and Gardner, T. (2009) Evaluation of multiple sewageassociated *Bacteroides* PCR markers for sewage pollution tracking. *Water Res* **43**: 4872-4877.
- Ahmed, W., Goonetilleke, A., Powell, D., Chauhan, K., and Gardner, T. (2009) Comparison of molecular markers to detect fresh sewage in environmental waters. *Water Res* **43**: 4908-4917.
- Ahmed, W., Stewart, J., Gardner, T., and Powell, D. (2008) A real-time polymerase chain reaction assay for quantitative detection of the human-specific enterococci surface protein marker in sewage and environmental waters. *Environ Microbiol* **10**: 3225-3264.
- Akob, D.M., and Küsel, K. (2011) Where microorganisms meet rocks in the Earth's Critical Zone. *Biogeosci Discuss* 8: 2523-2562.
- Allouc, J., and Harmelin, J.G. (2001) Mn-Fe deposits in shallow cryptic marine environment: examples in northwestern Mediterranean submarine caves. *Bull Soc Geol France* **172**: 765-778.
- Amann, R.I., Ludwig, W., and Schleifer, K.-H. (1995) Phylogenetic identification and in situ detection of individual microbial cells without cultivation. *Microbiol Rev* **59**: 143-169.
- Anderson, C.R., Johnson, H.A., Caputo, N., Davis, R.E., Torpey, J.W., and Tebo, B.M. (2009) Mn(II) oxidation is catalyzed by Heme Peroxidases in "Aurantimonas manganoxydans" Strain SI85-9A1 and Erythrobacter sp. Strain SD-21. Appl Environ Microbiol 75: 4130-4138.
- Anderson, I.C., and Cairney, J.W.G. (2004) Diversity and ecology of soil fungal communities: increased understanding through the application of molecular techniques. *Environ Microbiol* **6**: 769-779.
- Angert, E.R., Northup, D.E., Reysenbach, A-L., Peek, A.S., Goebel, B.M., and Pace, N.R. (1998) Molecular phylogenetic analysis of a bacterial community in Sulphur River, Parker Cave, Kentucky. *Am Mineral* 83: 1583-1592.
- Archibald, F.S., and Fridovich, I. (1981) Manganese and defenses against oxygen toxicity in Lactobacillus plantarum. J Bacteriol 145: 442-451.
- Asakawa, S., Morii, H., Akagawa-Matsushita, M., Koga, Y., and Hayano, K. (1993) Characterization of *Methanobrevibacter arboriphilicus* isolated from a paddy field soil and DNA-DNA hybridization among *M. arboriphilicus* strains. *Int J Syst Bacteriol***43**: 683-686.

- Austin, D.J., Kristinsson, K.G., and Anderson, R.M. (1999) The relationship between the volume of antimicrobial consumption in human communities and the frequency of resistance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* **96**: 1152-1156.
- Balch, W.E., Fox, G.E., Magrum, L.J., Woese, C.R., and Wolfe, R.S. (1979) Methanogens: reevaluation of a unique biological group. *Microbiol Rev* 43: 260-296.
- Baross, J.A. (2007) *The Limits of Organic Life in Planetary Systems*. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Barton, H.A. (2006) Introduction to cave microbiology: a review for the non-specialist. *J Cave Karst Stud* **68**: 43-54.
- Barton, H.A., and Jurado, V. (2007) What's up down there? Microbial diversity in caves. *Microbe* **2**: 132-138.
- Barton, H.A., and Luiszer, F. (2005) Microbial metabolic structure in a sulfidic cave hot spring: potential mechanisms of biospeleogenesis. *J Cave Karst Stud* **67**: 28-38.
- Barton, H.A., and Northup, D.E. (2007) Geomicrobiology in cave environments: past, current and future perspectives. *J Cave Karst Stud* **69**: 163-178.
- Barton, H.A., and Pace, N.R. (2005) Discussion: persistent coliform contamination in Lechuguilla cave pools. *J Cave Karst Stud* 67: 55-57.
- Barton, H.A., Spear, J.R., and Pace, N.R. (2001) Microbial life in the underworld: biogenicity in secondary mineral formations. *Geomicrobiol J* 18: 359-368.
- Barton, H.A., Taylor, M.R., and Pace, N.R. (2004) Molecular phylogenetic analysis of a bacterial community in an oligotrophic cave environment. *Geomicrobiol J* **21**: 11-20.
- Barton, H.A., Taylor, N.M., Kreate, M.P., Springer, A.C., Oehrle, S.A., and Bertog, J.L. (2007) The impact of host rock geochemistry on bacterial community structure in oligotrophic cave environments. *Int J Speleol* **36**: 93-104.
- Barton, H.A., Taylor, N.M., Lubbers, B.R., and Pemberton, A.C. (2006) DNA extraction from lowbiomass carbonate rock: an improved method with reduced contamination and the low-biomass contaminant database. *J Microbiol Methods* **66**: 21-31.
- Bastian, F., Alabouvette, C., and Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2009) The impact of arthropods on fungal community structure in Lascaux Cave. *J Appl Microbiol* **106**: 1456-1462.
- Bastian, F., Alabouvette, C., Jurado, V., and Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2009) Impact of biocide treatements on the bacterial communities of the Lascaux Cave. *Naturwissenschaften* **96**: 863-868.
- Bastian, F., and Alabouvette, C. (2009) Lights and shadows on the conservation of a rock art cave: the case of Lascaux Cave. *Int J Speleol* **38**: 55-60.
- Bastian, F., Jurado, V., Nováková, A., Alabouvette, C., and Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2010) The microbiology of Lascaux Cave. *Microbiology* **156**: 644-652.

- Bernhard, A.E., and Field, K.G. (2000) A PCR assay to discriminate human and ruminant feces on the basis of host differences in *Bactreoides-Prevotella* genes encoding 16S rRNA. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 66: 4571-4574.
- Bernhard, A.E., and Field, K.G. (2000) Identification of nonpoint sources of fecal polluton in coatal waters by using host-specific 16S ribosomal DNA genetic markers from fecal anaerobes. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **66**: 1587-1594.
- Bhullar, K., Waglechner, N., Pawlowski A., Koteva, K., Banks, E.D., Johnston, M.D., *et al.* (2012) Antibiotic resistance is prevalent in an isolated cave microbiome. *PLoS ONE* **7**: e34953.
- Blehert, D.S., Lorch, J.M., Ballmann, A.E., Cryan, P.M., and Meteyer, C.U. (2011) Bat white-nose syndrome in North America. *Microbe* **6**: 267-273.
- Boogerd, F.C., and de Vrind, J.P.M. (1987) Manganese oxidation by *Leptothrix discophora*. *J Bacteriol* **169**: 489-494.
- Borodina, E., Kelly, D.P., Rainey, F.A., Ward-Rainey, N.L., and Wood, A.P. (2000) Dimethylsulfone as a growth substrate for novel methylotrophic species of *Hyphomicrobium* and *Arthrobacter*. Arch Microbiology 173: 425-437.
- Borodina, E., Kelly, D.P., Schumann, P., Rainey, F.A., Ward-Rainey, N.L., and Wood, A.P. (2002) Enzymes of dimethylsulfone metabolism and the phylogenetic characterization of the facultative methylotrophs *Arthrobacter sulfonivorans* sp. nov., *Arthrobacter methylotrophus* sp. nov., and *Hyphomicrobium sulfonivorans* sp. nov. *Arch Microbiology* **177**: 173-183.
- Boston, P.J., Hose, L.D., Northup, D.E., and Spilde, M.N. (2006) The microbial communities of sulfur caves: a newly appreciated geologically driven system on Earth and potential model for Mars. In *Perspectives on Karst Geomorphology, Hydrology, and Geochemistry*. Harmon, R.S., and Wicks, C.M. (eds). Boulder, Colorado: Geological Society of America, pp. 331-344.
- Boston, P.J., Spilde, M.N., Northup, D.E., Melim, L.A., Soroka, D.S., Kleina, L.G., *et al.* (2001) Cave biosignature suites: microbes, minerals, and Mars. *Astrobiology* **1**: 25-55.
- Boyer, D.G., and Kuczynska, E. (2003) Storm and seasonal distributions of fecal coliforms and *Cryptosporidium* in a spring. *J Am Water Res As* **39**: 1449-1456.
- Boyer, D.G., and Pasquarell, G.C. (1999) Agricultural land use impacts on bacterial water quality in karst groundwater aquifer. *J Am Water Res As* **35**: 291-300.
- Boynton, W.V., Ming, D.W., Kounaves, S.P., Young, S.M.M., Arvidson, R.E., Hecht, M.H. *et al.* (2009) Evidence for calcium carbonate at the Mars Phoenix landing site. *Science* **325**: 61-64.
- Bräuer, S.L., Yavitt, J.B., and Zinder, S.H. (2004) Methanogenesis in McLean Bog, an acidic peat bog in upstate New York: stimulation by H₂/CO₂ in the presence of rifampicin, or by low concentrations of acetate. *Geomicrobiol J* **21**: 433-443.
- Brock, T.D. (1981) Extreme thermophiles of the genera *Thermus* and *Sulfolobus*. In *The Prokaryotes: A Handbook on Habitats, Isolation, and Identification of Bacteria*. Starr, M.P., Stolp, H., Trüper, H.G., Balows, A., and Schlegel, H.G. (eds). Berlin; New York: Springer-Verlag, pp. 978-984.

Brock, T.D. (1985) Life at high-temperatures. Science 230: 132-138.

- Bromfield, S.M., and Skerman, V.B.D. (1950) Biological oxidation of manganese in soils. *Soil Sci* **69**: 337-347.
- Brosig, K., Geyer, T., Subah, A., and Sauter, M. (2008) Travel time based approach for the assessment of vulnerability of karst groundwater: the Transit Time Method. *Environ Geol* **54**: 905-911.
- Buecher, D.C., and Sidner, R.M. (1999) Bats of Kartchner Caverns State Park, Arizona. *J Cave Karst Stud* **61**: 102-107.
- Cadillo-Quiroz, H., Bräuer, S., Yashiro, E., Sun, C., Yavitt, J., and Zinder, S. (2006) Vertical profiles of methanogenesis and methanogens in two contrasting acidic peatlands in central New York State, USA. *Environ Microbiol* 8: 1428-1440.
- Cahyani, V.R., Murase, J., Ishibashi, E., Asakawa, S., and Kimura, M. (2009) Phylogenetic positions of Mn²⁺-oxidizing bacteria and fungi isolated from Mn nodules in rice field subsoils. *Biol Fertil Soil* **45**: 337-346.
- Campbell, J.W., Watson, A., Watson, C., Ball, H., and Pirkle, R. (2011) *Escherichia coli*, other coliform, and environmental chemoheterotrophic bacteria in isolated water pools from six caves in northern Alabama and northwestern Georgia. *J Cave Karst Stud* **73**: 75-82.
- Campbell, J.W., Woods, M., Ball, H.L., Pirkle, R.S., Carey, V., and Ray, C.H. (2011) Terrestrial macroinvertebrates captured with a baited ramp-pitfall trap from five limestone caves in North Alabama and Georgia (USA) and their association with soil organic matter. *J Nat Hist* **45**: 2645-2659.
- Cañaveras, J.C., Cuezva, S., Sanchez-Moral, S., Lario, J., Laiz, L., Gonzalez, J.M., and Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2006) On the origin of fiber calcite crystals in moonmilk deposits. *Naturwissenschaften* **93**: 27-32.
- Cañaveras, J.C., Hoyos, M., Sanchez-Moral, S., Sanz-Rubio, E., Bedoya, J., Soler, V., *et al.* (1999) Microbial communities associated with hydromagnesite and needle-fiber aragonite deposits in a karstic cave (Altamira, northern Spain). *Geomicrobiol J* **16**: 9-25.
- Cañaveras, J.C., Sanchez-Moral, S., Soler, V., and Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2001) Microorganisms and microbially induced fabrics in cave walls. *Geomicrobiol J* 18: 223-240.
- Cardinali-Rezende, J., Moraes, A.M.M., Colturato, L.F.D.B., Carneiro, E.V., Marriel, I.E., Chartone-Souza, E., and Nascimento, A.M.A. (2011) Phylogenetic and physiological characterization of organic waste-degrading bacterial communities. *World J Microbiol Biotechnol* 27: 245-252.

Carpenter, B., and Busch, L. (1993) Subterranean Blues. US News and World Report 115: 57-60.

Catling, D. (2004) On Earth, as it is on Mars? Nature 429: 707-708.

Caumartin, V. (1963) Review of the microbiology of underground environments. NSS Bulletin 25: 1-14.

- Chaban, B., Ng, S.Y.M., and Jarrell, K.F. (2006) Archaeal habitats-from the extreme to the ordinary. *Can J Microbiol* **52**: 73-116.
- Chelius, M.K., and Moore, J.C. (2004) Molecular phylogenetic analysis of *Archaea* and *Bacteria* in Wind Cave, South Dakota. *Geomicrobiol J* **21**: 123-134.
- Chelius, M.K., Beresford, G., Horton, H., Quirk, M., Selby, G., Simpson, R.T., et al. (2009) Impacts of alterations of organic inputs on the bacterial community within the sediments of Wind Cave, South Dakota, USA. Int J Speleol 38: 1-10.
- Chen, Y., Wu, L., Boden, R., Hillebrand, A., Kumaresan, D., Moussard, H., *et al.* (2009) Life without light: microbial diversity and evidence of sulfur- and ammonium-based chemolithotrophy in Movile Cave. *ISME J* **3**: 1093-1104.
- Christman, M.C., and Culver, D.C. (2001) The relationship between cave biodiversity and available habitat. *J Biogeogr* 28: 367-380.
- Chroňáková, A., Horák, A., Elhottová, D., and Krištůfek, V. (2009) Diverse archaeal community of a bat guano pile in Domica Cave (Slovak Karst, Slovakia). *Fol Microbiol* **54**: 436-446.
- Ciferri, O. (1999) Microbial degradation of paintings. Appl Environ Microbiol 65: 879-885.
- Coates, J.D., Ellis, D.J., Gaw, C.V., and Lovely, D.R. (1999) *Geothrix fermentans* gen. nov., sp. nov., a novel Fe(III)-reducing bacterium from a hydrocarbon-contaminated aquifer. *Int J Syst Bacteriol* **49**: 1615-1622.
- Coxon, C. (2011) Agriculture and karst. In *Karst Management*. van Beynen, P. (ed). New York: Springer, pp. 103-138.
- Cuezva, S., Sanchez-Moral, S., Saiz-Jimenez, C., and Cañaveras, C. (2009) Microbial communities and associated mineral fabrics in Altamira Cave, Spain. *Int J Speleol* **38**: 83-92.
- Culver, D.C., and Sket, B. (2000) Hotspots of subterranean biodiversity in caves in wells. *J Cave Karst Stud* 62: 11-17.
- Cummings, J.H. (1981) Short chain fatty acids in the human colon. *Gut* 22: 763-779.
- Cunningham, K.I., Northup, D.E., Pollastro, R.M., Wright, W.G., and Larock, E.J. (1995) Bacteria, fungi and biokarst in Lechuguilla Cave, Carlsbad-Caverns-National-Park, New-Mexico. *Environ Geol* **25**: 2-8.
- Curiale, M. (2004) MPN calculator version VB6. [WWW document]. URL www.i2workout.com/mcuriale/mpn/index.html.
- Curtis, T.P., and Sloan, W.T. (2005) Exploring microbial diversity- a vast below. *Science* **309**: 1331-1333.
- Daly, M.J., Gaidamakova, E., Matrosova, V., Vasilenko, A., Zhai, M., Venkateswaran, A., *et al.* (2004) Accumulation of Mn(II) in *Deinococcus radiodurans* facilitates gamma-radiation resistance. *Science* 306: 1025-1028.

- Dattagupta, S., Schaperdoth, I., Montanari, A., Mariani, S., Kita, N., Valley, J.W., and Macalady, J.L. (2009) A novel symbiosis between chemoautotrophic bacteria and a freshwater cave amphipod. *ISME J* **3**: 935-943.
- Davis, J.B., Coty, V.F., and Stanley, J.P. (1964) Atmospheric nitrogen fixation by methane-oxidizing bacteria. *J Bacteriol* **88**: 468-472.
- de los Ríos, A., Bustillo, M., Ascaso, C., and Carvalho, M.R. (2011) Bioconstructions in ocherous speleothems from lave tubes on Terceira Island (Azores). *Sediment Geol* **236**: 117-128.
- de Vrind, J.P.M., de Vrind-de Jong, E.W., de Voogt, J.-W.H., Westbroek, P., Boogerd, F.C., and Rosson, R.A. (1986) Manganese oxidation by spores and spore coats of a marine *Bacillus* species. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **52**: 1096-1100.
- DeLong, E.F. (1992) Archea in coastal marine environments. Proc Natl Acad Sci 89: 5685-5689.
- Dias, R., and Caniça, M. (2004) Emergence of invasive erythromycin-resistant *Streptococcus pneumoniae* strains in Portugal: contribution and phylogenetic relatedness of serotype 14. *J Antimicrob Chemother* **54**: 1035-1039.
- Dick, G.J., Lee, Y.E., and Tebo, B.M. (2006) Manganese(II)-oxidizing *Bacillus* spores in Guaymas Basin hydrothermal sediments and plumes. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **72**: 3184-3190.
- Dixon, G.B., and Zigler, K.S. (2011) Cave-obligate biodiversity on the campus of Sewanee: The University of the South, Franklin County, Tennessee. *Southeast Nat* **10**: 251-266.
- Dixon, J.B., and Skinner, H.C.W. (1992) Manganese minerals in surface environments. In *Biomineralization Processes of Iron and Manganese*. Skinner, H.C.W., and Fitzpatrick, R.W. (eds). Cremlingen, Germany: Catena Verlag, pp. 31-59.
- Donachie, S.P., Foster, J.S., and Brown, M.V. (2007) Culture clash: challenging the dogma of microbial diversity. *ISME J* 1: 97-102.
- Dooley, S.W., Jarvis, W.R., Marione, W.J., and Snider, D.E. (1992) Multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. Ann Intern Med 117: 257-259.
- Dorai-Raj, S., O'Grady, J., and Colleran, E. (2009) Specificity and sensitivity evaluation of novel and existing *Bacteroidales* and *Bifidobacteria*-specific PCR assays on feces and sewage samples and their application for microbial source tracking in Ireland. *Water Res* **43**: 4980-4988.
- Drew, D. (1996) Agriculturally induced environmental changes in Burren Karst, Western Ireland. *Environ Geol* 28: 137-144.
- Duckworth, O., Homstrom, S., Pena, J., Zacharias, E., and Sposito, G. (2007) Biogeochemistry of iron oxidation in a circumneutral freshwater habitat. In *American Geophysical Union Fall Meeting*. San Francisco, California: abstract #B22D-07.
- Dupont, J., Jacquet, C., Dennetière, B., Lacoste, S., Bousta, F., Orial, G., *et al.* (2007) Invasion of the French Paleolithic painted cave of Lascaux by members of the *Fusarium solani* species complex. *Mycol Helv* **99**: 526-533.

- Edwards, K.J., Bach, W., and McCollum, T.M. (2004) Neutrophilic iron-oxidizing bacteria in the ocean: their habitats, diversity, and roles in mineral deposition, rock alteration, and biomass production in the deep sea. *Geomicrobiol J* **21**: 393-404.
- Einen, J., Thorseth, I.H., and Øvreås, L. (2008) Enumeration of *Archaea* and *Bacteria* in seafloor basalt using real-time quantitative PCR and fluorsecence microscopy. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **282**: 182-187.
- Emerson, D., and Ghiorse, W.C. (1992) Isolation, cultural maintenance, and taxonomy of a sheathforming strain of *Leptothrix discophora* and characterization of manganese-oxidizing activity associated with the sheath. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **58**: 4001-4010.
- Emerson, D., and Moyer, C.L. (2002) Neutrophilic Fe-oxidizing bacteria are abundant at the Loihi Seamount hydrothermal vents and play a major role in Fe oxide deposition. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **68**: 3085-3093.
- Engel, A.S. (2007) Observations on the biodiversity of sulfidic karst habitats. *J Cave Karst Stud* **69**: 187-206.
- Engel, A.S., Lee, N., Porter, M.L., Stern, L.A., Bennett, P.C., and Wagner, M. (2003) Filamentous "Epsilonproteobacteria" dominate microbial mats from sulfidic cave springs. Appl Environ Microbiol 69: 5503-5511.
- Engel, A.S., Meisinger, D.B., Porter, M.L., Payn, R.A., Schmid, M., Stern, L.A., *et al.* (2010) Linking phylogenetic and functional diversity to nutrient spiraling in microbial mats from Lower Kane Cave (USA). *ISME J* **4**: 98-110.
- Engel, A.S., Porter, M.L., Kinkle, B.K., and Kane, T.C. (2001) Ecological assessment and geological significance of microbial communities from Cesspool Cave, Virginia. *Geomicrobiol J* 18: 259-274.
- Engel, A.S., Porter, M.L., Stern, L.A., Quinlan, S., and Bennett, P.C. (2004b) Bacterial diversity and ecosystem function of filamentous microbial mats from aphotic (cave) sulfidic springs dominated by chemolithoautotrophic "*Epsilonproteobacteria*". *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **51**: 31-53.
- Engel, A.S., Stern, L.A., and Bennett, P.C. (2004a) Microbial contributions to cave formation: New insights into sulfuric acid speleogenesis. *Geology* **32**: 369-372.
- Etiope, G., Oehler, D.Z., and Allen, C.C. (2010) Methane emissions from Earth's degassing: implications for Mars. *Planet Space Sci* **59**: 182-195.
- Faimon, J., Troppová, D., Baldík, V., and Novotný, R. (2011) Air circulation and its impact on microclimatic variables in the Císařská Cave (Moravian Karst, Czech Republic). Int. J. Climatol.:DOI: 10.1002/joc.2298.
- Farnleitner, A.H., Wilhartitz, I., Ryzinska, G., Kirschner, A.K.T., Stadler, H., Burtscher, M.M., *et al.* (2005) Bacterial dynamics inspring water of alpine karst aquifers indicates the presence of stable autochthonous microbial endokarst communities. *Environ Microbiol* 7: 1248-1259.
- Felsenstein, J. (2004) PHYLIP (Phylogeny Inference Package) version 3.68. Distributed by the author. Department of Genome Sciences, University of Washington, Seattle.

- Fendorf, S.E., and Zasoski, R.J. (1992) Chromium(III) oxidation by δ-MnO₂. *Environ Sci Technol* **26**: 79-85.
- Fernandez-Cortes, A., Cuezva, S., Sanchez-Moral, S., Cañaveras, C., Porea, E., Jurado, V., *et al.* (2011) Detection of human-induced environmental disturbances in a show cave. *Environ Sci Pollut R* 18: 1037-1045.
- Field, M.S. (2002) Development of a counterterrorism preparedness tool for evaluating risks to karstic spring water. In *Survey*, USGS (ed). Shepherdstown, West Virginia: USGS, pp. 20-29.
- Fierer, N., and Lennon, J.T. (2011) The generation and maintenance of diversity in microbial communities. *Am J Bot* **98**: 439-448.
- Fierer, N., Jackson, J.A., Vilgalys, R., and Jackson, R.B. (2005) Assessment of soil microbial community structure by use of taxon-specific quantitative PCR assays. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **71**: 4117-4120.
- Fierer, N., Nemergut, D.R., Knight, R., and Craine, J.M. (2010) Changes through time: integrating microorganisms into the study of succession. *Res Microbiol* **161**: 635-642.
- Flatow, I. "Antibiotic resistant gonorrhea found in Japan." *NPR Science Friday*. National Public Radio. WFDD, Winston-Salem. 15 July 2011. Radio.
- Florea, L.J., Noe-Stinson, C.L., Brewer, J., Fowler, R., Kearns, J.B., and Greco, A.M. (2011) Iron oxide and calcite associated with *Leptothrix* sp. biofilms within an estavelle in the upper Floridan aquifer. *Int J Speleol* **40**: 205-219.
- Fogel, G.B., Collins, C.R., Li, J., and Brunk, C.F. (1999) Prokaryotic genome size and SSU rDNA copy number: estimation of microbial relative abundance form a mixed population. *Microb Ecol* 38: 93-113.
- Fomina, M.A., Alexander, I.J., Colpaert, J.V., and Gadd, G.M. (2005) Solubilization of toxic metal minerals and metal tolerance of mycorrhizal fungi. *Soil Biol Biochem* **37**: 851-866.
- Fong, D.W. (2011) Managmenet of subterranean fauna in karst. In *Karst Managment*. van Beynen, P. (ed). New York: Springer, pp. 201-224.
- Ford, D. (2006) Karst geomorphology, caves, and cave deposits: a review of North American contributions during the past half century. In *Perspectives on Karst Geomorphology, Hydrology, and Geochemistry*. Harmon, R.S., and Wicks, C.M. (eds). Boulder, Colorado: Geological Society of America, pp. 1-13.
- Ford, D., and Williams, P.W. (1989) Karst Geomorphology and Hydrology. London, UK: Unwin Hyman Limited.
- Ford, T., and Mitchell, R. (1990) The ecology of microbial corrosion. Adv Microb Ecol 11: 231-262.
- Francis, C.A., and Tebo, B.M. (2002) Enzymatic manganese(II) oxidation by metabolically-dormant spores of diverse *Bacillus* species. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **68**: 874-880.

- Frierdich, A.J., Hasenmueller, E.A., and Catalano, J.G. (2011) Composition and structure of nanocrystalline Fe and Mn oxide cave deposits: Implications for trace element mobility in karst systems. *Chem Geol* 284: 82–96.
- Gadd, G.M. (2004) Microbial influence on metal mobility and application for bioremediation. *Geoderma* **122**: 109-119.
- Gadd, G.M. (2007) Geomycology: biogeochemical transformations of rocks, minerals, metals and radionuclides by fungi, bioweathering and bioremediation. *Mycol Res* **111**: 3-49.
- Gao, Y. (2011) Investigating sinkhole hazards and groundwater and surface water contaminations in the Southeastern Appalachian karst region. In 2011 GSA Annual Meeting. Minneapolis, MN: Geological Society of America.
- Gao, Y., Benfield, R., Jones, S., Burnham, T., and Gibson, N. (2006) Groundwater tracing in the Rockhouse Cave System, Carter County, Tennessee. In Sixteenth Tennessee Water Resources Symposium. Montgomery Bell State Park, Burns, Tennessee.
- Gao, Y., Gibson, N., Burnham, T., and Evanshen, B. (2006) Water chemistry and quality changes in the Rockhouse Cave System, Carter County, Tennessee. In Sixteenth Tennessee Water Resources Symposium. Montgomery Bell State Park, Burns, Tennessee.
- Gargas, A., Trest, M.T., Christensen, M., Volk, T.J., and Blehert, D.S. (2009) *Geomyces destructans* sp. nov. associated with bat white-nose syndrome. *Mycotaxon* **108**: 147-154.
- Gázquez, F., Calaforra, J.-M., Rull, F., Forti, P., and García-Casco, A. (2012) Organic matter of fossil origin in the amberine speleothems from El Soplao Cave (Cantabria, Northern Spain). *Int J Speleol* **41**: 113-123.
- Gebers, R., and Hirsch, P. (1978) Isolation and investigation of *Pedomicrobium* spp., heavy metaldepositing bacteria from soil habitats. In *Envrionmental Biogeochemistry and Geomicrobiology Volume 3: Methods, Metals, and Assessment.* Krumbein, W. (ed). Ann Arbor, MI: Ann Arbor Science Publishers Inc., pp. 911-922.
- Geszvain, K., and Tebo, B.M. (2010) Identification of a two-component regulatory pathway essential for Mn(II) oxidation in *Pseudomonas putida* GB-1. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **76**: 1224-1231.
- Ghiorse, W.C., and Ehrlich, H.L. (1992) Microbial biomineralization of iron and manganese. In Biomineralization Processes of Iron and Manganese: Modern and Ancient Environments.
 Skinner, H.C.W., and Fitzpatrick, R.W. (eds). Cremlingen-Destedt: Catena Verlag, pp. 75-99.
- Ghosal, D., Omelchenko, M.V., Gaidamakova, E.K., Matrosova, V.Y., Vasilenko, A., Venkateswaran, A., et al. (2005) How radiation kills cells: survival of *Deinococcus radiodurans* and *Shewanella* oneidensis under oxidative stress. FEMS Microbiol Rev 29: 361-375.
- Gillieson, D.S. (2011) Management of Caves. In *Karst Management*. van Beynen, P. (ed). New York: Springer, pp. 141-158.
- Glausiusz, J. (2007) Extreme culture. Nature 447: 905-906.

Glotch, T.D. (2010) Hidden martian carbonates. Nat Geosci 3: 745-746.

- Goeppert, N., and Goldscheider, N. (2011) Transport and variability of fecal bacteria in carbonate conglomerate aquifers. *Ground Water* **49**: 77-84.
- Gold, T. (1992) The deep, hot biosphere. Proc Natl Acad Sci 89: 6045-6049.
- Goldscheider, N., Hunkeler, D., and Rossi, P. (2006) Review: microbial biocenoses in pristine aquifers and an assessment of investigative methods. *Hydrogeol J* 14: 926-941.
- Gonzalez, J.M., Portillo, M.C., and Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2006) Metabolically active Crenarchaeota in Altamira Cave. *Naturwissenschaften* **93**: 42-45.
- Gorbushina, A.A. (2007) Life on the rocks. *Environ Microbiol* 9: 1613-1631.
- Gorbushina, A.A., Krumbein, W.E., and Volkmann, M. (2002) Rock surfaces as life indicators: new ways to demonstrate life and traces of former life. *Astrobiology* **2**: 203-213.
- Gradziński, M., Banaś, M., and Uchman, A. (1995) Biogenic origin of manganese flowstones from Jaskinia Czarna Cave, Tatra Mts., Western Carpathians. *Ann Soc Geol Pol* **65**: 19-27.
- Graening, G.O., and Brown, A.V. (2003) Ecosystem dynamics and pollution effects in an Ozark cave stream. *J Am Water Res As* **39**: 1497-1507.
- Green, R.T., Painter, S.L., Sun, A., and Worthington, S.R.H. (2006) Groundwater contamination in karst terranes. *Water, Air, Soil Pollut* **6**: 157-170.
- Grote, G., and Krumbein, W.E. (1992) Microbial precipitation of manganese by bacteria and fungi from desert rock and rock varnish. *Geomicrobiol J* **10**: 49-57.
- Grünke, S., Felden, J., Lichtschlag, A., Girnth, A.-C., De Beer, D., Wenzhöfer, F., and Boetius, A. (2011) Niche differentiation among mat-forming, sulfide-oxidizing bacteria at cold seeps of the Nile Deep Sea Fan (Eastern Mediterranean Sea). *Geobiol* 9: 330-348.
- Hara, S., Hashidoko, Y.H., Desyatkin, R.V., Hatano, R., and Tahara, S. (2009) High rate of N₂ fixation by East Siberian Cryophilic soil bacteria as determined by measuring acetylene reduction in Nitrogen-poor medium solidified with Gellan Gum. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **75**: 2811-2819.
- Hayashi, H., Sakamoto, M., and Benno, Y. (2002) Phylogenetic analysis of the human gut microbiota using 16S rDNA clone libraries and strictly anaerobic culture-based methods. *Microbiol Immunol* 46: 535-548.
- Hayashi, H., Shibata, K., Sakamoto, M., Tomita, S., and Benno, Y. (2007) *Prevotella copri*, sp. nov. and *Prevotella stercorea* sp. nov., isolated from human faeces. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* **57**: 941-946.
- Henckel, T., Friedrich, M., and Conrad, R. (1999) Molecular analyses of the methane-oxidizing microbial community in rice field soil by targeting the genes of the 16S rRNA, particulate methane monoxygenase, and methanol dehydrogenase. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **65**: 1980-1990.
- Hill, C.A. (1982) Origin of black deposits in caves. NSS Bulletin 44: 15-19.
- Hill, C.A. (1999) Mineralogy of Kartchner Caverns, Arizona. J Cave Karst Stud 61: 73-78.

Hill, C.A., and Forti, P. (1997) Cave Minerals of the World. Huntsville: National Speleological Society.

- Horner-Devine, M.C., Leibold, M.A., Smith, V.H., and Bohannan, B.J.M. (2003) Bacterial diversity patterns along a gradient of primary productivity. *Ecol Lett* **6**: 613-622.
- Horner-Devine, M.C., Silver, J.M., Leibold, M.A., Bohannan, B.J.M., Colwell, R.K., Fuhrman, J.A., *et al.* (2007) A comparison of taxon co-occurence patterns for macro- and microorganisms. *Ecology* 88: 1345-1353.
- Horrocks, R.D., and Szukalski, B.W. (2002) Using geographic information systems to develop a cave potential map for Wind Cave, South Dakota. *J Cave Karst Stud* **64**: 63-70.
- Hou, Y., Zhang, H., Miranda, L., and Lin, S. (2010) Serious overestimiton in quantitative PCR by circular (supercoiled) plasmid standard: microalgal *pcna* as the model gene. *PLoS One* **5**: e9545.
- Hoyos, M., Soler, V., Cañaveras, J.C., Sánchez-Moral, S., and Sanz-Rubio, E. (1998) Microclimatic characterization of a karstic cave: human impact on microenvironmental parameters of a prehistoric rock art cave (Candamo Cave, northern Spain). *Environ Geol* **33**: 231-242.
- Hu, Y., Qi, S., Zhang, J., Tan, L., Zhang, J., Wang, Y., and Yuan, D. (2011) Assessment of organochlorine pesticides contamination in underground rivers in Chongqing, Southwest China. J Geochem Explor 111: 47-55.
- Huber, J.A., Welch, D.B.M., Morrison, H.G., Huse, S.M., Neal, P.R., Butterfield, D.A., and Sogin, M.L. (2007) Microbial population structures in the deep marine biosphere. *Science* **318**: 97-100.
- Humphreys, W.F. (2011) Management of groundwater species in karst environments. In *Karst Management*. van Beynen, P. (ed). New York: Springer, pp. 283-318.
- Hunter, A.J., Northup, D.E., Dahm, C.N., and Boston, P.J. (2004) Persistent coliform contamination in Lechuguilla cave pools. *J Cave Karst Stud* **66**: 102-110.
- Huppert, G.N. (1995) Legal protection for caves in the United States. Environ Geol 26: 121-123.
- Hurowitz, J.A., Fischer, W.W., Tosca, N.J., and Milliken, R.E. (2010) Origin of acidic surface waters and the evolution of atmospheric chemistry on early Mars. *Nat Geosci* **3**: 323-326.
- Hutchens, E., Radajewski, S., Dumont, M.G., McDonald, I.R., and Murrell, J.C. (2004) Analysis of methanotrophic bacteria in Movile Cave by stable isotope probing. *Environ Microbiol* 6: 111-120.
- Iker, B.C., Kambesis, P., Oehrle, S.A., Groves, C., and Barton, H.A. (2010) Microbial atrazine breakdown in a karst groundwater system and its effect. *J Environ Qual* **39**: 508-518.
- Ikner, L.A., Toomey, R.S., Nolan, G., Neilson, J.W., Pryor, B.M., and Maier, R.M. (2007) Culturable microbial diversity and the impact of tourism in Kartchner Caverns, Arizona. *Microb Ecol* 53: 30-42.
- Infectious Disease Society of America (2011) Combating antimicrobial resistance: policy recommendations to save lives. *Clin Infect Dis* **52**: S397-S428.

- Johnson, K., Carmichael, M.J., McDonald, W., Rose, N., Windelspecht, M., Pitchford, J., et al. (2012) Increased abundace of Gallionella spp., Leptothrix spp. and total bacteria in response to enhanced Mn and Fe concentrations in a disturbed southern Appalachian high elevation wetland. Geomicrobiol J 29: 124-138.
- Johnson, M., Zaretskaya, I., Raytselis, Y., Merezhuk, Y., McGinnis, S., and Madden, T.L. (2008) NCBI BLAST: a better web interface. *Nucleic Acids Res* **36**: W5-W9.
- Jones, B. (2001) Microbial activity in caves A geological perspective. Geomicrobiol J 18: 345-357.
- Jones, D.S., Albrecht, H.L., Dawson, K.S., Schaperdoth, I., Freeman, K.H., Pi, Y., et al. (2011) Community genomic analysis of an extremely acidophilic sulfur-oxidizing biofilm. ISME J: doi:10.1038/ismej.2011.75.
- Jones, S.E., and Lennon, J.T. (2010) Dormancy contributes to the maintenance of microbial diversity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* **107**: 5881-5886.
- Ju-Yong, J., Park, H.-D., Lee, K.-H., Hwang, J.-H., and Ka, J.-O. (2010) Quantitative analysis of humanand cow-specific 16S rRNA gene markers for assessment of fecal pollution in river waters by Real-Time PCR. J Microbiol Biotechnol 20: 245-253.
- Kageyama, A., Morisaki, K., Ōmura, S., and Takahashi, Y. (2008) *Arthrobacter oryzae* sp. nov. and *Arthrobacter humicola* sp. nov. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* **58**: 53-56.
- Kanehisa, M., Goto, S., Kawashima, S., and Nakaya, A. (2002) The KEGG databases at GenomeNet. *Nucleic Acids Res* **30**: 42-46.
- Kay, J., Conklin, M., Fuller, C., and O'Day, P. (2001) Processes of nickel and cobalt uptake by a manganese oxide forming sediment in Pinal Creek, Globe Mining District, Arizona. *Environ Sci Technol* 35: 4719-4625.
- Keuth, S., and Rehm, H.-J. (1991) Biodegradation of phenanthrene by *Arthrobacter polychromogenes* isolated from a contaminated soil. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **34**: 804-808.
- Kimura, S., Bryan, C.G., Hallberg, K.B., and Johnson, D.B. (2011) Biodiversity and geochemistry of an extremely acidic, low-temperature subterranean environment sustained by chemolithotrophy. *Environ Microbiol* **13**: 2092-2104.
- Klappenbach, J.A., Dunbar, J.M., and Schmidt, T.M. (2000) rRNA operon copy number reflects ecological strategies of bacteria. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **66**: 1328-1333.
- Klappenbach, J.A., Saxman, P.R., Cole, J.R., and Schmidt, T.M. (2001) rrndb: the Ribosomal RNA Operon Copy Number Database. *Nucleic Acids Res* **29**: 181-184.
- Klein, D.A. (2011) Bulk extraction-based microbial ecology: Three critical questions. *Microbe* 6: 377.
- Kobayashi, T., Koide, O., Mori, K., Shimamura, S., Matsuura, T., Miura, T., *et al.* (2008) Phylogenetic and enzymatic diversity of deep subseafloor aerobic microorganisms in organics- and methane-rich sediments off Shimokita Peninsula. *Extremophiles* **12**: 519-527.

- Koch, A.L. (1997) Microbial physiology and ecology of slow growth. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* **61**: 305-318.
- Komatsu, G., Di Achille, G., Popa, C., Di Lorenzo, S., Rossi, A.P., and Rodriguez, J.A.P. (2009) Paleolakes, paleofloods, and depressions in Aurorae and Ophir Plana, Mars: connectivity of surface and subsurface hydrological systems. *Icarus* 201: 474-491.
- Kozar, M.D. (2002) Synopsis of karst investigations conducted in Jefferson and Berkeley Counties, West Virginia, by the U.S. Geological Survey, West Virginia District. USGS (ed). Charleston, WV.
- Krumbein, W.E., and Altmann, H.J. (1973) A new method for the detection and enumeration of manganese oxidizing and reducing microorganisms. *Helgölander Wissenschaftlichen Untersuchungen* 25: 347-356.
- Krumbein, W.E., and Jens, K. (1981) Biogenic rock varnishes of the Negev Desert (Israel) an ecological study of iron and manganese transformation by cyanobacteria and fungi. *Oecologia* **50**: 25-38.
- Kuczynski, J., and Knight, R. (2011) Analytic strategies for understanding host-associated microbial communities. *Microbe* **6**: 389-394.
- Kuczynski, J., Liu, Z., Lozupone, C., McDonald, D., Fierer, N., and Knight, R. (2010) Microbial community resemblance methods differ in their ability to detect biologically relevant patterns. *Nat Meth* **7**: 813-819.
- Laiz, L., Groth, I., Schumann, P., Zezza, F., Felske, A., Hermosin, B., and Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2000) Microbiology of the stalactites from Grotta dei Cervi, Porto Badisco, Italy. *International Journal* of Microbiology 3: 25-30.
- Laiz, L., Pinar, G., Lubitz, W., and Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2003) Monitoring the colonization of monuments by bacteria: cultivation versus molecular methods. *Environ Microbiol* **5**: 72-74.
- Lamendella, R., Santo Domingo, J.W., Oerther, D.B., Vogel, J.R., and Stoeckel, D.M. (2007) Assessment of fecal pollution sources in a small northern-plains watershed using PCR and phylogenetic analyses of *Bacteroidetes* 16S rRNA gene. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **59**: 651-660.
- Lamendella, R., Santo Domingo, J.W., Yannarell, A.C., Ghosh, S., Di Giovanni, G., Mackie, R.I., and Oerther, D.B. (2009) Evaluation of swine-specific PCR assays used for fecal source tracking and analysis of molecular diversity of swine-specific "*Bacteroidales*" populations. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **75**: 5787-5796.
- Lane, D.J. (1991) 16S and 23S rRNA sequencing. In *Nucleic Acid Techniques in Bacterial Systematics*. Stackebrandt, E., and Goodfellow, M. (eds). New York: John Wiley, pp. 115-148.
- Larsen, E.I., Sly, L.I., and McEwan, A.G. (1999) Manganese(II) adsorption and oxidation by whole cells and a membrane fraction of *Pedomicrobium* sp. ACM 3067. *Arch Microbiol* **171**: 257-264.
- Lavoie, K.H., and Northup, D.E. (2005) Bacteria as indicators of human impact in caves. 2005 National Cave and Karst Management Symposium: 40-47.
- Learman, D.R., Voelker, B.M., Vazquez-Rodriguez, A.I., and Hansel, C.M. (2011a) Formation of manganese oxides by bacterially generated superoxide. *Nat Geosci* **4**: 95-98.

- Learman, D.R., Wankel, S.D., Webb, S.M., Martinez, N., Madden, A.S., and Hansel, C.M. (2011b) Coupled biotic-abiotic Mn(II) oxidation pathway mediates the formation and structural evolution of biogenic Mn oxides. *Geochim Cosmochim Acta* **75**: 6048–6063.
- Lefèvre, E., Jobard, M., Venisse, J.-S., Bec, A., Kagami, M., Amblard, C., and Sime-Ngando (2010) Development of a real-time PCR assay for quantitative assessment of uncultured freshwater zoosporic fungi. *J Microbiol Methods* **81**: 69-76.
- Lennon, J.T., and Cottingham, K.L. (2008) Microbial productivity in variable resource environments. *Ecology* **89**: 1001-1014.
- Lennon, J.T., and Jones, S.E. (2011) Microbial seed banks: the ecological and evolutionary implications of dormancy. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **9**: 119-130.
- Levering, P.R., van Dijken, J.P., Veenhuis, M., and Harder, W. (1981) *Arthrobacter* P1, a fast growing versatile methylotroph with amine oxidase as a key enzyme for the metabolism of methylated amines. *Arch Microbiol* **129**: 72-80.
- Levy, D.B. (2007) Geochemical trends in selected Lechuguilla Cave pools. J Cave Karst Stud 69: 342-350.
- Levy, D.B. (2007) Oxidation-reduction chemistry of Lechuguilla Cave seepage. *J Cave Karst Stud* **69**: 351-358.
- Ley, R.E., Turnbaugh, P.J., Klein, S., and Gordon, J.I. (2006) Human gut microbes associated with obesity. *Nature* **444**: 1022-1023.
- Link, D.D., Walter, P.J., and Kingston, H.M. (1998) Development and validation of the new EPA microwave-assiste leach method 3051A. *Environ Sci Technol* **32**: 3628-3632
- Llirós, M., Casamayor, E.O., and Borrego, C. (2008) High archaeal richness in the water column of a freshwater sulfurous karstic lake along an interannual study. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **66**: 331-342.
- Lovely, D.R. (1991) Dissimilatory Fe(III) and Mn(IV) reduction. *Microbiol Rev* 55: 259-287.
- Lovely, D.R., Holmes, D.E., and Nevin, K.P. (2004) Dissimilatory Fe(III) and Mn(IV) reduction. *Adv Microb Physiol* **49**: 219-286.
- Ludwig, W., Strunk, O., Westram, R., Richter, L., Yadhukumar, H.M., Buchner, A., *et al.* (2004) ARB: a software environment for sequence data. *Nucleic Acids Res* **32**: 1363-1371.
- Lueders, T., and Friedrich, M. (2000) Archaeal population dynamics during sequential reduction processes in rice field soil. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **66**: 2732-2742.
- Lumsden, D.N., and Caudle, G.C. (2001) Origin of massive dolostone: the upper Knox model. *J Sediment Res* **71**: 400-409.
- Macalady, J.L., Dattagupta, S., Schaperdoth, I., Jones, D.S., Druschel, G.K., and Eastman, D. (2008) Niche differentiation among sulfur-oxidizing bacterial populations in cave waters. *ISME J* **2**: 590-601.

112

- Macalady, J.L., Jones, D.S., and Lyon, E.H. (2007) Extremely acidic, pendulous cave wall biofilms from the Frasassi cave system, Italy. *Environ Microbiol* **9**: 1402-1414.
- Macalady, J.L., Lyon, E.H., Koffman, B., Albertson, L.K., Meyer, K., Galdenzi, S., and Mariani, S. (2006) Dominant microbial Populations in limestone-corroding stream biofilms, Frasassi cave system, Italy. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 72: 5596-5609.
- Madhaiyan, M., Poonguzhali, S., Lee, J.-S., Lee, K.C., and Sundaram, S. (2010) *Flavobacterium glycines* sp. nov., a facultative methylotroph isolated from the rhizosphere of soybean. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* **60**: 2187-2192.
- Mahler, B.J., Personné, J.C., Lods, G.F., and Drogue, C. (2000) Transport of free and particulateassociated bacteria in karst. *J Hydrol* 238: 179-193.
- Manceau, A., N., Tamura, M.A., MacDowell, M.A., Celestre, R.S., Soblett, R.E., Sposito, G., and Padmore, H.A. (2002) Deciphering Ni sequestration in soil ferromanganese modules by combining X-ray fluorescence, absorption, and diffraction at micrometer scales of resolution. Am Mineral 87: 1494-1499.
- Marchesi, J.R., Weightman, A.J., Cragg, B.A., Parkes, R.J., and Fry, J.C. (2001) Methanogen and bacterial diversity and distribution in deep gas hydrate sediments from Cascadia Margin as revealed by 16S rRNA molecular analysis. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **34**: 221-228.
- McDonald, I.R., Radajewski, S., and Murrell, J.C. (2005) Stable isotope probing of nucleic acids in methanotrophs and methylotrophs: a review. *Org Geochem* **36**: 779-787.
- Meisinger, D.B., Zimmermann, J., Ludwig, W., Schleifer, K.H., Wanner, G., Schmid, M., *et al.* (2007) *In situ* detection of novel *Acidobacteria* in microbial mats from a chemolithoautotrophically based cave ecosystem (Lower Kane Cave, WY, USA). *Environ Microbiol* **9**: 1523-1534.
- Melim, L.A., Shinglman, K.M., Boston, P.J., Northup, D.E., Spilde, M.N., and Queen, J.M. (2001) Evidence for microbial involvement in pool finger precipitation, Hidden Cave, New Mexico. *Geomicrobiol J* 18: 311-329.
- Michalski, J.R., and Niles, P.B. (2010) Deep crustal carbonate rocks exposed by meteor impact on Mars. *Nat Geosci* **3**: 751-755.
- Mikell Jr., A.T., Smith, C.L., and Richardson, J.C. (1996) Evaluation of media and techniques to enumerate heterotrophic microbes from karst and sand aquifers. *Microb Ecol* **31**: 115-124.
- Miyata, N., Maruo, K., Tani, Y., Tsuno, H., Seyama, H., Soma, M., and Iwahori, K. (2006) Production of biogenic manganese oxides by anamorphic Ascomycete fungi isolated from streambed pebbles. *Geomicrobiol J* 23: 63-73.
- Miyata, N., Tani, Y., Iwahori, K., and Soma, M. (2003) Enzymatic formation of manganese oxides by an *Acremonium*-like hyphomycete fungus, strain KR21-2. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **47**: 101-109.
- Mohandas, S. (1988) Nitrogen fixation in tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill 'Pusa Ruby'). *Plant Soil* **107**: 219-225.

- Montañez, I.P. (1994) Late diagenetic dolomitization of the Lower Ordovician, Upper Knox Carbonates: a record of the hydrodynamic evolution of the southern Appalachian Basin. *AAPG Bull* **78**: 1210-1239.
- Moore, G.W. (1981) Manganese deposition in limestone caves. In *Proceedings of the International Congress of Speleology; a Meeting of the International Union of Speleology*, pp. 642-645.
- Morii, H., Nishihara, M., and Koga, Y. (1983) Isolation, characterization and physiology of a new formate-assimilable methanogenic strain (A2) of *Methanobrevibacter arboriphilus*. Agric Biol Chem 47: 2781-2789.
- Morris, S.A., Radajewski, S., Willison, T.W., and Murrell, J.C. (2002) Identification of the functionally active methanotroph population in a peat soil microcosm by stable-isotope probing. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **68**: 1446-1453.
- Mulec, J., Krištůfek, V., and Chroňáková, A. (2012) Comparative microbial sampling from eutrophic caves in Slovenia and Slovakia using RIDA(R) COUNT test kits. *Int J Speleol* **41**: 1-8.
- Mumma, M.J., Villanueva, G.L., Novak, R.E., Hewagama, T., Bonev, B.P., DiSanti, M.A., *et al.* (2009) Strong release of methane on Mars in Northern Summer 2003. *Science* **323**: 1041-1045.
- Murrell, J.C., McDonald, I.R., and Bourne, D.G. (1998) Molecular methods for the study of methanotroph ecology. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 27: 103-114.
- Nadkarni, M.A., Martin, F.E., Jacques, N.A., and Hunter, N. (2002) Determination of bacterial load by real-time PCR using a broad-range (universal) probe and primers set. *Microbology* **148**: 257-266.
- Nealson, K.H. (1978) The isolation and characterization of marine bacteria which catalyze manganese oxidation. In *Environmental Biogeochemistry and Geomicrobiology Volume 3: Methods, Metals* and Assessment. Krumbein, W.E. (ed). Ann Arbor, MI: Ann Arbor Science Publishers Inc., pp. 847-858.
- Nealson, K.H., Tebo, B.M., and Rosson, R.A. (1988) Occurrence and mechanisms of microbial oxidation of manganese. *Adv Appl Microbiol* **33**: 279-318.
- Nelson, Y.M., Lion, L.W., Ghiorse, W.C., and Shuler, M.L. (1999a) Production of biogenic Mn oxides by *Leptothrix discophora* SS-1 in a chemically defined growth medium and evaluation of their Pb adsorption characteristics. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 65: 175-180.
- Nelson, Y.M., Lion, L.W., Shuler, M.L., and Ghiorse, W.C. (1999b) Lead binding to metal oxide and organic phases of natural aquatic biofilms. *Limnol Oceanogr* **4**: 1715-1729.
- Nichols, D., Cahoon, N., Trakhtenberg, E.M., Pham, L., Mehta, A., Belanger, A., *et al.* (2010) Use of Ichip for high-throughput *in situ* cultivation of "Uncultivable" microbial species. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **76**: 2445-2450.
- Nichols, D., Lewis, K., Orjala, J., Mo, S., Ortenberg, R., O'Connor, P., *et al.* (2008) Short peptide induces an "Uncultivable" microorganism to grow in vitro. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **74**: 4889-4897.

- Nitahara, S., Kato, S., Urabe, T., Usui, A., and Yamagishi, A. (2011) Molecular characterization of the microbial community in hydrogenetic ferromanganese crusts of the Takuyo-Daigo Seamount, northwest Pacific. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **321**: 121-129.
- Northup, D.E. (2011) Managing microbial communities in caves. In *Karst Management*. van Beynen, P. (ed). New York: Springer, pp. 225-240.
- Northup, D.E., and Lavoie, K.H. (2001) Geomicrobiology of caves: a review. *Geomicrobiol J* 18: 199-222.
- Northup, D.E., Barns, S.M., Yu, L.E., Spilde, M.N., Schelble, R.T., Dano, K.E., *et al.* (2003) Diverse microbial communities inhabiting ferromanganese deposits in Lechuguilla and Spider Caves. *Environ Microbiol* **5**: 1071-1086.
- Northup, D.E., Beck, K.M., and Mallory, L.M. (1997) Human impact on the microbial communities of Lechuguilla cave: is protection possible during active exploration? *J Cave Karst Stud* **59**: 166.
- Northup, D.E., Dahm, C.N., Melim, L.A., Spilde, M.N., Crossey, L.J., Lavoie, K.H., *et al.* (2000) Evidence for geomicrobiological interactions in Guadalupe Caves. *J Cave Karst Stud* **62**: 80-90.
- Northup, D.E., Melim, L.A., Spilde, M.N., Hathaway, J.J.M., Garcia, M.G., Moya, M., *et al.* (2011) Lava cave micobial communities within mats and secondary mineral deposits: implications for life detection on other planets. *Astrobiology* **11**: 1-18.
- Northup, D.E., Reysenbach, A.-L., and Pace, N.R. (1997) Microorganisms and speleothems. In *Cave Minerals of the World*. Hill, C., and Forti, P. (eds): National Speleological Society, pp. 261-266.
- Northup, D.E., Snider, J.R., Spilde, M.N., Porter, M.L., van de Kamp, J.L., Boston, P.J., *et al.* (2010) Diversity of rock varnish bacterial communities from Black Canyon, New Mexico. *J Geophys Res* **115**: doi:10.1029/2009JG001107.
- Northup, D.E., Spilde, M.N., Boston, P.J., Crossey, L.J., and Dahm, C.N. (2004) Microbial mineral formation in cave ferromanganese deposits. In *American Chemical Society Meeting*.
- Noskin, G.A. (2001) Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* and vancomycin-resistant enterococci: emerging problems and new prospects for management. *Ann Acad Med Singapore* **30**: 320-331.
- Oder, C.R.L. (1934) Preliminary subdivision of the knox dolomite in East Tennessee. J Geol 42: 469-497.
- Ohms, R., and Reece, M. (2002) Using GIS to manage two large cave systems, Wind and Jewel Caves, South Dakota. *J Cave Karst Stud* **64:**4-8.
- Onac, B.P., and Forti, P. (2011) State of the art and challenges in cave mineral studies. *Studia UBB Geologia* **56**: 29-38.
- Onac, B.P., Pedersen, R.B., and Tysseland, M. (1997) Presence of rare-earth elements in black ferromanganese coatings from Vântului Cave (Romania). *J Cave Karst Stud* **59**: 128-131.
- Onaga, L. (2001) Cashing in on nature's pharmacy bioprospecting and protection of biodiversity could go hand in hand. *EMBO Rep* **2**: 263-265.

- Orphan, V.J., Taylor, L.T., Hafenbradl, D., and DeLong, E.F. (2000) Culture-dependent and cultureindependent characterization of microbial assemblages associated with high-temperature petroleum reservoirs. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **66**: 700-711.
- Pace, N.R. (1997) A molecular view of microbial diversity and the biosphere. Science 276: 734-740.
- Palmer, A.N. (1991) Origin and morphology of limestone caves. Geol Soc Am Bull 103: 1-21.
- Peck, S.B. (1986) Bacterial deposition of iron and manganese oxides in North American caves. *NSS Bulletin* **48**: 26-30.
- Pedersen, K. (2000) Exploration of deep intraterrestrial microbial life: current perspectives. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **185**: 9-16.
- Peleg, A.Y., and Hooper, D.C. (2010) Hospital-acquired infections due to gram-negative bacteria. *New Engl J Med* **362**: 1804-1813.
- Perl, T.M. (1999) The threat of vancomycin resistance. Am J Med 106: 26S-37S.
- Personné, J.C., Poty, F., Mahler, B.J., and Drogue, C. (2004) Colonization by aerobic bacteria in karst: laboratory and in situ experiments. *Ground Water* **42**: 526-533.
- Podnos, Y.D., Cinat, M.E., Wilson, S.E., Cooke, J., Gornick, W., and Thrupp, L.D. (2001) Eradication of multi-drug resistant *Acinetobacter* from an intensive care unit. *Surgical Infections* **2**: 297-301.
- Porter, M.L. (2007) Subterranean biogeography: what have we learned from molecular techniques?. *J Cave Karst Stud* **69**: 179-186.
- Porter, M.L., Engel, A.S., Kane, T.C., and Kinkle, B.K. (2009) Productivity-diversity relationships from chemolithoautotrophically based sulfidic karst systems. *Int J Speleol* **38**: 27-40.
- Portillo, M.C., and Gonzalez, J.M. (2009) Sulfate-reducing bacteria are common members of bacterial communities in Altamira Cave (Spain). *Sci Total Environ* **407**: 1114-1122.
- Portillo, M.C., and Gonzalez, J.M. (2010) Differential effects of distinct bacterial biofilms in a cave environment. *Current Topics in Microbiology* **60**: 435-438.
- Portillo, M.C., Gonzalez, J.M., and Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2008) Metabolically active microbial communities of yellow and grey colonizations on the walls of Altamira Cave, Spain. *J Appl Microbiol* **104**: 681-691.
- Portillo, M.C., Porca, E., Cuezva, S., Cañaveras, C., Sanchez-Moral, S., and Gonzalez, J.M. (2009) Is the availability of different nutrients a critical factor for the impact of bacteria on subterraneous carbon budgets? *Naturwissenschaften* 96: 1035-1042.
- Post, J.E. (1999) Manganese oxide minerals: crystal structures and economic and environmental significance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* **96**: 3447-3454.
- Postgate, J. (1992) Microbes and Man. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Poulson, T.L., and White, W.B. (1969) The cave environment. Science 165: 971-981.

- Pronk, M., Goldscheider, N., and Zopfi, J. (2007) Particle-size distirbution as indicator for fecal bacteria contamination of drinking water from karst springs. *Environ Sci Technol* **41**: 8400-8405.
- Pronk, M., Goldscheider, N., and Zopfi, J. (2009) Microbial communities in karst groundwater and their potential use for biomonitoring. *Hydrogeol J* **17**: 37-48.
- Provencio, P.P., and Polyak, V.J. (2001) Iron oxide-rich filaments: possible fossil bacteria in Lechuguilla Cave, New Mexico. *Geomicrobiol J* 18: 297-309.
- Pruesse, E., Quast, C., Knittel, K., Fuchs, B.M., Ludwig, W., Peplies, J., and Glöckner, F. (2007) SILVA: a comprehensive online resource for quality checked and aligned ribosomal RNA sequence data compatible with ARB. *Nucleic Acids Res* **35**: 7188-7196.
- Rappé, M.S., and Giovannoni, S.J. (2003) The uncultured microbial majority. *Annu Rev Microbiol* **57**: 369-394.
- Reischer, G.H., Kasper, D.C., Steinborn, R., Farnleitner, A.H., and Mach, R.L. (2007) A quantitative realtime PCR assay for the highly sensitive and specific detection of human faecal influence in spring water from a large alpine catchment area. *Lett Appl Microbiol* **44**: 351-356.
- Ritz, K. (2007) The Plate Debate: cultivable communities have no utility in contemporary environmental microbial ecology. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **60**: 358-362.
- Roble, L.A., Carmichael, S.K., Santelli, C., and Brauer, S.L. (2011) Mn oxide biomineralization by fungi in Southern Appalachian Caves. In *2011 GSA Annual Meeting* Minneapolis, MN.
- Roslev, P., and Bukh, A.S. (2011) State of the art molecular markers for fecal pollution source tracking in water. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **89**: 1341-1355.
- Rossi, C., Lozano, R.P., Isanta, N., and Hellstrom, J. (2010) Manganese stromatolites in caves: El Soplao (Cantabria, Spain). *Geology* **38**: 1119-1122.
- Rossmassler, K., Engel, A.S., Twing, K.I., Hanson, T.E., and Campbell, B.J. (2012) Drivers of *Episilonproteobacterial* community composition in sulfidic caves and springs. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **79**: 421–432.
- Roth, J.R. (1993) Preserving biodiversity in caves. Wild Earth 3: 32-33.
- Rule, D., Sadoway, T., Moote, P., Watson, K., Soliman, L., Donkor, K., et al. (2011) Cures from caves: cave microbiomes and their potential for drug discovery. In 111th General Meeting of the American Society for Microbiology. New Orleans, LA.
- Rusterholz, K.J., and Mallory, L.M. (1994) Density, activity, and diversity of bacteria to a karstic aquifer. *Microb Ecol* 28: 79-99.

- Sadoway, T., and Cheeptham, N. (2011) Susceptibility of three drug-resistant, gram-negative pathogens to antimicrobial compounds produced by cave Actinomycetes. In *111th Annual Meeting of the American Socitey for Microbiology*. New Orleans, LA.
- Saiz-Jimenez, C., Cuezva, S., Jurado, V., Fernandez-Cortes, A., Porca, E., Benavente, D., *et al.* (2011) Paleolithic art in peril: policy and science collide at Altamira cave. *Science* **334**: 42-43.
- Santelli, C., Pfister, D., Lazarus, D., Sun, L., Burgos, W., and Hansel, C. (2010) Promotion of Mn(II) Oxidation and Remediation of Coal Mine Drainage in Passive Treatment Systems by Diverse Fungal and Bacterial Communities. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **76**: 4871-4875.
- Santelli, C., Webb, S.M., Dohnalkova, A., and Hansel, C. (2011) Diversity of Mn oxides produced by Mn(II)-oxidizing fungi. *Geochim Cosmochim Acta* **75**: 2762-2776.
- Sarbu, S.M., Kane, T.C., and Kinkle, B.K. (1996) A chemoautotrophically based cave ecosystem. *Science* **272**: 1953-1955.
- Savant, D.V., Shouche, Y.S., Prakash, S., and Ranade, D.R. (2002) *Methanobrevibacter acididurans* sp. nov., a novel methanogen from a sour anaerobic digester. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* **52**: 1081-1087.
- Schabereiter-Gurtner, C., Saiz-Jimenez, C., Piñar, G., Lubitz, W., and Rölleke, S. (2002a) Phylogenetic 16S rRNA analysis reveals the presence of complex and partly unknown bacterial communities in Tito Bustillo cave, Spain, and on its Palaeolithic paintings. *Environ Microbiol* 4: 392-400.
- Schabereiter-Gurtner, C., Saiz-Jimenez, C., Piñar, G., Lubitz, W., and Rölleke, S. (2002b) Altamira cave Paleolithic paintings harbor partly unknown bacterial communities. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **211**: 7-11.
- Schabereiter-Gurtner, C., Saiz-Jimenez, C., Piñar, G., Lubitz, W., and Rölleke, S. (2004) Phylogenetic diversity of bacteria associated with Paleolithic paintings and surrounding rock walls in two Spanish caves (Llonin and La Garma). *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 47: 235-247.
- Schelble, R.T., McDonald, G.D., Hall, J.A., and Nealson, K.H. (2005) Community structure comparison using FAME analysis of desert varnish and soil, Mojave desert, California. *Geomicrobiol J* 22: 353-360.
- Schloss, P.D., and Handelsman, J. (2005) Introducing DOTUR, a computer program for defining operational taxonomic units and estimating species richness. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 71: 1501-1506.
- Schmidt, F.R. (2004) The challenge of multidrug resistance: actual strategies in the development of novel antibacterials. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **63**: 335-343.
- Schweisfurth, R., Eleftheriadis, D., Gundlach, H., Jacobs, M., and Jung, W. (1978) Microbiology of the precipitation of manganese. In *Environmental Biogeochemistry and Geomicrobiology Volume 3: Methods, Metals, and Assessment.* Krumbein, W. (ed). Ann Arbor, MI: Ann Arbor Science Publishers Inc., pp. 923-928.

- Scott, T.M., Jenkins, T.M., Lukasik, J.O., and Rose, J.B. (2005) Potential use of a host associated molecular marker in *Enterococcus faecium* as an index of human fecal pollution. *Environ Sci Technol* 39: 283-287.
- Sebaihia, M., Wren, B.W., Mullany, P., Fairweather, N.F., Minton, N., Stabler, R., et al. (2006) The multdrug-resistant human pathogen *Clostridium difficile* has a highly mobile, mosaic genome. *Nat Genet* 38: 779-786.
- Shabarova, T., and Pernthaler, J. (2010) Karst pools in subsurface environments: collectors of microbial diversity or temporary residence between habitat types. *Environ Microbiol* 12: 1061-1074.
- Shah, H.N., and Collins, D.M. (1990) *Prevotella*, a new genus to include *Bacteroides malaninogenicus* and related species formerly classified in the genus *Bacteroides*. *Int J Syst Bacteriol* **40**: 205-208.
- Shapiro, J., and Pringle, A. (2010) Anthropogenic influences on the diversity of fungi isolated from caves in Kentucky and Tennessee. *Am Midl Nat* **163**: 76-86.
- Siering, P.L., and Ghiorse, W.C. (1996) Phylogeny of the Sphaerotilus-Leptothrix Group Inferred from Morphological Comparisons, Genomic Fingerprinting, and 16s Ribosomal DNA Sequence Analyses. *Int J Syst Bacteriol* 46: 173-182.
- Simon, K.S., and Buikema Jr., A.L. (1997) Effects of organic pollution on an Appalachian cave: Changes in macroinvertebrate populations and food supplies. *Am Midl Nat* **138**: 387-401.
- Simon, K.S., Benfield, E.F., and Macko, S.A. (2003) Food web structure and the role of epilithic biofilms in cave streams. *Ecology* **84**: 2395-2406.
- Simon, K.S., Pipan, T., and Culver, D.C. (2007) A conceptual model of the flow and distribution of organic Carbon in caves. *J Cave Karst Stud* **69**: 279-284.
- Simpson, J.M., Santo Domingo, J.W., and Reasoner, D.J. (2004) Assessment of equine fecal contamination: the search for alternative bacterial source-tracking targets. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 47: 65-75.
- Skinner, H.C.W., and Fitzpatrick, R.W. (1992) Iron and manganese biomineralization. In *Biomineralization Processes of Iron and Manganese*. Skinner, H.C.W., and Fitzpatrick, R.W. (eds). Cremlingen, Germany: Catena Verlag, pp. 1-6.
- Smith, C.J., and Osborn, A.M. (2009) Advantages and limitations of quantitative PCR (Q-PCR)-based approaches in microbial ecology. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **67**: 6-20.
- Sogin, M.L., Morrison, H.G., Huber, J.A., Welch, D.M., Huse, S.M., Neal, P.R., *et al.* (2006) Microbial diversity in the deep-sea and the underexplored "rare biosphere". *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 103: 12115-12120.
- Sonnleitner, R., Redl, B., and Schinner, F. (2011) Microbial mobilization of major and trace elements from catchment rock samples of a high mountain lake in the European Alps. Arct Antarct Alp Res 43: 465-473.
- Spear, J.R., Barton, H.A., Robertson, C.E., Francis, C.A., and Pace, N.R. (2007) Microbial community biofabrics in a geothermal mine adit. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **73**: 6172-6180.

- Spilde, M.N., Northup, D.E., and Boston, P.J. (2006) Ferromanganese deposits in the caves of the Guadalupe Mountains. In 57th Field Conference, Caves and Karst of Southeastern New Mexico. Land, L., Lueth, V.W., Raatz, W., Boston, P.J., and Love, D.W. (eds). Socorro: New Mexico Geological Society, pp. 161-166.
- Spilde, M.N., Northup, D.E., Boston, P.J., Schelble, R.T., Dano, K.E., Crossey, L.J., and Dahm, C.N. (2005) Geomicrobiology of cave ferromanganese deposits: a field and laboratory investigation. *Geomicrobiol J* 22: 99-116.
- Spring, S. (2006) The genera *Leptothrix* and *Sphaerotilus*. In *The Prokaryotes*. Dworkin, M., Falkow, S., Rosenberg, E., Schleifer, K.-H., and Stackebrandt, E. (eds). New York: Springer, pp. 758-777.
- Staley, J.T., and Konopka, A. (1985) Measurement of in situ activities of nonphotosynthetic microorganisms in aquatic and terrestrial habitats. *Annu Rev Microbiol* **39**: 321-346.
- Staley, J.T., Gunsalus, R.P., Lory, S., and Perry, J.J. (2007) *Microbial Life*. Sunderland, MA: Sinauer Associates.
- Stein, L.Y., La Duc, M.T., Grundi, T.J., and Nealson, K.H. (2001) Bacterial and archaeal populations associated with freshwater ferromanganous micronodules and sediments. *Environ Microbiol* 3: 10-18.
- Sterflinger, K. (2000) Fungi as geologic agents. Geomicrobiol J 17: 97-124.
- Stevens, T. (1997) Lithoautotrophy in the subsurface. FEMS Microbiol Rev 20: 327-337.
- Stevenson, B.S., Eichorst, S.A., Wertz, J.T., Schmidt, T.M., and Breznak, J.A. (2004) New strategies for cultivation and detection of previously uncultured microbes. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **70**: 4748-4755.
- Stivaletta, N. (2011) Life in extreme arid environments and implications for astrobiology. *Mem Soc Astron Ital* **16**: 106.
- Stomeo, F., Portillo, M.C., and Gonzalez, J.M. (2009) Assessment of bacterial and fungal growth on natural substrates: Consequences for preserving caves with prehistoric paintings. *Current Topics* in Microbiology 59: 321-325.
- Sunda, W.G., and Kieber, D.J. (1994) Oxidation of humic substances by manganese oxides yields lowmolecular-weight organic substrates. *Nature* **367**: 62-64.
- Szynkiewicz, A., Johnson, A.P., and Pratt, L.M. (2012) Sulfur species and biosignatures in Sulphur Springs, Valles Caldera, New Mexico-implications for Mars astrobiology. *Earth Planet Sci Lett* 321-322: 1-13.
- Taboroši, D. (2006) Biologically influenced carbonate speleothems. In *Perspectives on Karst Geomorphology, Hydrology, and Geochemistry*. Harmon, R.S., and Wicks, C. (eds): Geological Society of America, pp. 307-317.

- Taylor, C.J., and Nelson Jr., H.L. (2008) A compilation of provisional karst geospatial data for the Interior Low Plateaus Physiographic Region, Central United States. Reston, VA: U.S. Geological Survey, p. 26.
- Taylor-George, S., Palmer, F., Staley, J.T., Borns, D.J., Curtiss, B., and Adams, J.B. (1983) Fungi and bacteria involved in desert varnish formation. *Microb Ecol* **9**: 227-245.
- Tebo, B.M., Bargar, J.R., Clement, B.G., Dick, G.J., Murray, K.J., Parker, D., et al. (2004) Biogenic manganese oxides: properties and mechanisms of formation. Annu Rev Earth Planet Sci 32: 287-328.
- Tebo, B.M., Clement, B.G., and Dick, G.J. (2007) Biotransformations of Manganese. In *Manual of Environmental Microbiology*. Hurst, C.J., Crawford, R.L., Garland, J.L., Lipson, D.A., Mills, A.L., and Stetzenbach, L.D. (eds). Washington, DC: ASM Press, pp. 1223-1238.
- Tebo, B.M., Ghiorse, W.C., van Waasbergen, L.G., Siering, P.L., and Caspi, R. (1997) Bacteriallymediated mineral formation: Insights into manganese(II) oxidation from molecular genetic and biochemical studies. In *Geomicrobiology: interactions between microbes and minerals*. Banfield, J.F., and Nealson, K.H. (eds). Washington, D.C.: Mineralogical Society of America, pp. 225-266.
- Tebo, B.M., Johnson, H.A., McCarthy, J.K., and Templeton, A.S. (2005) Geomicrobiology of manganese(II) oxidation. *Trends Microbiol* **13**: 421-428.
- Toner, B., Fakra, S., Villalobos, M., Warwick, T., and Sposito, G. (2005) Spatially resolved characterization of biogenic manganese oxide production within a bacterial biofilm. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 71: 1300-1310.
- Toner, B., Manceau, A., Webb, S.M., and Sposito, G. (2006) Zinc sorption to biogenic hexagonalbirnessite particles within a hydrated bacterial biofilm. *Geochim Cosmochim Acta* **70**: 27-43.
- Topping, D.L., and Clifton, P.M. (2001) Short-Chain Fatty Acids and Human Colonic Function: Roles of Resistant Starch and Nonstarch Polysaccharides. *Physiol Rev* **81**: 1031-1064.
- Torsvik, V., Øvreås, L., and Thingstad, T.F. (2002) Prokaryotic diversity-magnitude, dynamics, and controlling factors. *Science* **296**: 1064-1066.
- Turekian, K.K., and Wedepohl, K.H. (1961) Distribution of the elements in some major units of the Earth's crust. *Geol Soc Am Bull* **72**: 175-192.
- Ueki, A., Akasaka, H., Satoh, A., Suzuki, D., and Ueki, K. (2007) *Prevotella paludivivens* sp. nov., a novel strictly anaerobic, Gram-negative, hemicellulose-decomposing bacterium isolated from plant residue and rice roots in irrigated rice-field soil. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* 57: 1803-1809.
- USEPA Method 3051A: Microwave assisted acid digestion of sediments, sludges, soils, and oils. (USEPA, 2007).
- v. Wintzingerode, F., Göbel, U.B., and Stackebrandt, E. (1997) Determination of microbial diversity in environmental samples: pitfalls of PCR-based rRNA analysis. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* **21**: 213-229.
- van Beynen, P. (2011) Introduction. In *Karst Management*. van Beynen, P. (ed). New York: Springer, pp. 1-5.

- van Beynen, P., and Townsend, K. (2005) A disturbance index for karst environments. *Environ Manag* **36**: 101-116.
- van Veen, W.L., Mulder, E.G., and Deinema, M.H. (1978) The *Sphaerotilus-Leptothrix* Group of Bacteria. *Microbiol Rev* **42**: 329-356.
- Vartoukian, S.R., Palmer, R.M., and Wade, W.G. (2010) Strategies for culture of 'unculturable' bacteria. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **309**: 1-7.
- Vaughan, M.J., Maier, R.M., and Pryor, B.M. (2011) Fungal communities on speleothem surfaces in Kartchner Caverns, Arizona, USA. *Int J Speleol* **40**: 65-77.
- Veni, G. (2002) Revising the karst map of the United States. J Cave Karst Stud 64: 45-50.
- Vesper, D.J., Loop, C.M., and White, W.B. (2001) Contaminant transport in karst aquifers. *Theoretical* and Applied Karstology **13**: 63-73.
- Villalobos, M., Bargar, J., and Sposito, G. (2005) Mechanisms of Pb(II) sorption on a biogenic manganese oxide. *Environ Sci Technol* **39**: 569-576.
- Vlasceanu, L., Sarbu, S.M., Engel, A.S., and Kinkle, B.K. (2000) Acidic cave-wall biofilms located in the Frasassi Gorge, Italy. *Geomicrobiol J* **17**: 125-139.
- Walker, A.W., Sanderson, J.D., Churcher, C., Parkes, G.C., Hudspith, B.N., Rayment, N., *et al.* (2011) High-throughput clone library analysis of the mucosa-associated microbiota reveals dysbiosis and differences between inflamed and non-inflamed regions of the intestine in inflammatory bowel disease. *BMC Microbiol* 11: 7.
- Warner, J.R. (1999) The economics of ribosome biosynthesis in yeast. Trends Biochem Sci 24: 437-440.
- Warren, L.A., and Kauffman, M.E. (2003) Microbial geoengineers. Science 299: 1027-1029.
- Watson, J., Hamilton-Smith, E., Gillieson, D., and Kiernan, K. (1997) *Guidelines for cave and karst protection*. Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, UK: IUCN.
- Webb, S.M., Tebo, B.M., and Bargat, J.R. (2005) Structural characterization of biogenic Mn oxides produced in seawater by the marine *Bacillus* sp. strain SG-1. *Am Mineral* **90**: 1342-1357.
- Wedepohl, K.H. (1995) The composition of the continental crust. *Geochimica and Cosmochimica Acta* **59**: 1217-1232.
- Weigel, L.M., Clewell, D.B., Gill, S.R., Clark, N.C., McDougal, L.K., Flannagan, S.E., et al. (2003) Genetic analysis of a high-level Vancomycin-Resistant isolate of *Staphylococcus aureus*. Science 302: 1569-1571.
- White, W.B., Culver, D.C., Herman, J.S., Kane, T.C., and Mylroie, J.E. (1995) Karst lands. *Am Sci* 83: 450-459.
- White, W.B., Vito, C., and Scheetz, B.E. (2009) The mineralogy and trace element cheistry of black Manganese oxide deposits from caves. *J Cave Karst Stud* **71**: 136-143.

- Whitman, W.B., Coleman, D.C., and Wiebe, W.J. (1998) Prokaryotes: the unseen majority. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences **95**: 6578-6583.
- Wilkinson, T.G., Topiwala, H.H., and Hamer, G. (1974) Interactions in a mixed bacterial population growing on methane in continuous culture. *Biotechnol Bioeng* **26**: 41-59.
- Woese, C.R. (1987) Bacterial evolution. Microbiol Rev 51: 221-271.
- Wong, C.I., Mahler, B.J., Musgrove, M., and Banner, J.L. (2011) Quantifying controls on karst spring and groundwater quality during a transition from extreme drought to wetter than average conditions. In 2011 Geological Society of America Annual Meeting Minneapolis, MN: Geological Society of America.
- Wood, P.J., Gunn, J., and Rundle, S.D. (2008) Response of bethic cave invertebrates to organic pollution events. *Aquat Conserv* 18: 909-922.
- Wooley, J.C., Godzik, A., and Friedberg, I. (2010) A primer on metagenomics. *PLoS Comput Biol* **6**: 1-13.
- Worthington, S.R.H. (2011) Management of carbonate aquifers. In *Karst Management*. van Beynen, P. (ed). New York: Springer, pp. 243-261.
- Yücel, S., and Yamaç, M. (2010) Selection of Streptomyces isolates from Turkish karstic caves against antibiotic resistant microorganisms. *Pak J Pharm Sci* 23: 1-6.
- Zhong, L., Deng, J., Song, Z., and Ding, P. (2011) Research on environmental impacts of tourism in China: Progress and prospect. *J Environ Manag* **92**: 2972-2983.

APPENDIX A: MICROBIAL BIOSIGNATURES IN EASTERN TENNESSEE CAVES Preface

In 1988 the National Space Grant College and Fellowship program was established by the United States Congress to support research in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics with aerospace and/or NASA applications. The program is implemented under the auspices of NASA and consists of 52 Space Grant Consortia located throughout the United States. The North Carolina (NC) Space Grant was established in 1991 and has provided over \$14 million in support through thirteen member institutions and seven industry, government, and non-profit partners since its inception. In the summer of 2011 my research documenting microbial biosignatures in an eastern Tennessee cave was supported by a NC Space Grant Graduate Research Fellowship, a merit based competitive fellowship program that provides up to \$6,000 in annual support for a Master's level student. The manuscript that follows provides a concise summary of my summer work

Summary

Biogeochemical cycling within cave systems and the physical transition from a surface to subsurface based ecosystem are often cited as reasons that astrobiologists have recognized caves as an ideal Earth-based analog for the study of Mars. Media was designed to target the cultivation of cave microorganisms involved in the cycling of methane, a compound that is abundant on Mars and the metabolism of which is known to be a form of chemoautotrophic growth for microbial cells. Fourteen putative methanotrophs were isolated from Carter Salt Peter Cave (Carter County, Tennessee), and evidence of methane production was detected in culture media targeting methanogens. In addition, the morphologies and chemical signatures of biogenic Mn oxides were characterized using TEM-EDS analysis. The presence of electron-dense Mn deposits associated with microbial cells was confirmed in five actively-oxidizing cultures isolated in a prior study from caves in the upper Tennessee River Basin. However, Synchotron based structural studies are needed to identify the mineral phases produced by these bacteria. Further, using terrestrial analogues of Martian subsurface environments will allow for the development of analytical techniques to detect and assess extraterrestrial biosignatures, both living and extinct.

Introduction

Astrobiology integrates knowledge gained from a variety of scientific disciplines to answer fundamental questions concerning the origin, limits, and future of both terrestrial and extraterrestrial life. Mars is a current focal point of NASA's search for extraterrestrial life (Baross, 2007), as several recent lines of evidence indicate that 1) hydrologic cycles may have once been present on the planet (Komatsu *et al.*, 2009; Hurowitz *et al.*, 2010), 2) the geochemistry of the planet is conducive to the evolution of chemolithoautotrophic microbial life , and 3) strong recent emissions of gases (such as methane) that may not be explained solely by abiotic processes (Mumma *et al.*, 2009; Etiope *et al.*, 2010). It is widely recognized within the scientific community that the search for extraterrestrial life starts on Earth in systems that are analogous to planetary systems that may be hospitable to life (Catling, 2004; Szynkiewicz *et al.*, 2012). Our knowledge of the requirements for life adopts a terran-centric approach. At a basal level all terran life needs to exist is water and a source of energy (Baross, 2007). The remaining environmental parameters can be fairly benign or toxic, and microbial life has found ways to thrive and evolve in both types of conditions (Brock, 1981; Brock, 1985; Gold, 1992; Whitman *et al.*, 1998; Pedersen, 2000; Baross, 2007; Staley *et al.*, 2007; Northup *et al.*, 2011; Stivaletta, 2011).

Prokaryotes arguably represent the most diverse kingdom of life (Curtis and Sloan, 2005). A primary driving force in the evolution of this diversity is microbial metabolic plasticity (Woese, 1987; Torsvik *et al.*, 2002), a key contributing factor towards the ability of bacteria and archaea to inhabit a wide variety of ecosystems, some of which represent the most extreme environments found on the Earth. One microbial metabolic strategy that is targeted in astrobiological research is chemolithoautotrophy, the ability of an organism to synthesize ATP and fix carbon by harnessing the energy contained in naturally occurring redox couples within an environment (e.g., sulfur oxidation/reduction, iron oxidation, nitrification, methane oxidation, and methanogenesis). Chemolithoautotrophic communities are abundant in the Earth's deep subsurface (Stevens, 1997), making this an ideal environment for the study of astrobiology and microbial biosignatures (Boston *et al.*, 2001; Gorbushina *et al.*, 2002; Boston *et al.*, 2006).

Caves are a point of access to the subsurface and are an ideal astrobiological analog, as they represent a transition zone from surface to subsurface based ecosystems (Pedersen, 2000) and contain biogeochemical cycles similar to those hypothesized to occur on Mars (Boston *et al.*, 2001; Boston *et al.*, 2006). Recent evidence suggests that the deep Martian bedrock may be partially composed of Mn- and Fe-rich calcium carbonates (Boynton *et al.*, 2009; Glotch, 2010; Michalski and Niles, 2010), similar in gross composition to the dolomite that underlies a large portion of the upper Tennessee River Basin (Montañez, 1994), a region has been a focus of my thesis research for the past three years. The research presented in the present study focused on the identification of cave microorganisms involved in the cycling of methane and the signatures of biogenically produced Mn-mineral deposits. Ultimately, these types of studies will provide insight into the current limits of life on Earth, and aid in the development of criteria and analytical techniques to detect and assess extraterrestrial biosignatures.

Results

Cultivation of cave organisms involved in methane cycling

Four different media types designed to target the cultivation of methanotrophs were utilized in this study. A total of fourteen isolates were obtained from the four media types (Table 1). Based on BLAST analysis (Johnson *et al.*, 2008), isolates were closely related (\geq 98% shared identity over a ca. 500 bp sequence) to clone sequences from a variety of environments, including soil, freshwater, the deep subsurface (e.g., caves and mines), hydrocarbon-rich environments (e.g., oil fields), sewage sludge, and low temperature systems (e.g., Alpine soil). In addition, several isolates (e.g., AA1, NN3) are members of a genus (*Flavobacterium*) that contains known methylotrophs (Madhaiyan *et al.*, 2010). Three sequences (isolates AS, NS, 2T) generated low quality (PHRED \leq 20) reads with substantial amounts of contamination; therefore, these isolates were eliminated from bioinformatic analysis. All media was supplemented with Mn(II) in an attempt to isolate a methanotrophic Mn(II)-oxidizer, however this effort was unsuccessful as all isolates tested LBB-negative for Mn(II)-oxidation.

Two different media (Slurry and TMM) were designed to target methanogens in the cave. Methanogens, a group of methane-producing anaerobic archaea, are notorious slow-growers, with incubation times on the order of a month or more required to detect methane production in a culture. A total of 48 attempts were made at inoculation (8 on 5/16/2011 and 40 on 6/16/2011), of those 17 cultures maintained anaerobic conditions. After four weeks of incubation, the four cultures inoculated on 5/16/2011 that maintained anaerobic conditions were producing small amounts of methane, measured below 0.01% headspace volume. At the six week measurement point, these cultures all had a grey tint. This coloration is an indication of the presence of sulfate-reducing bacteria, which typically out-compete methanogens for H₂ in media due to their faster doubling time (A. Hawkins, personal communication). From this point on, methane was undetectable in the headspace. Unfortunately, all cultures inoculated on 6/16/2011 suffered the same fate as putative sulfate-reducing species were evident after the initial 2 weeks of incubation. Future attempts at cultivation of cave methanogens will include an addition of 10 mg/L rifampicin to each culture tube as a bactericidal agent (Bräuer *et al.*, 2004) to eliminate competition for H_2 by sulfate-reducing bacteria.

Mineralogy of biogenic Mn oxides

TEM-EDS analysis of actively-oxidizing cave isolates confirmed the presence of electron-dense Mn deposits associated with microbial cells in culture (Fig. 2): *Janthinobacterium* sp. A6, *Flavobacterium* sp. E8, *Leptothrix* sp. G6, *Arthrobacter* sp. L, and *Pseudomonas* sp. Mn Falls 11. TEM-EDS analysis (Fig. 3) revealed the presence of intracellular phosphorous storage granules in *Pseudomonas* sp. Mn Falls 11.

Discussion

Cultivation of cave organisms involved in methane cycling

Results from preliminary sequencing (ca. 500 bp of the 1500 bp 16S rRNA gene sequence) suggested the isolation of one *Arthrobacter* sp. (Table 1, isolate 2S) and four *Pseudomonas* sp. (Table 1, isolates 1N, 1S, 1T, and 2N) from media containing both citrate and methane as carbon sources. *Arthrobacter* spp. have been isolated from methane-rich environments previously (Kageyama *et al.*, 2008), can be capable of hydrocarbon degradation (Keuth and Rehm, 1991), and have also been associated with methylotrophic metabolisms (Levering *et al.*, 1981). *Pseudomonas* spp. have been identified in molecular-based surveys of methane-rich gas hydrate sediments (Marchesi *et al.*, 2001) and have been isolated from methane-rich seafloor sediments (Kobayashi *et al.*, 2008) and laboratory bioreactors (Wilkinson *et al.*, 1974; Cardinali-Rezende *et al.*, 2011). In addition, some *Pseudomonas* spp. are known methanotrophs (Davis *et al.*, 1964). Although the isolates from the present study were not growing on media containing methane as the sole carbon source, they are clearly capable of growth in a methane-enriched (e.g., 50% CH₄) environment. Therefore, it is possible that these isolates are capable of methane-based (e.g methanotrophic or methylotrophic) metabolisms.

Six isolates were obtained from media containing methane as the sole carbon source. Four of these isolates (Table 1, isolates AA2, AA3, NT1, and NT3) were phylogenetically affiliated with the genus *Acinetobacter*, which contains species whose genomes encode several genes involved in methanebased metabolisms (Kanehisa *et al.*, 2002). In addition, members of the genus *Acinetobacter* have been isolated from methane-rich sediments (Kobayashi *et al.*, 2008) and organic-waste degrading bioreactors (Cardinali-Rezende *et al.*, 2011). The remaining two isolates (Table 1, isolates AA1 and NN3) were phylogenetically affiliated with the genus *Flavobacterium*, members of which have been detected in molecular-based surveys of methane-rich environments, such as rice paddy soil (Henckel *et al.*, 1999) and petroleum reservoirs (Orphan *et al.*, 2000), and have been isolated from methane-rich laboratory bioreactors (Wilkinson *et al.*, 1974). In addition, some members of the *Flavobacterium* genus have been identified as facultative methylotrophs (Madhaiyan *et al.*, 2010) and are known to contain genes that are involved in methane-based metabolic pathways (Kanehisa *et al.*, 2002). These six isolates, obtained from methane-based metabolic pathways (Kanehisa *et al.*, 2002).

Active methanotrophic bacteria have been identified using stable isotope probing in active, sulfidic cave systems (e.g., Movile Cave, Romania) (Hutchens *et al.*, 2004). In addition, several members of the genera isolated in this study have been detected in culture and molecular-based surveys of Carter Salt Peter Cave ferromanganous biofilms (Chapter Two). Therefore, it is possible that some or all of the isolates from the present study are associated with methane-based metabolisms. However, additional molecular-based work is needed to 1) provide definitive phylogenetic placement of these isolates by obtaining full-length SSU rRNA gene sequences (Amann *et al.*, 1995), 2) assess the potential for methanotrophic metabolisms by using molecular-based screening for the functional genes associated with methane-oxidation (Murrell *et al.*, 1998), and 3) identify active methanotrophic populations by the use of stable isotope probing (Morris *et al.*, 2002; McDonald *et al.*, 2005) or through RNA-based community analysis (Portillo *et al.*, 2008).

Organisms closely related (100% identical over a ca. 795 bp sequence alignment) to

methanogenic archaea (Savant *et al.*, 2002) have been identified via molecular-based methods in molecular-based surveys of Carter Salt Peter Cave ferromanganese deposits (Chapter Two). At this time, cultivation attempts in the present study towards the isolation of a cave methanogen appear to have been unsuccessful. However, in the months following the completion of the present study, methane measurements of the lab GC were found to be unreliable due to column leakage. Therefore, it would be worthwhile to replicate the cultivation techniques utilized in this study on new cave samples, as low amounts of methane production were detected in some cultures early on during the study period. Expanding the scientific community's knowledge of microbes involved in the cycling of methane will better elucidate the groups of organisms which are likely to be present in the current environmental conditions of Mars that are favorable for the microbial metabolic transformation of methane.

Mineralogy of biogenic Mn oxides

In the present study, TEM-EDS analysis confirmed the presence of Mn oxides associate with microbial cells in all actively-oxidizing cultures. Initial TEM-EDS analysis of the Mn Falls 11 *Pseudomonas* isolate produced some noteworthy findings, revealing the presence of intracellular phosphorous storage granules in *Pseudomonas* sp. Mn Falls 11. This finding is particularly intriguing given the oligotrophic nature of many cave systems (Northup and Lavoie, 2001; Barton *et al.*, 2004; Hunter *et al.*, 2004; Boston *et al.*, 2006), though the extent of surface impact within shallow cave systems such as Carter Salt Peter Cave is currently unknown.

Although the oxidation of Mn(II) produces over 30 known Mn(IV) minerals (Hill and Forti, 1997; Post, 1999), several of which are found in caves (White *et al.*, 2009; Onac and Forti, 2011), at this time biogenic Mn oxides appear limited to todorokite and birnessite (Tebo *et al.*, 2004; Tebo *et al.*, 2005; Toner *et al.*, 2005; Miyata *et al.*, 2006; Northup *et al.*, 2010; Rossi *et al.*, 2010; Learman *et al.*, 2011). It is still not fully understood how many of these microbes are oxidizing manganese (Tebo *et al.*, 1997), so electron microscopy is necessary to map where the Mn oxides are being formed in or on each cell. Due to the angstrom scale and disordered and delicate crystal structure of biogenic Mn(IV) oxides (Nealson *et*

al., 1988; Gradziński *et al.*, 1995; Tebo *et al.*, 1997; Nelson *et al.*, 1999b; Northup *et al.*, 2004; Frierdich *et al.*, 2011; Santelli *et al.*, 2011), it is not possible to use transmission electron microscopy or standard powder X-ray diffraction to successfully identify mineral phases (White *et al.*, 2009). Instead, less energy-intensive techniques such as Synchroton-based x-ray absorption fine-structure (XAFS) spectroscopy must be used. Limited information on Mn oxide crystal structure can be attained from single crystal micro-X-ray diffraction and Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FT-IR) as well.

Future work will be conducted in conjunction with Dr. Sarah Carmichael and Dr. Jeffrey Post (Smithsonian Institute) using single crystal micro-XRD and FT-IR to definitively determine which Mnminerals are produced by *Janthinobacterium* sp. A6 and *Flavobacterium* sp. E8, as these isolates are representative of genera that were recently described to have members capable of Mn-oxidation (Santelli *et al.*, 2010; Chapter Two). In addition, future work will include microtome thin sectioning of cultures for TEM analysis to better determine the locations in the cell where Mn oxidation is occurring, and will also include *in situ* culturing of these strains for scanning electron microscopy analysis to better visualize surface morphologies. Mineralogical studies of actively-oxidizing cave isolates will allow for the identification of *in vivo*, biogenically produced Mn minerals, thus increasing our understanding of which Mn minerals in the fossil record or in extraterrestrial samples may be attributed to biological activity (Boston *et al.*, 2001; Gorbushina *et al.*, 2002). If these minerals are identified in samples from Mars, it would provide further evidence for the potential existence of life on the red planet.

Experimental Procedures

Field description

Carter Salt Peter Cave (Carter County, Tennessee, Fig. 1), located in the Ordovician Knox Dolomite unit of the upper Tennessee River Basin, is a relatively shallow, epigenic cave system. The cave is particularly enriched in ferromanganese (mixed Fe and Mn) deposits, which are visually identified as black/chocolate brown deposits that coat the surfaces of cave rocks, walls, and speleothems (e.g., flowstone, dripstone, soda straws, corrosion residue). Environmental conditions within the dark zone of the cave are typical of those found in other similar cave systems (Northup and Lavoie, 2001): ambient air temperature hovers around MAST (Mean Annual Surface Temperature) for the region (13°C) and humidity approaches 100%.

Sample collection

Samples were collected for cultivation-based experimentation from two Mn-oxidizing cave biofilms in Carter Salt Peter Cave (herein CSPC), Mn Falls and Mud Trap Falls (Fig. 1), in May 2011 and June 2011. Biofilms were screened *in situ* for the presence of Mn oxides using 0.04% Leucoberbelin Blue (LBB), a redox indicator that is oxidized by Mn(III) or Mn(IV) to produce a bright blue color (Krumbein and Altmann, 1973). Care was taken to sample at locations within the biofilm matrix that tested LBB-positive for Mn(II)-oxidation.

Cultivation of cave methanotrophs: Bacteria that utilize methane as a sole source of carbon and energy Samples that were designated for the cultivation of cave methanotrophs were stored on ice, transported to the lab, and immediately inoculated on media by spreading 100 μ L of a 1% v/v biofilm sample in 0.02M HEPES buffer (pH 7.2) on agar-solidified media. Four different media types targeting organisms involved in the catabolism of methane were developed and utilized in cultivation efforts. NMS (Nitrate Mineral Salts) (Chapter Two) and AMS (Ammonium Mineral Salts), designed by Dr. Trevor Craig, were designed to target cave methanotrophs and contained methane as the sole carbon source. AMS Media contained (in g L⁻¹) 0.7 K₂HPO₄, 0.54 KH₂PO₄. 1.0 MgSO₄•7H₂O, 0.2 CaCl₂•2H₂O, 0.004 FeSO₄•7H₂O, 0.5 NH₄Cl, 1 mL Trace Element Solution (containing in mg L⁻¹ 100 ZnSO₄•7H₂O, 30 MnCl₂•4H₂O, 300 H₃BO₃, 200 CoCl₂•6H₂O, 250 CuSO₄•5H₂O, 20 NiCl₂•6H₂O, 60 6 Na₂Mo₄•2H₂O). pH of the media was adjusted to ca. 7.1-7.2 before autoclaving, and 15 g agar was added for plates. AMS media was supplemented postautoclaving with sterile 0.02 M Hepes buffer pH 7.2, 5 μ M ferrous ammonium citrate, 0.2% v/v vitamin solution for J medium (Tebo *et al.*, 2007), and 100 μ M MnCl₂. AMS and NMS agar plates were incubated at 10°C in the dark (to mimic cave conditions) in a sealed chamber with a 50:50 CH₄(g):air mix.

CM1 (Cave Methanotroph Media 1) and CM2 (Cave Methanotroph Media 2), modified versions of Gerretsen Medium and Beijerinck Medium (Bromfield and Skerman, 1950) respectively, were also designed to target cave methanotrophs. However, CM1 and CM2 media contained both methane and citrate as carbon sources. CM1 media contained (in g L⁻¹) 20 calcium citrate tetrahydrate, 2 (NH₄)₂SO₄, 0.01 NH₄MgPO₄. CM2 media contained (in g L⁻¹) 20 calcium citrate tetrahydrate, 0.5 NH₄Cl, 0.5 K₂HPO₄. pH of each media was adjusted to ca. 7-7.2 before autoclaving, and 20 g agar was added for plates. CM1 and CM2 media were supplemented post-autoclaving with sterile 0.02M Hepes buffer pH 7.2, 100 μ M MnCl₂, 4 μ M FeCl₂•4H₂O, and 0.04 μ M CuSO₄ and incubated at 10°C in the dark (to mimic cave conditions) in a sealed chamber with a 50:50 CH₄(g):air mix.

Mn(II)-oxidation in isolates was assessed via LBB colorimetric determination as previously described. Individual colonies of interest were re-streaked for isolation a minimum of three times. Once a colony was isolated, a colony PCR reaction was initiated to screen the microorganism for phylogenetic placement (Table 1) using the universal bacterial primer 357F 5'CCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG (Chapter Two), which targets a region within the 16S rRNA gene sequence. Phylogenetic affiliation of isolates was determined by BLAST analysis (Johnson *et al.*, 2008).

Cultivation of cave methanogens: Anaerobic archaea that generate methane through

chemolithoautotrophic processes

Samples that were designated for the cultivation of cave methanogens were inoculated *in situ* using anaerobic techniques. Briefly, a 5 mL syringe with a 16G, 11/2'' needle (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ) attached was thoroughly flushed five times with sterile N₂ (g). The syringe was then plunged deep into the base of the biofilm and material was drawn up into the syringe. Prepared media tubes containing either 10 mL Slurry or Tennessee Methanogen Media (TMM) were then inoculated *in situ* with approximately 1 mL of biofilm material. This procedure was repeated for samples obtained from each

biofilm. TMM media, a modified version of a basal medium targeting *Methanobrevibacter* spp. (Asakawa *et al.*, 1993), a known member of the CSPC ferromanganese deposit microbial consortia (Chapter Two), contained in g L⁻¹ 0.75 KH₂PO₄, 0.75 K₂HPO₄, 1 NH₄Cl, 0.36 MgCl₂•6H₂O, 1 yeast extract, 9 mL trace metal solution (Morii *et al.*, 1983). pH of the media was adjusted to ca. 7-7.2, and the media was moved into an anaerobic chamber. Once in the chamber, 10 mL of media was aliquoted into each culture tube, and the tubes were sealed with stoppers and crimped. Tubes were then moved out of the chamber, flushed with 80/20% v/v N₂/CO₂ headspace, and autoclaved. Each individual tube was supplemented post-autoclaving with the following sterile, anaerobic additions to a final concentration of 0.5X Balch vitamins (Balch *et al.*, 1979), 0.03M NaHCO₃, 1 mM Na₂S, 1.5 mM L-cysteine hydrochloride, 0.0005% resazurin solution. Slurry media was prepared using the same methodology as described above and consisted of sterile, anaerobic water, with an 80/20% v/v N₂/CO₂ headspace. 0.0005% (final concentration) sterile, anaerobic resazurin solution was added to each individual tube post autoclaving.

Post inoculation, cultures were transported back to the lab and immediately checked to ensure the maintenance of anaerobic conditions by colorimetric screening via resazurin indicator. Any cultures with a pink tint, indicating aerobic conditions, were killed with 10% bleach and discarded. Cultures that maintained anaerobic conditions were flushed with an overpressure of 12 psi H₂. Cultures were incubated horizontally (to allow for maximum contact with the H₂/CO₂ headspace in the tubes) and at 10°C in the dark (to mimic cave conditions). Methane production by cultures was assessed every two weeks by gas chromatography, using a Shimadzu GC-2014 (Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto, Japan) and external standards of 0.1%, 0.45%, 1%, 2%, 5%, and 10% CH₄.

Mineralogy of biogenic Mn oxides: TEM microscopy and elemental analysis

Five actively-oxidizing (as confirmed via LBB colorimetric screening) cultures isolated from a prior study (Chapter Two) were examined using a JEOL JEM-400 transmission electron microscope (TEM) equipped with an Oxford INCA energy dispersive X-ray detector (EDS) to confirm the presence of precipitated manganese associated with microbial cells (Fig. 2): *Janthinobacterium* sp. A6,
Flavobacterium sp. E8, *Leptothrix* sp. G6, *Arthrobacter* sp. L, and *Pseudomonas* sp. Mn Falls 11. Samples were prepared and imaged as previously described (Chapter Two).

Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank Dr. Suzanna L. Bräuer, Dr. Sarah K. Carmichael, and Ashley Hawkins for advice and insightful discussion, Dr. Sarah K. Carmichael, Dr. Clara Chan, and Dr. Guichuan Hou for assistance with transmission electron microscopy and sample preparation, Dr. Trevor Craig for assistance with media design, Amanda Strom, Noah Goodson, and Bryan Zorn for field assistance, and the landowners of the cave for site access. Support was provided through two grants from the North Carolina Space Grant New Investigators Award to S. Carmichael and S.L. Bräuer, a North Carolina Space Grant Graduate Research Fellowship awarded to M.J. Carmichael, and by Appalachian State University.

Figures and Tables



 Table 1. Phylogenetic affiliation of cultivated isolates from Carter Salt Peter Cave, Carter County, TN.

Classification	Isolate ^a	Media	Closest Identified Relative ^b	% Sequence Identity ^e	Closest Cultivated Relative ^d	% Sequence Identity ^e
Actinobacteria	28	CM2	Arthrobacter humicola strain JL9 (HQ857769)	100	-	-
CFB	AA1	AMS	Flavobacterium sp. PR4-11 (FJ889627)	99	-	-
	NN3	NMS	Flavobacterium sp. WB2.3-15 (AM934646)	99	-	-
γ-Proteobacteria	AA2	AMS	Soil Clone Bacterium MCF42 (HQ179087)	100	Acinetobacter sp. bk_13 (HQ538659)	100
	AA3	AMS	Soil Clone Bacterium MCF42 (HQ179087)	100	Acinetobacter sp. bk_13 (HQ538659)	100
	NT1	NMS	Soil Clone Bacterium DC38 (HQ178965)	99	Acinetobacter sp. HL-13 (JF693989)	99
	NT3	NMS	Soil Clone Bacterium MCF42 (HQ179087)	99	Acinetobacter sp. bk_13 (HQ538659)	99
	1N	CM1	Pseudomonas sp. Clone HP4F5 (JF968472)	98	Pseudomonas sp. JH-3-14 (JF820111)	98
	15	CM1	Pseudomonas sp. CL1.82 (AM934700)	99	-	-
	1T	CM1	Pseudomonas sp. k2 (JF501095)	100	-	-
	2N	CM2	Rhizosphere Soil Clone 25 (HQ731027)	100	Pseudomonas jessenii strain SR3 (JF766371)	100

^a All isolates tested LBB-negative for Mn(II)-oxidation.

^b Data obtained via BLAST analysis (Johnson et al., 2008). NCBI accession number in parentheses.

^c Percent identity over a ca. 500 bp sequence alignment.

^d If closest identified relative was an environmental clone.



Fig. 2. TEM micrographs of biogenic Mn-oxides associated with bacterial cells: (A) *Pseudomonas* sp. Mn Falls 11, (B) Sheath-forming *Leptothrix* sp. G6, (C) *Arthrobacter* sp. L, (D) *Janthinobacterium* sp. A6, and (E) *Flavobacterium* sp. E8. Scale bars shown in each panel. All cultures were LBB-positive, indicating the presence of biomineralized Mn(IV)-oxides. EDS analysis (data not shown) confirmed the presence of Mn deposits associated with microbial cells



Fig. 3. TEM micrograph of LBB-positive *Pseudomonas* sp. Mn Falls 11 reveals the presence of intracellular phosphorous storage granules. Scale bar represents 800 nm. Image Credit: S.K. Carmichael.

References

- Amann, R.I., Ludwig, W., and Schleifer, K.-H. (1995) Phylogenetic identification and in situ detection of individual microbial cells without cultivation. *Microbiol Rev* **59**: 143-169.
- Asakawa, S., Morii, H., Akagawa-Matsushita, M., Koga, Y., and Hayano, K. (1993) Characterization of *Methanobrevibacter arboriphilicus* isolated from a paddy field soil and DNA-DNA hybridization among *M. arboriphilicus* strains. *Int J Syst Bacteriol* **43**: 683-686.
- Balch, W.E., Fox, G.E., Magrum, L.J., Woese, C.R., and Wolfe, R.S. (1979) Methanogens: reevaluation of a unique biological group. *Microbiol Rev* 43: 260-296.
- Baross, J.A. (2007) *The Limits of Organic Life in Planetary Systems*. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Barton, H.A., Taylor, M.R., and Pace, N.R. (2004) Molecular phylogenetic analysis of a bacterial community in an oligotrophic cave environment. *Geomicrobiol J* **21**: 11-20.
- Boston, P.J., Hose, L.D., Northup, D.E., and Spilde, M.N. (2006) The microbial communities of sulfur caves: a newly appreciated geologically driven system on Earth and potential model for Mars. In *Perspectives on Karst Geomorphology, Hydrology, and Geochemistry*. Harmon, R.S., and Wicks, C.M. (eds). Boulder, Colorado: Geological Society of America, pp. 331-344.
- Boston, P.J., Spilde, M.N., Northup, D.E., Melim, L.A., Soroka, D.S., Kleina, L.G. *et al.* (2001) Cave biosignature suites: microbes, minerals, and Mars. *Astrobiology* **1**: 25-55.
- Boynton, W.V., Ming, D.W., Kounaves, S.P., Young, S.M.M., Arvidson, R.E., Hecht, M.H. *et al.* (2009) Evidence for calcium carbonate at the Mars Phoenix landing site. *Science* **325**: 61-64.
- Bräuer, S.L., Yavitt, J.B., and Zinder, S.H. (2004) Methanogenesis in McLean Bog, an acidic peat bog in upstate New York: stimulation by H₂/CO₂ in the presence of rifampicin, or by low concentrations of acetate. *Geomicrobiol J* **21**: 433-443.
- Brock, T.D. (1981) Extreme thermophiles of the genera *Thermus* and *Sulfolobus*. In *The Prokaryotes: A Handbook on Habitats, Isolation, and Identification of Bacteria*. Starr, M.P., Stolp, H., Trüper, H.G., Balows, A., and Schlegel, H.G. (eds). Berlin; New York: Springer-Verlag, pp. 978-984.
- Brock, T.D. (1985) Life at high-emperatures. Science 230: 132-138.
- Bromfield, S.M., and Skerman, V.B.D. (1950) Biological oxidation of manganese in soils. *Soil Sci* **69**: 337-347.
- Cardinali-Rezende, J., Moraes, A.M.M., Colturato, L.F.D.B., Carneiro, E.V., Marriel, I.E., Chartone-Souza, E., and Nascimento, A.M.A. (2011) Phylogenetic and physiological characterization of organic waste-degrading bacterial communities. *World J Microbiol Biotechnol* 27: 245-252.
- Catling, D. (2004) On Earth, as it is on Mars? Nature 429: 707-708.

Curtis, T.P., and Sloan, W.T. (2005) Exploring microbial diversity-a vast below. Science 309: 1331-1333.

- Davis, J.B., Coty, V.F., and Stanley, J.P. (1964) Atmospheric nitrogen fixation by methane-oxidizing bacteria. *J Bacteriol* **88**: 468-472.
- Etiope, G., Oehler, D.Z., and Allen, C.C. (2010) Methane emissions from Earth's degassing: implications for Mars. *Planet Space Sci* **59**: 182-195.
- Frierdich, A.J., Hasenmueller, E.A., and Catalano, J.G. (2011) Composition and structure of nanocrystalline Fe and Mn oxide cave deposits: Implications for trace element mobility in karst systems. *Chem Geol* 284: 82–96.
- Glotch, T.D. (2010) Hidden martian carbonates. Nat Geosci 3: 745-746.
- Gold, T. (1992) The deep, hot biosphere. Proc Natl Acad Sci 89: 6045-6049.
- Gorbushina, A.A., Krumbein, W.E., and Volkmann, M. (2002) Rock surfaces as life indicators: new ways to demonstrate life and traces of former life. *Astrobiology* **2**: 203-213.
- Gradziński, M., Banaś, M., and Uchman, A. (1995) Biogenic origin of manganese flowstones from Jaskinia Czarna Cave, Tatra Mts., Western Carpathians. *Ann Soc Geol Pol* **65**: 19-27.
- Henckel, T., Friedrich, M., and Conrad, R. (1999) Molecular analyses of the methane-oxidizing microbial community in rice field soil by targeting the genes of the 16S rRNA, particulate methane monoxygenase, and methanol dehydrogenase. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **65**: 1980-1990.
- Hill, C., and Forti, P. (1997) Cave Minerals of the World: National Speleological Society.
- Hunter, A.J., Northup, D.E., Dahm, C.N., and Boston, P.J. (2004) Persistent coliform contamination in Lechuguilla cave pools. *J Cave Karst Stud* **66**: 102-110.
- Hurowitz, J.A., Fischer, W.W., Tosca, N.J., and Milliken, R.E. (2010) Origin of acidic surface waters and the evolution of atmospheric chemistry on early Mars. *Nat Geosci* **3**: 323-326.
- Hutchens, E., Radajewski, S., Dumont, M.G., McDonald, I.R., and Murrell, J.C. (2004) Analysis of methanotrophic bacteria in Movile Cave by stable isotope probing. *Environ Microbiol* 6: 111-120.
- Johnson, M., Zaretskaya, I., Raytselis, Y., Merezhuk, Y., McGinnis, S., and Madden, T.L. (2008) NCBI BLAST: a better web interface. *Nucleic Acids Res* **36**: W5-W9.
- Kageyama, A., Morisaki, K., Ōmura, S., and Takahashi, Y. (2008) Arthrobacter oryzae sp. nov. and Arthrobacter humicola sp. nov. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 58: 53-56.
- Kanehisa, M., Goto, S., Kawashima, S., and Nakaya, A. (2002) The KEGG databases at GenomeNet. *Nucleic Acids Res* **30**: 42-46.
- Keuth, S., and Rehm, H.-J. (1991) Biodegradation of phenanthrene by *Arthrobacter polychromogenes* isolated from a contaminated soil. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **34**: 804-808.
- Kobayashi, T., Koide, O., Mori, K., Shimamura, S., Matsuura, T., Miura, T., *et al.* (2008) Phylogenetic and enzymatic diversity of deep subseafloor aerobic microorganisms in organics- and methane-rich sediments off Shimokita Peninsula. *Extremophiles* **12**: 519-527.

- Komatsu, G., Di Achille, G., Popa, C., Di Lorenzo, S., Rossi, A.P., and Rodriguez, J.A.P. (2009) Paleolakes, paleofloods, and depressions in Aurorae and Ophir Plana, Mars: connectivity of surface and subsurface hydrological systems. *Icarus* 201: 474-491.
- Krumbein, W.E., and Altmann, H.J. (1973) A new method for the detection and enumeration of manganese oxidizing and reducing microorganisms. *Helgölander Wissenschaftlichen Untersuchungen* 25: 347-356.
- Learman, D.R., Wankel, S.D., Webb, S.M., Martinez, N., Madden, A.S., and Hansel, C.M. (2011) Coupled biotic-abiotic Mn(II) oxidation pathway mediates the formation and structural evolution of biogenic Mn oxides. *Geochim Cosmochim Acta* **75**: 6048–6063.
- Levering, P.R., van Dijken, J.P., Veenhuis, M., and Harder, W. (1981) *Arthrobacter* P1, a fast growing versatile methylotroph with amine oxidase as a key enzyme for the metabolism of methylated amines. *Arch Microbiol* **129**: 72-80.
- Madhaiyan, M., Poonguzhali, S., Lee, J.-S., Lee, K.C., and Sundaram, S. (2010) Flavobacterium glycines sp. nov., a facultative methylotroph isolated from the rhizosphere of soybean. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 60: 2187-2192.
- Marchesi, J.R., Weightman, A.J., Cragg, B.A., Parkes, R.J., and Fry, J.C. (2001) Methanogen and bacterial diversity and distribution in deep gas hydrate sediments from Cascadia Margin as revealed by 16S rRNA molecular analysis. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **34**: 221-228.
- McDonald, I.R., Radajewski, S., and Murrell, J.C. (2005) Stable isotope probing of nucleic acids in methanotrophs and methylotrophs: a review. *Org Geochem* **36**: 779-787.
- Michalski, J.R., and Niles, P.B. (2010) Deep crustal carbonate rocks exposed by meteor impact on Mars. *Nat Geosci* **3**: 751-755.
- Miyata, N., Maruo, K., Tani, Y., Tsuno, H., Seyama, H., Soma, M., and Iwahori, K. (2006) Production of biogenic manganese oxides by anamorphic Ascomycete fungi isolated from streambed pebbles. *Geomicrobiol J* 23: 63-73.
- Montañez, I.P. (1994) Late diagenetic dolomitization of the Lower Ordovician, Upper Knox Carbonates: a record of the hydrodynamic evolution of the southern Appalachian Basin. *AAPG Bull* **78**: 1210-1239.
- Morii, H., Nishihara, M., and Koga, Y. (1983) Isolation, characterization and physiology of a new formate-assimilable methanogenic strain (A2) of *Methanobrevibacter arboriphilus*. Agric Biol Chem 47: 2781-2789.
- Morris, S.A., Radajewski, S., Willison, T.W., and Murrell, J.C. (2002) Identification of the functionally active methanotroph population in a peat soil microcosm by stable-isotope probing. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **68**: 1446-1453.
- Mumma, M.J., Villanueva, G.L., Novak, R.E., Hewagama, T., Bonev, B.P., DiSanti, M.A., *et al.* (2009) Strong release of methane on Mars in Northern Summer 2003. *Science* **323**: 1041-1045.

- Murrell, J.C., McDonald, I.R., and Bourne, D.G. (1998) Molecular methods for the study of methanotroph ecology. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 27: 103-114.
- Nealson, K.H., Tebo, B.M., and Rosson, R.A. (1988) Occurrence and mechanisms of microbial oxidation of manganese. *Adv Appl Microbiol* **33**: 279-318.
- Nelson, Y.M., Lion, L.W., Shuler, M.L., and Ghiorse, W.C. (1999b) Lead binding to metal oxide and organic phases of natural aquatic biofilms. *Limnol Oceanogr* **4**: 1715-1729.
- Northup, D.E., and Lavoie, K.H. (2001) Geomicrobiology of caves: a review. *Geomicrobiol J* 18: 199-222.
- Northup, D.E., Spilde, M.N., Boston, P.J., Crossey, L.J., and Dahm, C.N. (2004) Microbial mineral formation in cave ferromanganese deposits. In *American Chemical Society Meeting*, p. 1 pg.
- Northup, D.E., Snider, J.R., Spilde, M.N., Porter, M.L., van de Kamp, J.L., Boston, P.J., *et al.* (2010) Diversity of rock varnish bacterial communities from Black Canyon, New Mexico. *J Geophys Res* **115**: doi:10.1029/2009JG001107.
- Northup, D.E., Melim, L.A., Spilde, M.N., Hathaway, J.J.M., Garcia, M.G., Moya, M., *et al.* (2011) Lava cave micobial communities within mats and secondary mineral deposits: implications for life detection on other planets. *Astrobiology* **11**: 1-18.
- Onac, B.P., and Forti, P. (2011) State of the art and challenges in cave mineral studies. *Studia UBB Geologia* 56: 29-38.
- Orphan, V.J., Taylor, L.T., Hafenbradl, D., and DeLong, E.F. (2000) Culture-dependent and cultureindependent characterization of microbial assemblages associated with high-temperature petroleum reservoirs. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **66**: 700-711.
- Pedersen, K. (2000) Exploration of deep intraterrestrial microbial life: current perspectives. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **185**: 9-16.
- Portillo, M.C., Gonzalez, J.M., and Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2008) Metabolically active microbial communities of yellow and grey colonizations on the walls of Altamira Cave, Spain. *J Appl Microbiol* **104**: 681-691.
- Post, J.E. (1999) Manganese oxide minerals: crystal structures and economic and environmental significance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* **96**: 3447-3454.
- Rossi, C., Lozano, R.P., Isanta, N., and Hellstrom, J. (2010) Manganese stromatolites in caves: El Soplao (Cantabria, Spain). *Geology* **38**: 1119-1122.
- Santelli, C., Webb, S.M., Dohnalkova, A., and Hansel, C. (2011) Diversity of Mn oxides produced by Mn(II)-oxidizing fungi. *Geochim Cosmochim Acta* **75**: 2762-2776.
- Santelli, C., Pfister, D., Lazarus, D., Sun, L., Burgos, W., and Hansel, C. (2010) Promotion of Mn(II) oxidation and remediation of coal mine drainage in passive treatment systems by diverse fungal and bacterial communities. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **76**: 4871-4875.

- Savant, D.V., Shouche, Y.S., Prakash, S., and Ranade, D.R. (2002) *Methanobrevibacter acididurans* sp. nov., a novel methanogen from a sour anaerobic digester. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* **52**: 1081-1087.
- Staley, J.T., Gunsalus, R.P., Lory, S., and Perry, J.J. (2007) *Microbial Life*. Sunderland, MA: Sinauer Associates.
- Stevens, T. (1997) Lithoautotrophy in the subsurface. FEMS Microbiol Rev 20: 327-337.
- Stivaletta, N. (2011) Life in extreme arid environments and implications for astrobiology. *Mem Soc Astron Ital* **16**: 106.
- Szynkiewicz, A., Johnson, A.P., and Pratt, L.M. (2012) Sulfur species and biosignatures in Sulphur Springs, Valles Caldera, New Mexico-implications for Mars astrobiology. *Earth Planet Sci Lett* 321-322: 1-13.
- Tebo, B.M., Clement, B.G., and Dick, G.J. (2007) Biotransformations of Manganese. In *Manual of Environmental Microbiology*. Hurst, C.J., Crawford, R.L., Garland, J.L., Lipson, D.A., Mills, A.L., and Stetzenbach, L.D. (eds). Washington, DC: ASM Press, pp. 1223-1238.
- Tebo, B.M., Johnson, H.A., McCarthy, J.K., and Templeton, A.S. (2005) Geomicrobiology of manganese(II) oxidation. *Trends Microbiol* **13**: 421-428.
- Tebo, B.M., Ghiorse, W.C., van Waasbergen, L.G., Siering, P.L., and Caspi, R. (1997) Bacteriallymediated mineral formation: Insights into manganese(II) oxidation from molecular genetic and biochemical studies. In *Geomicrobiology: Interactions Between Microbes and Minerals*. Banfield, J.F., and Nealson, K.H. (eds). Washington, D.C.: Mineralogical Society of America, pp. 225-266.
- Tebo, B.M., Bargar, J.R., Clement, B.G., Dick, G.J., Murray, K.J., Parker, D., et al. (2004) Biogenic manganese oxides: properties and mechanisms of formation. Annu Rev Earth Planet Sci 32: 287-328.
- Toner, B., Fakra, S., Villalobos, M., Warwick, T., and Sposito, G. (2005) Spatially resolved characterization of biogenic manganese oxide production within a bacterial biofilm. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 71: 1300-1310.
- Torsvik, V., Øvreås, L., and Thingstad, T.F. (2002) Prokaryotic diversity-magnitude, dynamics, and controlling factors. *Science* **296**: 1064-1066.
- White, W.B., Vito, C., and Scheetz, B.E. (2009) The mineralogy and trace element cheistry of black Manganese oxide deposits from caves. *J Cave Karst Stud* **71**: 136-143.
- Whitman, W.B., Coleman, D.C., and Wiebe, W.J. (1998) Prokaryotes: the unseen majority. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* **95**: 6578-6583.
- Wilkinson, T.G., Topiwala, H.H., and Hamer, G. (1974) Interactions in a mixed bacterial population growing on methane in continuous culture. *Biotechnol Bioeng* **26**: 41-59.

Woese, C.R. (1987) Bacterial evolution. Microbiol Rev 51: 221-271.

VITA

Mary Jane Carmichael was born in Winston-Salem, North Carolina on the 19th of April, 1981. Mary Jane graduated from Wake Forest University with a B.S. in Biology in 2003 and worked for several years as a science teacher in North Carolina. Her daughter, Reesa Faith Devers, was born on the 16th of March, 2004. Mary Jane came to Appalachian State University in June 2009 to pursue a M.S. in environmental microbiology with Dr. Suzanna L. Bräuer. Upon completion of her degree in May 2012, Mary Jane will pursue her Ph.D. in plant ecophysiology in the laboratory of Dr. William K. Smith at Wake Forest University in Winston-Salem, North Carolina.